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RAFRT - BXESEMEIN - THRAZAEFGATERE
In this annual report, the following terms shall have the following meanings, except otherwise stated:

[P EEE A |
“Alibaba China”

NI

“Articles of Association”

[BitZEE]
“Audit Committee”

[EFg]
“Board”

[BEFEE]

“Board of Supervisors”

[(EE AT
“CG Code”

[HE
“China” or “PRC”

[ ]

“Company”

[E%]

“Directors”

[A&EE ]
“Group”

MEEE (FE)@ERMAERAGR  ARFMNEERER 2 —
Alibaba (China) Network Technology Co., Ltd., one of the Company’s
substantial shareholder

RARMARER  LARHER] BT
the Articles of Association of the Company, as amended, modified or
supplemented from time to time

EEQEITLEY
the audit committee of the Board

RRREES

the board of directors of the Company

PN
the board of supervisors of the Company

LR RIS+ AR R R E R T R

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

REARIME - ERAFRME - TEESE RFIEBIITHER S EHR
the People’'s Republic of China, for the purpose of this annual report,
excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan
region

EREAERNHABRAR - REFEDEEN2010F12 A6 AR —RKRHBER
NG|

Huitongda Network Co., Ltd. (E@EMEEKMDBER AR, a joint stock
company with limited liabilities established under the laws of the PRC on
December 6, 2010

RRBES

the Directors of the Company

RARREMERGR (RIAXEME - AR REEA KA EKHERA])
our Company and its Subsidiaries (or our Company and any one or more of)
its Subsidiaries, as the context may require)
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Definitions

[HA

“H Share(s)”

[T
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[&%]
“Hong Kong”

[ BB A2
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

[ B B 75 i 5 £ Al

“IFRS”

[REBERAITEH]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ = B E
“Listing Date”

[ EmAR Al
“Listing Rules”

RARBATGREEARE1.00TTHIRI ETHINER - MEBETRBEREEL R
AR ET

overseas listed foreign Shares in the share capital of our Company with
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and traded in HK
dollars and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

BEREEERET

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

PEEERFRITEHR
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

ERMARSHAARRAA
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BB B E R - BEEE SRR ESEMEED - BFTRZE - RER
B ENEESRHNBRR S ER RBRE

International Financial Reporting Standards, which include standards, and
interpretations promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the International Accounting Standards and Interpretation issued by the
International Accounting Standards Committee

2023F4 H20F » AR AFRNEZAEEHPHENE TENNKEER AT
HEH

April 20, 2023, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of
this annual report for ascertaining certain information contained herein

HEER B BB B RFARERNHE - B12022462 5180 (28 H)
Friday, February 18, 2022, on which dealings in our H Shares first commence
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

EHEMERXHMARDRES ETRA (BARERT - #Fs AR 7T E2)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time)



Eex L
“Model Code”

[RRZE®]

“Nomination Committee”

[BRR =72 ]

“Prospectus”

[FNREZLZEE]
“Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee”

[ HR ]
“Reporting Period”

[ARE]
“RMB”

[ &7 M E D) )
“SFO”

[ A&t ]
“Share(s)”

&
“Shareholder(s)”

[BREES
“Strategy Committee”

=G
“Subsidiary(ies)

(%]

“Supervisor(s)”

[%]
sy
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Definitions

ETRAIMEE T PIE MBI AESETES R HHNRESTE
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

EEgRA%EE

the nomination committee of the Board

AR HH/202291 A31 BB ER
the prospectus of the Company dated January 31, 2022

EEgHNREZEZES
the remuneration and appraisal committee of the Board

HZE2022F 12 A31BIEFE
the year ended December 31, 2022

PEDEEEBARE
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BRBHFLHEEHEREZES

Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

FEEDIEST1 B H MR ED) EARHEET » s A M7 gk
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

RARRAFEFREMBEARE1.007THE B
ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each

RAFRRER
the shareholder(s) of the Company

EXgBmMEZRY

the strategy committee of the Board

BEBEBEDF622F N GEPIE 15 G T % ARERE
has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 15 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

KAEEEGKE
member(s) of the Board of Supervisors of the Company

AL
per cent
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Financial Summary and Operating Metrics

MERE FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BZE12AALEE
Year ended December 31,
2022 20214 20204 20194 20184
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
AR®TR ARETT ARBETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WA Revenue 80,354,775 65,763,174 49,629,135 43633230 29,801,661
Hep: Including:
RHEBRERA Revenue from commerce
business 79,438,336 65,225,613 49,302,000 43,378,563 29,660,600
BRIS E AR SBIA Revenue from service
business 794,836 437 814 242,722 55,448 25,264
£ Gross profit 2,496,846 1,867,966 1,344,511 1,279,088 1,006,984
el Profit from operations 663,120 638,689 406,759 334,205 207,085
FHFE/(BB) Profit/(loss) for the year 509,978 (177,049) (279,992) (304,823) (275,613)
AR EIRERE ARG Profit/(loss) attributable to
&R/ (E8) equity shareholders
of the Company 287,245 (349,881) (405,287) (415,333) (295,749)
FEIR IR ERIGE Non-IFRS measures:
TSR (RIEER) Adjusted net profit (unaudited) 601,808 500,441 322,148 249,494 124,287
AR AR RRIESE A Adjusted net profit
FEADERE CREE) attributable to equity
shareholders of the
Company (unaudited) 379,075 327,609 196,853 138,985 104,151
BELE Total assets 28,775,158 25,598,011 21,695,331 19,142,817 15,519,484
BERBEEED Cash and cash equivalents 4,038,408 2,966,920 4,315,977 1,167,709 2,500,968
BEA%E Total liabilities 19,415,052 27,315,457 23,739,822 20,594,182 16,797,070
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Financial Summary and Operating Metrics

BE2H OPERATING METRICS
BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended December 31,
2022% 20214 2020F 20194 20184
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Afte BREEs Total number of registered 206,231 169,466 140,481 125,885 104,598
member stores
EREEEY Number of active member 76,160 62,203 32,715 34,225 34,968
stores
ERREAERP Number of active wholesaler 13,458 16,756 18,807 19,425 12,955
customers
SaaS+:MAFPEH Total number of SaaS+ 113,998 102,047 62,054 59,418 68,374

subscription users
Heh: [48SaaS+HF Including: paid SaaS+ users 29,775 17,905 2,571 4,156 2,547
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Chairman’s Statement

BEHH SR

HH RS RIEE AN RIEE2022F12/831H
MNEERE  TEURXRESTERSMNBREHASE
EMBEOMYERTHBENSE |

2022 RAMBHERBN —F ZEENT &
BEFFILERTIERER  BMIIZEE - 1518
£ BARINTEH  ERTATE  RELER
B BBxX(eslE - AEED XA RRE
BEH LT -

Dear Shareholders:

| present to Shareholders the annual report of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2022, and on behalf of the Board
of Directors express our sincere thanks to the Shareholders for
concern and support to the Group.

The world in 2022 faced a series of difficulties and challenges.
Despite multiple pressures, the Group firmly grasped the
general guideline of making progress while maintaining stability,
persevered to the working principle of “improving quality, growing
steadily and further upgrading”, took root in the lower-tier market
and served corporate customers. Through cultural guidance,
organizational driving and business innovation, the Group
eventually realized the rise against the trend.



EIEREHRA - LARFER OB

BREEEBER  ERHEEENINEPREED
R R BETEHSLAE  ARARKLE
ERAMEER NN EERIT TREARE -

B3

Fo_RLEEE  RARARBEERNRE - HER
a2 ERE  LEERRMNREE  EREHN
WAL BIRRRE TR © EBBCRARET ©

S~ — =3

FZRLEE  2ERFERER  BESAER
BaTPiE  HEZH2REANPERES B
BREFEE - KT G+ F3XEiiE) - B
MTFOMBR  SEIANTHBHELE -

REDERREE
EBE R

2022%  AEEERBAWMAARES03.58TT * [
EigR22.2% : BIREFARKE25 08T + RLiE
£33.7%  ARRIREFEABRERFINARE2.9
BT B2021FRBERRBAR  BRAHER
(GEBIRR B i S ERIEHE ) RARIRER B ARG
FREARKISET - BREEMRESMERAA
R 78 RERMKAEL - 2022F - A5EE
BERMMCEETEMERE 2 aMe8TEM
JERBEC06BR RAER21.7% : BHR/EREE
TEME7T6BXK @ FALIER22.4% : (FESaaS+H
FHRHEIOER » FLIEK66.3% °
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Chairman’s Statement

Reviewing the Reporting Period, we continued to deepen core
strategy:

Firstly, the business strategy was to firmly build a digital intelligent
path, around continuous strengthening of supply chain capabilities
and customer service capabilities, so as to lay a solid foundation
for the sustainable development of the Company’s core business
model and operation capabilities.

Secondly, the business strategy. The Group internally focused
on cost reduction and quality improvement and promoted lean
operation and management. Remarkable results had been
achieved in operation and management, the administrative
expenses to revenue ratio had decreased significantly; and the
turnover efficiency has been significantly improved.

Thirdly, the cultural strategy. All staff emphasized a sense of goal,
determined to stick firmly to a high goal orientation, and carried
forward the fighting spirit, practical spirit and struggle spirit;
and jointly worked out a “New Decade Culture Platform”, which
continuously injected new spiritual momentum around the new
goals of the new decade.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Review

In 2022, the Group recorded total revenue of RMB80.35 billion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 22.2%; the Group recorded
gross profit of RMB2.50 billion, representing a year-on-year growth
of 33.7%; profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to RMBO0.29 billion, turning losses into gains compared
with that in the same period in 2021; and the Group adjusted net
profit (non-IFRS measure) attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company amounted to RMBO0.38 billion. The Group recorded
positive operating cash inflow of RMBO0.27 billion, which was in a
good cash flow condition. In 2022, the Group continued to deepen
and explore the services designed for our member stores. Our
total accumulated registered member stores were 206 thousand,
representing a year-on-year increase of 21.7%; the number of our
active member stores was 76 thousand, representing a year-on-
year increase of 22.4%; the total number of our paid SaaS+ users
were 30 thousand, representing a year-on-year increase of 66.3%.



12 ERERRRDERAF

Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.

ESRYH

Chairman’s Statement

XEEBHHE -

20224 - NEEFEREHERTTRBE - B
FrERCEAHEER )  EBEE FITRMEER
# (1N B mIEBES - LABERIA B RAD RIKE -
NIRRT HR - B MARMRELEME R
BERITERE TR BR - WEB - XNEERS
BERE  RETEELHIRBAELSUNE
b REMETRE  RRERH  EARFRAE
B R PEEREBER - EHRA - ER
HHEHREAE  BEKTEARRRRZL  RE
BETTAEFTBENERE —2DEX - EMNE -
BEREE  REEMTERBTEEIE - W
M BEREESREAE -

F- BESEAFHERER  —HH  A£E
ERETITSEERLEFR  BIRITEESCE
an o BIMEE B ER - WRERM - EPET
my - BEER NMESBRNRELECEAER
B BBRAES - KRFEELT [ERME]
BRIERIER REBEAAIREN  KER
MEREEMEREANE  HBHTEHERERS
EH SRR BHITRIE - EFERAERE
RS % RERMFEERTE [VTHK ] - 1202249
AEMRRE  BETEEARFINER: 5~
H AREREEETEMERL  EREMHM
FRHIEE  BEHESREETEHEREER - #
MiERERERE -

In respect of our commerce business:

In 2022, the Group continued to focus on supply chain upgrading
strategy. Firstly, we continued to strengthen top-tier upstream
capacity of brands supply chain. For example, in the consumer
electronics industry, the Group continued to implement “1+N”
brand strategy, made the Apple series products as the major
breakthrough as well as expanding upstream brands such as
Lenovo, Dell and Iflytek. In the household appliances industry,
the Group links Gree, Oakes, Joyoung, Midea Hualing and other
quality brands. In the agricultural materials industry, the Group
was engaged in joint operation efficiently with upstream factories
and synchronized the layout of pesticides, fertilizers, feeds
and compound fertilizers. It established deep cooperation with
large state-owned enterprises, listed companies and provincial-
level supply and marketing cooperatives, such as Sino-Agri (4
2), COFCO (#1€) and Sinochem (F1k). In the liquor industry,
the Group, focusing on the Wuliangye, was deeply linked to the
ten famous maotai-flavour liquor brands such as Jinsha Wine
(&2B%), Guizhou Wine (EMEE) and Yelanggu (REBH). In
the homebuilding and renovation materials industry, the Group
developed cooperation with brands such as Xinyi Glass, Sanxia
New Building Materials and Far East Cable.

Secondly, the Group continued to consolidate the innovation of
supply chain model. On the one hand, the Group collaborates
with factories to develop customized products based on
differentiated demands from the lower-tier market, facilitating
the integration of manufacturing and marketing. For example,
in the agricultural materials segment, during the cooperation
with leading agricultural resources production enterprises such
as CNSG Hong Sifang, Wintrue and ZJAMP, the Group jointly
developed and launched a series of “Huizhongtian ([Ef&EH)”
compound fertilizer products through reverse customization,
which now covers six major grain provinces. In the household
appliance industry, the Group deepened cooperation with
Royalstar, promoting the expansion of flexible supply chain and
the construction of production and marketing integration. In the
transportation segment, the Group partnered with Karry New
Energy to develop a customized version of the “Jiangtun (JT
)" model for NEV based on market demand. The first batch
of vehicles delivered in September 2022, indicating the Group
continued to create products with greater competitiveness. On
the other hand, the Group integrated the demand of member
stores based on the market and demand insights, and through
the centralized purchase and flexible supply chain management,
aiming to improve the efficiency of the industry chain.



F=Z BEMENEEE —HTEBEZERES
% ﬁ B @@ TR - Eiﬁi% EIRBHE
FEMRCERE Bt hm - BRRT - WITER
BEAE RBEBERTUAMERNGESERE_

WETMSREBEBERNFRER  Z—HTHEHEE

BEADKE  EXRLBRITEETFEEAY fﬁ
BEAR BANE BREHEIRE  BESIA
BEEATEBHTEIATHMENER © BRKF

KEEXNEEAUREEREEER

WEHRR  TREETEMEHRHET6ER X5
EHRREEBERFHERAARE 794 48T - R
#K21.8% °

RHEBELH -

20224 - NEE®BRBEFERL

AEERBEREASETEMERIRBRZ LB
ERBEAY  ERFFPFRNBE  HETER

Ble BERTELNBRLRBER TFP8

BITEITIT 0 2022%F - AR ESaaS+EXHBMRAR

L& - SaaS+EMMZLIERKEEBREFA -
HBEANRITERTAERRBEREPHEZR(LELET

Ko RUEHERATRER  EPHSETEMEE
BT ERAR -
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Chairman’s Statement

Thirdly, the Group continued to expand in emerging sectors. On
the one hand, the Group focused on deepening our presence in
the blue ocean segment, particularly in the new energy sector. The
Group have officially launched a new energy technology business
unit, and established strategic cooperation with BYD, GAC Aion,
Hozon Auto (¥BFE). Meanwhile, the Group built a new landscape
that focus on new energy four-wheel vehicles while considering
two-wheel vehicles market and battery business development. On
the other hand, the Group concentrated on the segmentation of
the business development,
and daily consumables industry, linking up with leading brands
such as Blue Moon, Unilever and P&G. Furthermore, the Group
have introduced professional talents to inject new blood and
resources into the new industry, laying the foundation for a high-
value and sustainable future across multiple industries.

initiated deep trials in the detergent

During the Reporting Period, the number of active member
stores exceeded 76,000 and the overall sales revenue from our
commerce business achieved RMB79.44 billion, representing a

year-on-year increase of 21.8%.

In respect of our service business:

In 2022,
services.

the Group continued to strengthen its membership

The focus remains on upgrading the product system centered
around transaction services for member stores, which addressed
the pain points of customer’s needs. The Group upgraded its
service platform and built a stable operating system for service
products, which helped further improve customer experience.
In 2022, the SaaS+ business strategy had been further
implemented, with core functions and underlying infrastructure
of SaaS+ products been upgraded. To address the differentiated
operational needs of the six industries and customers at different
stages of development, the Group offered corresponding
solution products, assisting member stores to achieve digital
transformation and upgrade.
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EEETEMERERBFIH  AEEBREREHE
B RFHEB0Z S RAEHEE B REE
BETEMEHB2458/E X AEGEERI4ES
% KAEE  SaaSEBEXEIST%  gE8TEM
EmEERIEIS% - mEMA - AEERBEBR
RERBAARET7 O5ET » FIEKS81.5% « H
F o EMESaaS+AFER|29,775K - LR
66.3% * BRI HARBMAARES.34157T - [
LEH#R91.7% °

il

BFERIEERTE -

2022%F  ARBHFCERFEAK - — 7@
FEEHEFERTLEE  UTETERE &
B HE-ASRRIEH  X8E - M% AR
SRNBEERERAXE BEHRHUENMIF  BXR
PO R EEERMNAESERR - BAER T 12M@%0
REWEEESR RETHEFDSSNELEER
2HRETF A ARNEERE -

FA—AmE - AEEEFAEZTEEMNCHNERF(L
RH5F¥aE  MEETENRER BKTRAED
- RAERTENEERNIEEETITENE
EE - ARUMRTEPHER(CBRFERRENT
Ko MEBETZITENEERFLFE -

In terms of empowering services for member stores, the Group
focused on promotion and sales assistance, organizing more than
20 large-scale marketing events throughout the Year, serving over
24,500 times and conducting more than 40,000 training sessions
for member stores. The effectiveness is significant, with a SaaS
renewal rate reached 57% and member stores satisfaction rate
exceeding 95%. During the Reporting Period, the revenue from
our service business reached RMB795 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 81.5%. Among them, the number of paid
SaaS+ member store users reached 29,775, representing a year-
on-year increase of 66.3%; revenue from subscription service
was approximately RMB534 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 91.7%.

In respect of the construction of our digitalized
infrastructures:

In 2022, the Group continued to upgrade its digitalization
construction. On the one hand, the Group further strengthened its
digitalization base. Focusing on the three scenarios of purchasing,
warehousing and distribution, and sales in retail industry as the
main line, and on the four online management of data, finance,
contracts and bills as branch lines. Realized online closed loop
around the supplier portal, merchant center and Huitongda Mall
(FE@EmmIL). At present, 12 core links have been fully online,
ensuring a closed loop of business management for suppliers and
the whole scenario and the value creation for the whole life cycle
of customers.

On the other hand, the Group innovatively developed customized
and digitalized trading platforms, such as Nonghuicai (Z[E%)
for the agricultural material industry, Jiupinhui (B#t) for the
liquor industry, Zhenhuicai (E[E$E) for the household appliances
industry and Xinghuixuan (£M##) for the consumer electronics
industry, which effectively satisfied customers’ needs for
differentiated digital infrastructure and initially built series of multi-
industry industrial digitalized platforms.
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In respect of our organization and team building:

In 2022, the Group continued to upgrade its organizational
capabilities. First of all, the Group adhered to the continuous
organizational fission and continued to cultivate new engines
for future growth. On the basis of implementing the chain leader
system, the Group split its business units into over 30 industrial
operations by industry, which refined the operation and brought
more management talents. Secondly, the Group continuously
strengthen the echelon construction and organizational capability.
The Company developed differentiated training programs to
improve the capability of cadres at different levels. Furthermore,
the Group developed the management trainee system to incubate
new reserves, and have completed three phases and incubated
nearly 200 talents. Thirdly, the Group further optimized and
innovated the mechanism and stimulated the vitality of the
organization, simultaneously designed a number of process
incentive mechanisms, continued to consolidate the level of
operation and management and achieved remarkable results. The
Group also facilitated the efficient operation by strengthening our
internal strength.

In terms of corporate culture leadership, the Group, along with all
staff, developed and organized all employees to work out a “New
Decade Culture Platform”, which injected new spiritual momentum
around the new goals of the new decade.
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In respect of our corporate influence:

In 2022, the Group continued to enhance its corporate influence.
In terms of accelerating the development of digital villages, the
Group cooperated with various local governments to build digital
villages: cooperated with the People’s Government of Feidong
County to build an industrial internet ecological county, and
worked with the Commerce Bureau of Yancheng City to build
a commercial circulation system in county areas. In terms of
supporting the agricultural products, the Group assisted over
1,000 agricultural products be introduced to the city. In July,
with the support of Jiangsu Internet Association and the Online
Information Office of Siyang County Committee, the Group
undertook direct sales for Siyang Fresh Peach to help farmers; In
September, the Group hosted a series of live broadcast activities
with the theme of “10-Lake Crab and Su Crab Gift" across Jiangsu
Province, which were recognised in Nanjing, Wuxi, Suzhou
and other places. In terms of attracting talents to return to their
hometowns for employment and entrepreneurship, the Group has
cultivated 16 thousand new rural households and new farmers
through the “Internet Marketing Manager” training activities.
The Group carried out the “Ten Thousand University Students
E-commerce Empowering Rural Revitalization” campaign to boost
talent revitalization. The Group received prime concern from
government leaders at all levels and was invited to participate in
various special meetings organized by the Central Finance Office
(FPREFAEHE), China’s Ministry of Commerce, China's Ministry of
Agriculture and Rural Affairs, the Cyberspace Administration of
Jiangsu Provincial Party Committee (ZZ#{zilf), the Jiangsu
Provincial Department of Commerce (& #%5E) and the Jiangsu
Provincial Development and Reform Commission (&% 4%). The
Group was awarded as the key software enterprise encouraged
by the nation. It received 14 national-level honors and 5 provincial
and municipal-level honors, including the Top 500 Enterprises
in China in 2022 (ranking 347th), Top 500 Service Enterprises in
China (ranking 126th), Top 100 Industrial Internet Enterprises in
China (ranking 3rd) and National High-tech Enterprise, etc.
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Business Outlook

In the future, the Group will continue to focus on the general
policy of “improving quality, growing steadily, and creating value”,
and based on the three major focuses of “deep penetration in
lower-tier market, operation with member stores as the centre,
consolidating the two major services of “buy + sell” and supply
chain + SaaS”, adhere to the business orientation of “creating
value”, and realise the business model of digital-based B2F
reverse supply chain + integration of production, supply and
marketing, to connect the upstream brand for strengthening the
supply-side construction while reaching the rural customers to
enhance the demand-side construction, and comprehensively
build multi-industry industrial digitalized platforms. To that end,
the Group will make every effort to promote the following key
works:

[ Focus on the diversified needs of customers and deepen
and strengthen the industrial chain. The Group will continue
to develop and deepen the cooperation with the upstream
top brand manufacturers. Moreover, it will promote the
demand-driven B2F reverse supply chain model based
on digitization, which means determining the procurement
based on sales and the advancement based on demand.
Meanwhile, the Group will expand the proportion of its own
brand and gradually realize the integration of production
and sales.

. Focus on the service needs of member stores and expand
member stores through customer stickiness enhancement.
The Group will further upgrade SaaS products, provide
more innovative services and improve the service
capabilities of the customer service team. This will help
greatly expand the business of member stores. On the one
hand, the Group will expand and transform new member
stores through high quality products. On the other hand,
it will consolidate the upgrade of our service capability by
facilitating the construction of a long-term, sustainable and
high quality growth system for member stores.
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Focus on the differentiated digital needs of the whole
chain to further enhance the digital capability of the
industry. The Group will focus on the construction of the
digital channel of the industry through the full integration
of business model upgrade with the digital technology,
providing technical and system protection for B2F business
and strengthening the end-to-end, whole chain and whole
closed-loop capability of the whole industry chain.

Focus on building warehousing and logistics systems in
the lower-tier market to upgrade the warehousing and
distribution system. The Group will continue to build the
cloud warehousing and cloud distribution system, upgrade
the digital facilities of the warehousing and logistics system
and deeply integrate the scattered logistics resources in
the lower-tier market. These efforts will provide support
for opening up the two-way circulation in urban and rural
areas.

Focus on organizational construction for implementing
subsequent strategies and further improve the
organizational capacity. The Group will deepen the
organizational fission, promote organizational cooperation
and enhance organizational synergy. In addition, the
Company will fully integrate organizational strength to
achieve vertical development of each industry. In terms
of strengthening cultural construction, the Group will
promote the cultural heritage and enhance the spiritual
atmosphere. To that end, the Group will, based on culture,
make corporate ideology and spirit fully unified to reach
consensus. To achieve organizational endogenous
development, the Group will build the cadre echelon and
fully stimulate organizational vitality, so as to achieve
the internal driving development of the organization.
These efforts will help underpin the Company’s future
development and facilitate the implementation of various
strategies.
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BREWERE  EMEFMKEE - MY AKATFEBE  Development is the absolute principle, and hard work brings new

WiEEER  AEESRKREGIZERAESTEE  opportunities. In the face of various tests that may be encountered

D EMSS  RORN - BEER - BESIE | in the future, the Group will always focus on the corporate mission

RAERREE « AERMH BEH  HE88R AL of “making farmers’ life better”, gather together, forge ahead and

FREUREARANTHEEE  RHRMEFHE  reach new heights! Thanks to our customers, partners, investors

K BOBIRER and people from all walks of life for their long-term support and
help to the Company. Let’s join hands in a new era and create a
concentric future!

EFER Chairman
EEEEE Mr. WANG Jianguo
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Revenue

Benefiting from the fast expansion of our sales network in the
lower-tier market, the increasingly enhanced strategic cooperation
with the upstream brand owners and the improved service
penetration rate of our member stores, our revenue increased by
22.2% from RMB65,763.2 million in 2021 to RMB80,354.8 million in
2022. The following table sets forth the absolute amount and year-
on-year change in revenue by business line for 2022 and 2021:

R EBEBFIRE Commerce Business
BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended December 31,
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBET T Bt & &)
Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 change
ELESS Direct sales 79,436.247 65,222,853 21.8%
HESFESR Consumer electronics 37,700,123 27,047,792 39.4%
BELEEHM Agricultural means of production 15,788,263 13,741,365 14.9%
B Household appliances 12,226,027 12,212,346 0.1%
BT Vehicles and auto parts merchandise 8,147,650 7,266,108 12.1%
RIEEM Homebuilding and renovation materials 3,162,732 3,308,393 (4.4%)
Nip§-/¢ Liquor and beverages 1,990,715 1,348,200 47.7%
Hao Others 420,737 298,649 40.9%
ERBEER Online marketplace 2,089 2,760 (24.3%)
RBEBRRREFT Total for commerce business 79,438,336 65,225,613 21.8%

g (MEBIEEERZERER -

REEBEEBHNBATESDRHEEETER B
XELEEER  RASEH  RBEHT  XEEMEA
KBRS AITE » B2021EMARKEG5,22298 8
TLIER21.8% £2022F M ARMET9,436.2B & T °

Note: (1) Others mainly include various fast-moving consumer goods.
Our revenue from the direct sales of the Group increased by
21.8% from RMB65,222.9 million in 2021 to RMB79,436.2 million
in 2022, which mainly covered six major industries, namely
consumer electronics, agricultural means of production, household
appliances, vehicles and auto parts merchandise, homebuilding
and renovation materials, and liquor and beverages.
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Revenue from the direct sales achieved rapid growth, particularly
in consumer electronics and liquor and beverages: (i) The Group
further expanded its communications products business and
deepened strategic cooperation with top industry brands, with
revenue from sales of consumer electronics increasing by 39.4%
over the same period of 2021; (ii) the sales price of agricultural
means of production increased significantly in the first half of
2022 due to the great downstream demand, which contributed
to the increase in the scale of sales and a 14.9% increase in
revenue from agricultural means of production compared to last
year; (iii) the Group strengthened its efforts in sales of automotive
parts and components, with revenue from vehicles and auto parts
merchandise increasing by 12.1% over last year; (iv) the Group
further developed its sales channel for liquor and beverages,
which meant expanding its business in Luzhou-flavour liquor
based on moutai-flavour liquor and enriching its product offerings
to achieve further growth in sales revenue, with the revenue from
sales of liquor and beverage increasing by 47.7% over last year;
(v) the Group continued to optimize the second-class category
structure of household appliances and deepened cooperation with
top brands. However, due to the impact of business cycle and
the pandemic, the revenue of household appliances remained flat
as compared with the same period in 2021; and (vi) the Group’s
revenue from sales of homebuilding and renovation materials
decreased by 4.4%, mainly due to the decline in sales of glass
and decorative materials. The market for glass and decorative
materials saw volatile prices during the Year and the Group thus
reduced this business to hedge the risk.

HRTE TR IE Service Business
BZE12B831BLEE
Year ended December 31,
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBET T & bt & &)
Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 change
P95 SaaS+3] SaaS+ subscription 533,590 278,405 91.7%
EEN: S PES Merchant solutions 261,246 159,409 63.9%
REEBRBAST Total for Service Business 794,836 437,814 81.5%
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The revenue from the service business of the Group mainly
included revenue from two portions, namely the SaaS+
subscription and merchant solutions, both with significant growth.

The Group stepped up the marketing of SaaS+ products, and
introduced service providers for promotion purpose as a part of
its marketing strategy. Meanwhile, the Group strengthened the
development of core features of SaaS+ products to help member
stores achieve digital transformation and upgrade and operational
efficiency improvement. As a result, the revenue from the SaaS+
subscription business significantly grew by 91.7% compared to
the same period last year.

To provide better merchant solutions, the Group upgraded the
single solution to multiple solutions, coupled with increasing
marketing efforts and expanding the size of the sales team, which
could more accurately help transform and upgrade merchants
digitally. The Year saw the revenue from merchant solution grew
by 63.9% compared to last year.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The cost of revenue of the Group increased by 21.9% from
RMB63,895.2 million in 2021 to RMB77,857.9 million in 2022,
and our gross profit increased by 33.7% from RMB1,868.0
million in 2021 to RMB2,496.8 million in 2022. The growth of the
cost of revenue and gross profit of the Group was mainly due
to the growth of our revenue. The gross margin of the Group
increased from 2.8% in 2021 to 3.1% in 2022, mainly due to (i) the
increase in revenue contribution from the service business; and
(ii) the increase in gross profit margin of consumer electronics,
agricultural means of production, household appliances, vehicles
and auto parts merchandise and homebuilding and renovation
materials.

HEREHEEX Selling and Marketing Expenses
HE12A31HLEE
Year ended December 31,
2022% 20214
2022 2021
ARET R EWA L= ARBFIL EON: 23 Bl
As a As a
percentage percentage  Year-on-year
RMB’000 of revenue RMB'000 of revenue change
HEREHAZ Selling and marketing expenses 1,327,807 1.6% 864,241 1.3% 53.6%
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Selling and marketing expenses increased by 53.6% from
RMB864.2 million in 2021 to RMB1,327.8 million in 2022, and
the proportion of selling and marketing expenses in revenue
increased from 1.3% in 2021 to 1.6% in 2022. The Group’s selling
and marketing expenses primarily consist of advertising expenses,
promotion service fees and employee salaries. The growth was
primarily due to the following reasons: (i) due to the impact of the
pandemic on the Group’s business in 2022, the Group enhanced
the stickiness of member stores and increased the investment in
marketing expenses in order to increase the business scale; (ii)
based on the deepening of brand cooperation, the Group has
increased its brand operation on third-party platforms, resulting in
an increase in marketing investment; and (iii) with the continuous
and stable growth in revenue and financial results of the Group in
2022, the salaries of sales personnel increased as compared to
2021.

THRHMKSEEX Administrative and Other Operating Expenses
BZ12R3ALEE
Year ended December 31,
2022% 20215
2022 2021
ARBTR TN ARETR AL % Bhg=E)
As a As a
percentage percentage  Year-on-year
RMB’ 000 of revenue RMB'000 of revenue change
THREMSERT Administrative and other 393,492 0.5% 388,661 0.6% 1.2%
operating expenses
2 HEHOIEEEENEMFEENKEEML - 8  Note: Compared to the financial information disclosed in the annual

S REMEWFIREZ REBEE EBIIRNE
E&pHERRK

THEEMELHYTEORREEFS - HEBNU
K ETRAX - THREREMEERTH2021FHAR
#388. 7B EILIBMER1.2% E2022F W AREE
3935HBL TERHNEEFSHAMER -

results of 2021, impairment loss on trade and other receivables
is separately presented as a line item in the Group's
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Administrative and other operating expenses primarily consist of
employee salaries, depreciation expenses and listing expenses.
Administrative and other operating expenses increased by 1.2%
from RMB388.7 million in 2021 to RMB393.5 million in 2022,
mainly due to the increase in employee salaries.
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3R AR Research and Development Costs
BZ12831BLEE
Year ended December 31,
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARET T AREFIT [ LL &)
Year-on-year
RMB’000 RMB’000 change
B AR A Research and development costs 113,234 78,547 44.2%

HENAETERFALKAR - JTEREIENREM -
M AH2021 FHARK78.5BETIER44.2%
F2022FMARKE1132EE L TE2AHERN()A
meEHFER  RRERFERSFNR  BAEEL
RGN  REBARTEERIRBBRERS
Fa MEMAMEEEXIZAREERSTEE
HEHETEER INTAERURBETE
SaaSTFEEHRE : (NVAEEEATHEASEK
e AN EmR189 A ZE234 A [BIFF A — B
FABMMERREMEEN  FREEE—FRA
TEBEMEABFHEGBENKT ¢« K (i) b 3 E B AR
BMEEL - SMBABRAIE -

B RAEMEBERRAZREBR

B 5 REMBWHIAZREREH2021FHARE
90.3EELILME2022F M ARKE216.4BET
TERANRKRBRANEMEUKIBE N - BHE
SN TRHME IR RETHIR ©
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Research and development (“R&D”) costs mainly include labor
costs, depreciation and amortisation and others. R&D costs
increased by 44.2% from RMB78.5 million in 2021 to RMB113.2
million in 2022, primarily due to: (i) the Group upgraded the
industrial trading service systems and the trading platform in
order to strengthen the digital construction, to meet the needs for
platform trading and improve the information service capability.
The R&D projects in the Reporting Period mainly include the
construction of industrial trading platform, cloud computing
platform, payment platform and intelligent retail SaaS platform
and others; (ii) the Group expanded its R&D team, the members
of R&D personnel of which increased from 189 to 234; at the
same time, in order to further stimulate the R&D enthusiasm and
creativity of R&D personnel, the Group further increased the salary
level of its in-house R&D personnel; and (iii) the composition of
the R&D team became more diversified, and the investment in
outsourced personnel increased.

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables increased from
RMB90.3 million in 2021 to RMB216.4 million in 2022, mainly due
to the increase in long-aged other receivables, resulting additional
provision for expected credit losses.

Other Revenue

Other revenue decreased by 19.3% from RMB55.8 million in
2021 to RMB45.1 million in 2022, primarily due to a decrease in
governmental grants.
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Other Net Gain

Other net gain increased by 26.0% from RMB136.6 million in 2021
to RMB 172.1 million in 2022, mainly due to the increase in net
foreign exchange gains.

Net Finance Costs

Net finance costs decreased by 91.6% from RMB713.0 million in
2021 to RMB60.1 million in 2022, primarily due to the decrease in
interest expenses on the redeemable capital contributions and the
increase in bank interest income.

The increase in bank interest income was primarily due to the
receipt of net proceeds from the initial public offering of H Shares,
resulting in an increase in bank deposits and the corresponding
income.

The decrease in interest expenses arising from redeemable capital
contributions was primarily due to the unconditional termination of
the special right associated with the pre-IPO investment and the
reclassification of the redeemable capital contributions to equity
upon the Group’s listing on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on February 18, 2022. The related interest was
no longer provided.

Income Tax

Income tax decreased by 7.7% from RMB100.9 million in 2021 to
RMB93.2 million in 2022. The decrease in income tax expense in
2022 was mainly due to the further decrease in income tax rate
due to larger tax incentives for small and micro enterprises. The
Group’s consolidated tax rate decreased further as a result of the
increase in the proportion of profit contribution from the Company
that is subject to the above tax incentive policy for the Year.

The management of the Company considers that the effective tax
rate applied by the Group during the Reporting Period was at a
reasonable level.
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Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company

As a result of the above, we recorded a profit/(loss) attributable
to equity Shareholders of the Company of RMB287.2 million and
RMB349.9 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Adjusted Net Profit (Non-IFRS Measures)

The following table reconciles the adjusted net profit (non-IFRS
measures) of the Group to the most directly comparable financial
measure in accordance with IFRSs, profit/(loss) before taxation,

Bk - for the periods indicated:
BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended December 31,
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREF (FE) Profit/(loss) for the year 509,978 (177,049)
A EREEEEEANF B Add: interest expenses arising from 91,830 677,490
redeemable capital contributions
REEFNE GEERMBHRE Adjusted net profit
ZHFE) (non-IFRS measures) 601,808 500,441

2022 F R 2021 FRFABRNFMNED B AARE

601.8E BTN ARKE00.4HE7T  #£K20.3% °

The adjusted net profit in 2022 and 2021 was RMB601.8 million
and RMB500.4 million, respectively, representing an increase of
20.3%.
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BRABKXQATRESEAEBGFEFE (GEHEBE  Adjusted Net Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of
KREEATTE) the Company (Non-IFRS Measures)

TREHIFRABAEBLHERNQFBREREB A The following table reconciles the adjusted net profit attributable
FEMEERE GEEBE S B REEDNE) BRERRE  to equity shareholders of the Company (non-IFRS measures) of

FREEINFAERAI L ENIEEE2IZ © the Group to the most directly comparable financial measure
RNARIBIEREARERT/(EE) FYE in accordance with IFRSs, profit/(loss) attributable to equity

shareholders of the Company, for the periods indicated:

BZ12A31ALLEE
Year ended December 31,

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AATRESEAEBLRR () Profit/(loss) attributable to equity 287,245 (349,881)
shareholders of the Company
o ATEEEEEAMF ERE Add: interest expenses arising from 91,830 677,490
redeemable capital contributions
RABKNTRESEARGERNE Adjusted net profit attributable to
(FEBRM KR EERFTE) CREHF) equity shareholders of the Company
(non-IFRS measures) (unaudited) 379,075 327,609

2022F 2021 FEALE AR RIRIESS B ABEEF  In 2022 and 2021, our adjusted net profit attributable to equity
FHESBABAREI7TI1ABTRARE327.6 &  Shareholders of the Company amounted to RMB379.1 million and
JC r HR15.7% ° RMB327.6 million, respectively, representing a growth of 15.7%.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, our cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB4,038.4 million and
RMB2,966.9 million, respectively. The Group has sufficient working
capital for our operating requirements.

Inventories

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, our inventories
amounted to RMB2,443.8 million and RMB2,718.6 million,
respectively, representing a decrease of 10.1%. As at December
31, 2022, the decrease in our inventories was primarily due to
improved operating efficiency and accelerated inventory turnover.

By optimizing the structure of our product offerings, following
the determining the procurement based on sales and the
advancement based on demand strategy, upgrading the B2F
supply chain and deepening our cooperation with upstream brand
owners, the Group has improved its operating efficiency, with the
turnover days of inventories decreasing from 14 days in 2021 to
12 days in 2022.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, our
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were RMB8,661.0
million and RMB8,416.9 million, which were basically kept flat.

Trade and Bills Payables

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, our trade and
bills payables were RMB14,938.8 million and RMB14,418.8 million,
respectively, representing an increase of 3.6%, which were
basically kept flat.

In order to maintain a good relationship with our suppliers, our
trade and bills payables turnover days decreased from 74 days in
2021 to 69 days in 2022.
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Capital Expenditures

The capital expenditures of 2022 and 2021 were RMB54.9 million
and RMB22.5 million respectively, which were used primarily for
acquisition of properties and equipment to improve the capability
of the Group in supply chain and digitalized infrastructure.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had employed a total
of 4,383 employees. The Group hires and promotes our staff
based on their person on-the-job performance and development
potential. The remuneration package of all our employees
depends on their performance and market salary levels.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD,MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we did not hold any
significant investments or have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS

On November 28, 2022 (the “Adoption Date”), the General
Meeting of the Company approved and adopted the restricted
share unit scheme (the “RSU Scheme”). The principal terms of
the RSU Scheme are set out below:

1. Purposes:

(a) to recognize the contributions made by the eligible
persons and provide incentives to them in order
to retain them for the continuous operation and
development of the Group;

(b) to attract talents for further development of the
Group and enhance competitiveness of such talents;
and

(c) to align the interests of eligible persons to the
Group’s values, enabling employees to work
towards the Group’s long-term development goals.
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2. Eligible persons:

Eligible persons are who the Board or its delegatee
consider, in their sole discretion, to have significantly
contributed or will significantly contribute to the
development of the Group, including employees, directors
(excluding independent non-executive directors),
supervisors, senior management, and key operating team
member of any member of the Group.

3. Maximum number of Shares to be granted:

The Company shall not make any further grant which will
result in the aggregate number of H Shares granted in
relation to restricted share units under the RSU Scheme to
exceed 5.0% of the total number of issued H Shares as at
the relevant grant date.

4. Vesting period of the award granted under the RSU
Scheme:

Board or the delegatee may from time to time while the
RSU Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
rules, and regulations, determine such vesting criteria and
conditions or periods for the award to be vested hereunder.

5. The Payable upon acceptance of the award:

The grantee is not required to pay any fund to the
Company as consideration of the grant.

6. Valid period of the RSU Scheme:

Subject to the Board’s decision to early terminate the RSU
Scheme, the RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

Details of the RSU Scheme were set out in the circular dated
November 11, 2022 of the Company.

As of December 31, 2022, no restricted share units were granted
under the RSU Scheme. Details of the grant of restricted share
units are set out in the section headed Significant Events after
Reporting Period of this annual report.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2022, an inventory of RMB21.1 million (2021:
RMB16.3 million) was used as a guarantee for the issuance of
bills payable.

As of December 31, 2022, a commitment in prepay of RMB36.7
million (2021: RMBO) was used as a guarantee for bank loans and
other borrowings.

As of December 31, 2022, the pledged deposits for the issuance
of bills payable, letters of guarantee and bank loans amounted to
RMB5,149.7 million (2021: RMB5,023.6 million).

As of December 31, 2022, structured deposits and wealth
management products of RMB1,497.5 million (2021: RMB1,722.1
million) were used as guarantees for the issuance of bills payable.

THE GROUP’S PLANS TO MAKE MAJOR INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSET PURCHASES IN THE FUTURE

Unless otherwise disclosed in this annual report, as of December
31, 2022, we had no specific plans for material investments or
acquisitions of capital assets.

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was
8.6%. The gearing ratio is calculated based on total debts divided
by the total amount of equity. Total debts include bank loan and
other borrowings, loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and lease liabilities.

The Directors believe that the Group’s gearing ratio is within the
normal range, which will promote the enhancement of business
vitality and the further exploration of the market.
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RISK OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS AND
ANY RELATED HEDGING

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and its transactions are
mainly settled in RMB, the business of the Group is not subject to
any material foreign exchange risk.

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward exchange
contracts with a bank to manage its currency risk arising from
certain cash and cash equivalents denominated in HK$ until the
settlement date of the contracts. Details are set out in note 26 to
the financial statements.

Details of the currency risk of the Group are set out in note 35(d)(i)
to the financial statements.

The Group will continue to monitor changes in foreign exchange
in an effort to maintain its cash value.
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OVERVIEW

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, comprising three
Executive Directors, three Non-executive Directors and three
independent Non-executive Directors. The Board is responsible,
and has the general authority for, the management and operation
of the Company. Our Directors are appointed for a term of three
years and are eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term of
office. The independent Non-executive Directors shall not hold
office for more than six consecutive years.

The Board of Supervisors currently consists of three Supervisors,
including one Supervisor appointed by general meetings and
two employee Supervisors, elected at employee representative
meetings. The Board of Supervisors is responsible for supervising
the performance of duty of the Board and the senior management
of the Company and overseeing the financial, internal control and
risk conditions of the Company. Our Supervisors are appointed for
a term of three years and are eligible for re-election upon expiry
of their term of office.

The senior management is responsible for the management of
day-to-day operations of the Company.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Jianguo, aged 62, is the founder of our Group and
has been the Chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director
since November 2015. He is mainly responsible for presiding over
the decision-making of external affairs and strategic development
of our Group.
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Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in retail business
and corporate management. He worked at the Department of
Commerce of Jiangsu Province (T#&EZEE) from July 1981
to April 1993 and served as the general manager of Jiangsu
Wujiaohua Corporation (JI1#%& A& X E/L T4 A A]), a state-owned
company mainly engaged in the sales of home appliances, where
he was primarily responsible for its overall management from April
19983 to June 2002. He served as the chairman and the president
of Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co., Ltd. (“Five Star Appliance”)
(I#DEBHBRAR),
household appliance, from December 1998 to February 2009 and
Mr. Wang does not hold any direct or indirect equity interest in
Five Star Appliance since February 2009. Mr. Wang has been the
chairman of the board of Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. since
February 2009.

a company engaged in the sales of

Mr. Wang concurrently serves as the chairman of Kidswant
Children Products Co., Ltd. (EFEREZERARKRHERAF, a
company engaged in the sales and service of maternal and
children products which is listed on the ChiNext, stock code:
301078) since June 2012. He also serves as an independent
non-executive director at Honma Golf Limited (AESBXE
F[R/2®]), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6858), and Simcere Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(hBEXEB/ARNF), a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2096), since September 2016 and
November 2019, respectively.

Mr. Wang obtained a master's degree in Business Management
from The Australian National University in Australia upon
completion of the Executive Master of Business Administration
("EMBA”) programme in July 2004. He completed all the
requirements prescribed by Shanghai Advanced Institute of
Finance for the DBA (Doctor of Business Administration) in Global
Finance Program (LBSHR&mER2IKER DBA HE) in July
2018. He also obtained a Ph.D. in Business Administration in
Global Finance from Arizona State University, U.S.A. in May 2018.
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Mr. Wang has been the vice chairman of Jiangsu General
Chamber of Commerce since December 2014. He was awarded
the Service Industry Professional Special Contribution Award (AR
EZEAA R EEE) by Jiangsu Provincial People’s Government
in October 2014. He was also granted the Outstanding
Achievement Award by the China Chain Store & Franchise
Association (FEIEEEKFLEE) in November 2012. He was
elected as the Model Worker of the National Business System (&
HEE R H L EIES) by the Ministry of Personnel and the Ministry
of Commerce of the PRC in 2007.

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Xiuxian, aged 59, is the co-founder of our Group and has
been an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since
its inception. He is mainly responsible for leading the business
development of our Group and presiding over the decision-making
and execution of the major business, development and investment
plans.

Mr. Xu has more than 20 years of experience in retail business
and corporate management. Mr. Xu served as the section chief
of the Consumer Price Office of the Department of Commerce
of Jiangsu Province ((I#H &R EXBYIELR), the manager of
Jiangsu Wujiaohua Corporation, where he was responsible for the
air-conditioning business from March 1993 to November 1998, the
general manager of Jiangsu Xingpu Technology Trading Co., Ltd.
(IHELRIEE S AEMRAF]), a home appliance trading company,
where he was primarily responsible for its overall operation and
management from November 1998 to December 2004, and an
executive vice president of Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co., Ltd.
(IHAEEXRABMRE2AF]) from December 2004 to March 2009.

Mr. Xu graduated from Hangzhou Business School (#u)NEEp7)
(currently known as Zhejiang Gongshang University Hangzhou
College of Commerce ()L TEAZMMEZFT)) in the PRC with a
bachelor’'s degree in Business and Enterprise Management in July
1983. He subsequently completed postgraduate courses in Global
Economy at the School of Economics of Fudan University (B X
) in Shanghai, the PRC in June 2000 and obtained a master’s
degree in EMBA at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&
JIEEPT) in Beijing, the PRC in September 2011.
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Mr. Xu was recognized for his excellence in leadership and
obtained the award of National Trade and Circulation Services
Model Workers and Advanced Workers (% Bl S 7 RIS ¥ 4

EE R TIEE) in September 2015, and won the 2018 China
Electronic Appliances Service Association Outstanding President
Award (FEIRERBEELETRETHEESER) in January 2019,
and was also named one of the China Industrial Internet TOP10
Leaders 2019 (FEEZLBMA T KEEAY) in July 2019 and
obtained the China Electrical Appliances Industry Outstanding
Leader Award 2019 (FEIR EITE S MEMEE) in October 2019,

Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng, aged 48, has been an executive Director
since May 2021, and has been the Chief Financial Officer, the
Secretary to the Board and a Vice President of our Company since
January 2013. Mr. Zhao is primarily responsible for overseeing our
Group’s financial affairs and corporate governance.

Mr. Zhao has more than 20 years of experience in financial
management. Mr. Zhao served as a project manager of Jiangsu
Tianheng Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd. (TR A& &5AT
EEFAMR AR (Currently known as Tianheng Certified Public
Accountants (Special General Partnership) (X &=t &4 (B R
A %)) from July 1998 to April 2004, a financial director in Zhejiang
Yulong Industrial Co., Ltd. (INTHEFER KD ERAR]), where he
was primarily responsible for the overall financial management,
from May 2004 to September 2005, an audit manager in Zhengda
Tianging Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (IE AKX B £ E N
A AEBR2AF]), where he was primarily responsible for the internal
auditing, from October 2005 to December 2007, a deputy general
manager of Nanjing Shangde Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(AR EEREEEABRAR) from 2007 to 2009 and the chief
financial officer of Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. from 2009 to
2012.

Mr. Zhao has been a certified public accountant conferred by
Certified Accounting Examination Committee of the Ministry
of Finance (HfEHEMEFEHAEZEE) since June 2001. Mr.
Zhao obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Business Management
(Accounting) from Southeast University (EA£) in Nanjing, the
PRC in June 1998.
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Mr. SUN Chao, aged 35, has been an executive Director since
February 2023, and has been a vice president of the Company
since July 2015 and is primarily responsible for assisting the
president of the Company with operation and management
of the Group and the member stores. Mr. Sun currently holds
directorship or managerial positions at several subsidiaries within
the Group, including the chairman of the board of directors of
Jiangsu Wokewang Information Technology Co., Ltd ((T&k % A48
= BRI AR A A since April 2018, a general manager of Huitong
Datatech Smart Technology Co., Ltd. (FEBERIEEERER AR
since September 2019 and an executive director and a general
manager of Nanjing Shumei Network Technology Co., Ltd. (F
RHHEEFERHERER AT since January 2020. Prior to joining
the Group, he served as a project team member and a general
manager of Haier mall of Haier Group E-commerce Co., Ltd. (/&
MEBEETHEBARARF), where he was primarily responsible
for the operation of Haier e-commerce platform from May 2009
to November 2010 and from November 2010 to July 2015,
respectively.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’'s degree in management in
E-commerce from Shandong University of Science and
Technology (IUWEFHZAE) in the PRC in June 2010, and a
master’s degree in Business Administration from Fudan University
(fEBAEZ) in the PRC in January 2020. Mr. Sun received the Prize
of CTOA Most Influential Technological Leadership (CTOA &£E%E
BB EE); was nominated for the Nanjing High-level Talents
2019 (AEmMEEXRAA) in January 2019; was awarded the Prize
of CTDC Internet Industry Technological Leadership Outstanding
Figures 2018 (CTDC EEMITERMELE HEEAYE), and
won the first place in National Internet Commerce Innovative
Application Competition 2009 (ZBEI#B4XEASEIFTERAE) in May
2009.
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Non-executive Directors (other than the Chairman)

Mr. CAIl Zhonggiu, aged 52, has been a Non-executive Director
since May 2021 and is primarily responsible for participating in
evaluation and approval of business plans, strategies and major
decisions of our Group through the Board. Mr. Cai served as the
investment director in SDIC Chuangyi Industry Fund Management
Co., Ltd. (B EImEXESEEEMRARF]) from August 2016 to
August 2018 and has been serving as the executive director since
August 2018.

Mr. Cai has extensive experience in equity investment and
corporate management. Mr. Cai obtained a doctoral degree in
Management Engineering in June 2011 from the China University
of Mining and Technology (Beijing) (FEIIEE K24 FHH) in the
PRC.

Mr. WANG Ran, aged 36, has been a non-executive Director
since November 2022, and has been an executive director of
the strategic investment department of Alibaba Group Holding
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9988) and the New York Stock Exchange (stock
code: BABA) since July 2018; since October 2021, he has been a
director of Shanghai Baison Co., Ltd. (/8B BEFRHDBRAR]),
the shares of which are listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations (stock code: 832722).

From March 2013 to May 2018, Mr. Wang served as the
investment manager of Private Equity Asia Department of Morgan
Stanley (China) Private Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(ERTAF(PE)REREEREERAR]); from February 2012 to
March 2013, he successively served as the investment manager
and analyst of the Bank of China Group Investment Limited.

Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom with a master's degree in financial economics in July
2011,
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. YU Lixin, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive
Director since June 2022. Ms. Yu has been serving as the
managing partner of Talent Certified Public Accountants LLP
since November 2013; an independent director of DK Electronic
Materials Co., Ltd (EHHEE TV ERHBBERAR]) (a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the PRC (stock code:
300842)) since April 2018; an independent director of Gstarsoft
Co., Ltd. (BNEREEFRMD AR A A since November 2020; and
an independent director of Jinling Hotel Corporation, Ltd. (£
PEERJE D BIRAA]), (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601007)), since June 2022.

From August 1987 to November 2013, Ms. Yu successively served
as an audit assistant, project manager, department manager and
deputy general manager of Jiangsu Accounting Firm (currently
known as Talent Certified Public Accountants LLP). From October
2018 to March 2022, Ms. Yu served as an independent director
of Jiangsu Hualan New Pharmaceutical Materials Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the PRC (stock
code: 301093)); an independent director of Jiangsu Efful Science
and Technology Co., Ltd. from June 2019 to April 2022.

Ms. Yu graduated from Soochow University with a bachelor’s
degree in economics in July 1987. She was accredited as a
Chinese Certified Public Accountant by the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in October 1992.

Mr. LIU Xiangdong, aged 56, has been an independent
Non-executive Director since May 2021. He is responsible for
supervising and providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Liu has been working in Renmin University of China (FEIAR
AE) with his current position as a professor. Currently he is also
an independent non-executive director of Shanghai Laiyifen Co.,
Ltd. (EBRFMDEMERLQE]), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603777), since November 2016.
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Mr. Liu obtained his bachelor’s degree, master's degree and
doctoral degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in
the PRC in July 1988, July 1991 and June 2002, respectively.

Mr. CHENG Zichuan, aged 40, has been an independent
Non-executive Director since May 2021 and is responsible for
supervising and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr.
Cheng currently serves as a president of t3go (Fg 4817 RHEZ AL (5
ARAF]), since May 2022.

Mr. Cheng successively served as a manager of China Business
Division of ORIX Group, an investment company, from December
2009 to May 2016; a vice president in the investment banking
department at ORIX Asia Capital Limited, an investment
company, from June 2016 to October 2017 where he was
primarily responsible for the business development in China, the
execution of equity investment projects and the management of
post-investment companies; a president of the investment and
financing department of Hong Yang Group Company Limited (5A
B BB AA]), a real estate company, where he was primarily
responsible for the investment and financing, from November
2017 to December 2018; an assistant president of Leading Hong
Kong Holdings Limited (Bt & B AR A F]), a real estate company,
where he has been primarily responsible for the overseas
investment and financing business and investor relations,from
January 2021 to April 2022.

Mr. Cheng graduated from Wuhan University of Technology (&
ZEE T KEZ) in the PRC with a bachelor's degree in Automation in
June 2004, and obtained a Master of Business Administration at
Waseda University in Tokyo, Japan in March 2010.
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Supervisors

Mr. WANG Xinghua, aged 42, has been the chairman of Board
of Supervisors since November 2015 and is primarily responsible
for supervising the Board and overseeing our operations. He
also serves as the director of president office of our Company
since February 2018, where he is primarily responsible for our
Company'’s strategic management, public affairs, public relations,
administration and non-operational supply chain planning. He also
concurrently serves as a supervisor of Jiangsu Dachuang Electric
Co., Ltd. (T#ZERBIEEZHBRAF]), one of our Group's subsidiaries,
since January 2013.

Mr. Wang Xinghua has extensive experience in human resources
management and administrative management. He worked at the
human resources centers in Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co., Ltd.
CIEREEEAR A7) from July 2003 to February 2009, served
as a director assistant at the human resources center of Five Star
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. from March 2009 to December 2011,
and served as the director of the human resources center of our
Company from January 2012 to February 2018.

Mr. Wang Xinghua obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Human
Resources Management from Nanjing University of Science
and Technology (FAR¥ETAZ) in the PRC in June 2003. He
obtained the Economics Professional Qualification (Intermediate
Level) in January 2013 from Nanjing Professional and Technical
Qualification Assessment Center (F8RmEEKMABRBIBINF
).

Mr. LI Wei, aged 46, has been a Supervisor since June 2020 and
is primarily responsible for supervising the Board and overseeing
our operations. He also serves as the assistant to the president
and CEO of business division of our Company since March 2019.
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Mr. Li has over 25 years of experience in retail and distribution
business. Mr. Li successively served as the head of the air
conditioner business division of Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co.,
Ltd. (TR A 2EERAF]); a deputy general manager of Jiangsu
Xingpu Science and Technology Trading Co., Ltd. (T# 2 &%}
HHMRAF]), a home appliance trading company, where he was
primarily responsible for assisting the general manager for the
internal management and the sales of air conditioner from October
2002 to February 2009; a general manager of Jiangsu Sanchuang
Trading Co., Ltd. (I&%=AIMBAERAT),
trading company, where he was primarily responsible for the sales
management of air conditioners and washing machines, from
March 2009 to September 2014; a general manager of the Sunan
branch of our Company from December 2014 to December 2018;
and a director of the platform support center of our Company from
December 2018 to December 2019.

a home appliance

Mr. Li obtained an associate degree in Marketing from the Jiangsu
Provincial Party School of the Chinese Communist Party (T# & %)
in the PRC in October 1998.

Mr. MAO Yijun, aged 40, has been a Supervisor since May
2021 and is primarily responsible for supervising the Board and
overseeing our operations. He joined our Group in April 2015
and currently serves as the director of the human resources
center of our Company since November 2019 and is responsible
for the organization, talent acquisition and management, work
incentive and cultural affairs of our Company. He also serves as
the assistant to the president and deputy general manager of
emerging industries division of our Company since January 2023
and is primarily responsible for assisting the president of the
Company with operation and management of the Group.

Mr. Mao worked in Suning Electric Co., Ltd. (A2 EEMRHER
~|]), a company principally operating franchised retail shops
of electronics appliances in China, where he was primarily
responsible for the production and marketing from October 2009
to August 2012; and the manager of key customer division of
Nanjing Skyworth Household Appliances Co., Ltd. (FRAI#ER A
B EPRAF]), a company principally engaged in the R&D and
production of household appliances, where he was primarily
responsible for the domestic e-commerce business of refrigerators
and washing machines of Skyworth, from September 2012 to
March 2015.
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Mr. Mao graduated from the Northwestern Polytechnical University
(FAdt T KE) in Xi'an, the PRC with a bachelor's degree in
Software Engineering in July 2004.

Senior Management

Mr. XU Xiuxian. See “—Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors”.

Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng. See “—Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors”.

Mr. XING Jianhong, aged 52, has been a vice president of
the Company since January 2015 and is primarily responsible
for assisting the president of our Company with operation and
management of our Group and the consumer electronics business.
Mr. Xing currently holds directorship or managerial positions at
several subsidiaries within our Group, including a director of
Wanhulian New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (& F Bt aeREHYE
[R/x7]) since July 2017, a general manager of Yifantong Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (B LBABZ AR EFF A A]) since October
2019, a general manager of Jiangsu Xinglihui Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (T#REEBRAEEHE AR A7) since December 2019, an
executive director of Tianjin Huayifan Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (RAEZEREABLEEHLBRAF]) since December 2019 and an
executive director of Jiangsu Yiyuntong Digital Technology Co.,
Ltd. (IEEZBEBUSEHE AR AR]) since December 2020.

Mr. Xing served as a deputy director of the procurement division,
a branch general manager and the director of the development
division of Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co., Ltd. (I&# AL E2EEHE
R/ 7]) from December 1998 to December 2012 and a regional
general manager of Shanghai Red Star Macalline Enterprise
Development Co., Ltd. (F/BAEXIECELREBRAT), a
homebuilding and renovation materials sales company, where he
was primarily responsible for the development and operation of
commercial properties from January 2013 to December 2014.

Mr. Xing completed postgraduate courses in corporate planning
and corporate development at Nanjing University, the PRC in
September 2004.

Mr. SUN Chao. See “—Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors”.
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Mr. XING Jun, aged 45, has been a Vice President and the
Co-Chief Financial Officer of the Company since June 2022. Mr.
Xing is primarily responsible for assisting the President of the
Company with operation and overseeing the Group’s financial
affairs.

Mr. Xing has extensive experience in oversea capital market and
corporate governance of listed companies. Mr. Xing served as
an investor relations manager of GOME Elect rical Appliances
Holding Limited (BIZEEZERARAF]) (currently known as
GOME Retail Holdings Limited (EEZ&#EBRABRAA)), a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
0493) from July 2005 to June 2008; an investor relations senior
manager of Capital and China Investment Co., Limited (Sl{Z& b
PRI E AR QA from September 2008 to March 2010; the board
secretary and investor relations director of China ZhengTong Auto
Services Holdings Limited (FBIIE®IERFIZ/RERAF]), a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1728) from March 2010 to February 2014; the board secretary and
investor relations director of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(BEEBFERAEERARZAT), a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2255) from June 2014 to October
2017 successively and the chief financial officer of Dexin China
Holdings Company Limited (f8{zF BT BRAR]), a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2255) from
February 2018 to June 2021.

Mr. Xing obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree from University of
International Relations (BFREEAERL) in Beijing, the PRC in July
2000, and obtained a master’s degree in finance and management
from Loughborough University in the United Kingdom. Mr. Xing
is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (HKCGI)(formerly known as The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance
Institute (CGl)(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in the United Kingdom and a
charter holder of Chartered Financial Analyst.
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Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. TANG Min, aged 43, has been one of the joint company
secretaries of our Company since January 2022. Ms. Tang
currently is the Deputy Director of the Office of the Secretary of
the Board. She joined our Group in April 2013 and is primarily
responsible for capital financing of the Company. She served as
a financial accountant of Jiangsu Shangfa Home Appliances Co.,
Ltd. (TERREZEREAFRAF) from June 1997 to November 2001
and a senior financial supervisor of Pentagon Freight Services
(Singapore) Private Limited ($ii A AEESFRAA) from
October 2009 to January 2011.

Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’'s degree of science in Applied
Accounting from Oxford Brookes Business School in the UK
in July 2009. She completed Fundamentals Level of the ACCA
examinations in December 2008.

Ms. AU Wai Ching, has been one of the joint company secretaries
of our Company since January 2022. Ms. Au is a senior manager
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, which is
a corporate service provider.

She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. She obtained her bachelor’'s degree in
business administration and her master's degree in professional
accounting and corporate governance from the City University of
Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

BUSINESS
Principal Activities

The Group are a fast growing commerce and service platform
dedicated to serving business customers in China’s retail market,
and endeavour to provide quality merchandise and services to
China’s lower-tier market.

Results of Operations

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in this
annual report.

Business Review

A pertinent review of the Group’s business, including an analysis
of the Group’s financial performance, indicators of the likely
future development of the Group’s business are set out in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report. These discussions form
part of the Group’s business review.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The Company is a joint stock limited company incorporated
under the laws of the People’s Republic of China. Pursuant to the
Article of Association, the Company may apply cash or by way of
shares to distribute dividends. Any distribution of dividends shall
be formulated a distribution plan by the Board and subject to
consideration and approval on general meeting of the Company.
Any distribution of dividends paid by the Company shall be
determined by the Board with absolute discretion on various
factors, including actual operation results, cash flows, financial
position, expected working capital need in the future and business
expansion plan, laws, regulations and other contracts restrictions,
as well as other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

Having due regard to the long-term interests of the Shareholders
and the Company, the Board does not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We are subject to the following major risks and uncertainties:

° If we fail to retain existing customers or attract new
customers, or if our customers decrease their level of
business and revenue contribution, our financial condition
and business operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

° Our commerce business relies on the lower-tier market’s
demand for the merchandise we offer. A material change
in consumer demand or preferences, or any unexpected
situation with a negative impact on market demand may
materially and adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

° Our inability to maintain stable relationships with our
suppliers, or failure to secure alternative suppliers, could
have a material and adverse effect on our business and
financial condition.

° If we are unable to provide satisfactory customer services,
our business and reputation may be materially and
adversely affected.

o Any delivery delay, improper handling of goods or increase
in transportation costs of our logistic service providers
could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

As the major risks and uncertainties mentioned above are not
exhaustive, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in
the Prospectus for detailed information.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is not exposed to significant environmental risks.
During the Reporting Period, no fines or other penalties were
imposed on the Group for non-compliance with environmental
regulations.

Details of the Group’s environmental policy and performance are
set out in the Company’s environmental, social and governance
report (the “ESG Report”) published on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a total of 4,383 full-
time employees. The Group also uses some third-party labor
outsourcing and labor dispatch services, but most of the
employees are directly employed by ourselves. The vast majority
of our employees are based in China, mainly in Nanjing, where
our headquarter is located, and other cities, where our branches
are located.

The Group emphasizes employee diversity, including but not
limited to gender, age, educational background, socio-economic
background, work experience, etc. The Group provides an
inclusive work environment that embraces diversity such as the
strengths of individuals, and seeks to provide opportunities to
unleash their full potential. As of December 31, 2022, among
the above 4,383 employees (including senior management),
approximately 52.7% were male and 47.3% were female. The
Company recognizes the benefits of having diverse employees
and maintains and promotes employee diversification (especially
gender diversification) whenever practicable.

For further details regarding the composition of the Company’s
employees, please refer to the ESG Report published by the
Company on the same date.

The Group’'s success depends on attracting, retaining and
motivating qualified personnel. The Group adopts strict and high-
standard recruitment procedures to ensure the quality of new
recruits. The Group adopts a variety of recruitment methods
(including campus recruitment, online recruitment, internal
recommendation and recruitment through headhunting companies
or agencies) to meet the demand for different types of talents, and
pays competitive salaries in the industry.
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The Group provides its employees with a comprehensive training
program, which it believes will enable employees to effectively
acquire the necessary skills and professional ethics. The Group
participates in mandatory employee social security scheme
organized by provincial and municipal governments in accordance
with PRC laws, including endowment insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury insurance,
medical insurance and housing provident fund. The Group and
its employees are required to pay a specified percentage of
the cost of the social security scheme. The Group is required to
contribute directly to the employee social security scheme at a
specified percentage of the employees’ salaries, bonuses and
certain allowances in accordance with PRC laws, and the amount
of contribution shall not exceed the maximum amount prescribed
by the local government from time to time.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group has a broad customer base, including enterprise
customers, channel customers and member stores, as well as
individual customers. For the year ended December 31, 2022,
both the revenue contribution from the Group’s top five customers
(mainly “commerce business”) and the purchase from top five
suppliers out of total purchase were less than 30%.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, to the knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their close associates
or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5.0% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an
interest in any of the Company’s top five customers or suppliers.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

During the Reporting Period, details of changes in the Group’s
property and equipment are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the
year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 34(c) to the
financial statements of this annual report.

CAPITAL RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE
RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves during the Reporting Period
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on

pages 122 to 1283 of the financial statements. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Company has no distributable reserves.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans or other borrowings of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, no debentures were issued by the
Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022,

neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeem any of the Company’s listed securities.
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INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF H SHARES ON THE
HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

On February 18, 2022, the H Shares of the Company were listed
on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. A total of
53,911,800 H Shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each were
issued under the Global Offering (including the issuance of H
Share upon the partial exercise of the over-allotment option as
set forth in the Prospectus). The Offer Price is HK$43.00 per H
Share (exclusive of brokerage of 1.0%, SFC transaction levy of
0.0027%, FRC transaction levy of 0.00015% and Hong Kong Stock
Exchange trading fee of 0.005%). The gross proceeds from the
Global Offering (including the additional gross proceeds from the
exercise of over-allotment option amounted to HK$99 million) were
approximately HK$2.318 billion.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group has utilized the proceeds
from the initial public offering in accordance with the intended use
as set out in the Prospectus.

The aggregate net proceeds from the initial public offering and
the partial exercise of the over-allotment option in respect of the
listing of the Company’s H Shares on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, after deduction of underwriting fees and
other related expenses, amounted to approximately HK$2,185.0
million (approximately equivalent to RMB1,782.3 million). As of
December 31, 2022, the Company has utilised approximately
RMB419.8 million of the proceeds in total, representing 23.6%
of all raised proceeds, in accordance with the intended use set
out in the Prospectus, with the unused portion of the proceeds
amounting to approximately RMB1,362.4 million and being
deposited as short term deposits in licensed banks in Hong Kong
or the Mainland China. In accordance with the Prospectus and
the actual operating needs of the Company, the Company has
adjusted the expected timeline for utilizing the unused amount of
the proceeds as disclosed in the 2022 Interim Report. Details of
the actual use of proceeds as well as the unused amounts and its
expected timeline as of December 31, 2022 are set out below:
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

In 2022, the Company had no arrangement for pre-emptive rights.
Neither the Articles of Association nor the PRC laws stipulates that
the Company shall give priority to existing shareholders in offering
new shares in proportion to their shareholdings.

TAX CONCESSION AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax concession or exemption
for any Shareholders who hold securities of the Company.
Shareholders are advised to consult an expert if they are in any
doubt about the tax implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of and trading in shares or exercising any of their rights in relation
to them, including any right to tax concession.

DONATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group
made charitable and other donations of approximately
RMB1,548,165.42.

CONTRACT WITH THE SINGLE LARGEST
SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no material contracts were
entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the
single largest shareholder of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Group has received confirmation by single largest
Shareholder in respect of compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking (as defined in the Prospectus) for the Reporting
Period. Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance of single largest Shareholder with the Non-Competition
Undertaking. Independent Non-executive Directors confirmed,
single largest Shareholder did not breach the Non-Competition
Undertaking as of the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the Reporting Period, no contracts were entered into in
relation to the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company,
and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, public float of
the Company is 15.81% as of the Latest Practicable Date.
Our Directors confirm that the Company has maintained the
aforementioned minimum public required by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange as at the Latest Practicable Date.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

The Group may from time to time be involved in various legal
procedures, arbitrations or proceedings in the course of its
ordinary business. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not involved in any legal procedures, arbitrations or proceedings
that we believe would have a material adverse effect on the
ordinary business, financial condition or business performance,
and to the best of our knowledge, there was no risk of any such
legal procedures, arbitrations or proceedings.

The Group’s business operations are subject to applicable
Chinese laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not been involved in, nor does it involve in any
non-compliance incidents resulting in fines, enforcement actions
or other penalties that may individually or collectively have a
material adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial
condition or operating performance, and the Group has complied
with applicable laws and regulations in all material respects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Grant of restricted share units (the “RSUs”)

On April 6, 2023, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
resolved and approved the grant of 4,842,500 RSUs to 494
Selected Participants under the RSU Scheme, which accounted
for approximately 0.86% of the total number of issued Shares
of the Company and approximately 2.69% of the number of H
Shares of the Company, subject to acceptance by the Selected
Participants.

Details of the grant are set out in the circular dated November 11,
2022 of the Company, and the announcement dated April 6, 2023
of the Company.
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Acquisition of Target Company

On March 21, 2023, the Company entered into an equity
acquisition agreement with Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
acquire the entire equity interest of Nanjing Hosjoy Engineering
Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company”), which is an
investment holding company established in the PRC and has a
number of subsidiaries principally engaged in sales of household
appliances in the PRC, from Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home
Co., Ltd., which is an associate (as defined under the Listing
Rules) of Mr. Wang Jianguo, the single largest shareholder of
the Group and the non-executive Director, at a consideration
of RMB504,299,500. Under the above equity acquisition
agreement, Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co., Ltd. has made
corresponding undertakings to the Company in respect of the
net profits realised by the Target Company on a consolidated
basis for the year ending December 31, 2023, the year ending
December 31, 2024 and the year ending December 31, 2025, and
agreed on the compensation method. Details were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated March 21, 2023. As at the
Latest Practicable Date, the above acquisition has not yet been
completed.

Save as disclosed above, no other significant events affecting
the Group have occurred since December 31, 2022 and up to the
Latest Practicable Date.

2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company’'s 2022 annual general meeting will be held on
Thursday, May 18, 2023. The notice convening the 2022 annual
general meeting will be published and dispatched to shareholders
in due course in the manner prescribed by the Listing Rules.
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CLOSURE OF SHARE TRANSFER REGISTRATION

To determine the eligibility to attend and vote at the 2022 annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Monday, May 15, 2023 to Thursday, May 18,
2023 (both dates inclusive), during which period the registration
of share transfers will be closed. To be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2022 annual general meeting, all completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
shall be lodged to the H Share Registrar of the Company,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (for holders of H Shares), or to the
Company’s registered office, at Huitongda Building, No. 50,
Zhongling Street, Xuanwu District, Nanjing, PRC (for holders of
domestic Shares) no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 12, 2022
for handling share transfer registration procedures.

THE BOARD
Chairman of the Board and Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Jianguo

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Xiuxian (CEO)
Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng
Mr. SUN Chao (appointed on February 10, 2023)

Non-executive Directors (excluding the Chairman of the
Board)

Mr. CAl Zhonggiu

Mr. WANG Ran (appointed on November 28, 2022)
Mr. WANG Yi (ceased on November 28, 2022)

Mr. WANG Jian (ceased on December 19, 2022)

Independent non-executive directors

Ms. YU Lixin (appointed on June 17, 2022)
Mr. LIU Xiangdong

Mr. CHENG Zichuan

Mr. HUANG Shun (ceased on June 17, 2022)
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Considering the expiration of the term of office of the second
session of the Board, the Company proposed to elect a new
session of the Board in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations and the Articles of Association on June 17, 2022.
Mr.Wang Jianguo, Mr. Wang Jian, Mr. Cai Zhonggiu and Mr.Wang
Yi have been elected as non-executive Directors of the third
session of the Board at the Company’s 2021 annual general
meeting held on June 17, 2022, respectively; Mr. Xu Xiuxian and
Mr. Zhao Liangsheng have been elected as executive Directors
of the third session of the Board at the 2021 Annual General
Meeting, respectively; and Ms. Yu Lixin, Mr. Liu Xiangdong
and Mr. Cheng Zichuan have been elected as independent
non-executive Directors of the third session of the Board at the
2021 annual general meeting, respectively. The term of office of
the Directors of the third session of the Board is three years, with
effect from June 17, 2022. Pursuant to the Articles of Association,
the above Directors are eligible for re-election after the expiration
of their terms of office.

On October 11, 2022, Mr. Wang Yi as non-executive Director
submitted resignation application to the Board for other
arrangement with effect from the date on which the newly
appointed non-executive Director at the general meeting of the
Company. Upon the consideration by the Board and approved by
the general meeting on November 28, 2022, Mr. Wang Ran was
appointed as the non-executive Director of the third session of
the Board, with the term of office commencing from the date of
approval by the Company’s general meeting to the expiring date
of the third session of the Board.

work

On December 19, 2022, Mr. Wang Jian as non-executive Director
submitted resignation application to the Board of the Company
for other work arrangement with effect from December 19, 2022.
After the consideration by the Board and approved by the general
meeting on February 10, 2023, Mr. Sun Chao was appointed
as the executive Director of the third session of the Board, with
the term of office commencing from the date of approval by the
Company’s general meeting to the expiring date of the third
session of the Board.
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Mr. Li Wei has been elected as a non-employee representative
Supervisor of the third session of the Board of Supervisors at the
2021 annual general meeting. Meanwhile, Mr. Wang Xinghua and
Mr. Mao Yijun have been elected as employee representative
Supervisors of the third session of the Board of Supervisors at
the employee representative meeting held on April 19, 2022. The
term of office of the Supervisors of the third session of the Board
of Supervisors is three years, with effect from June 17, 2022.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the above Supervisors are
eligible for re-election after the expiration of their terms of office.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of the
changes to information in respect of the Directors and Supervisors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the
Listing Rules.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

Pursuant to Rules 19A.54 and 19A.55 of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules, we enter into contracts with each of our Directors and
supervisors in relation to, among other things, (i) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations; (ii) compliance with the Articles of
Association; and (iii) arbitration clauses.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors or supervisors
had entered into any Director or supervisor service contract with
any member of the Group (excluding contracts that expire within
one year or may be terminated by the employer without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

Details of Directors and Supervisors’ remuneration for the
year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS IN
MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report and the below section headed
“Connected Transactions”, to the knowledge of the Directors,
none of the Directors, Supervisors or entities connected with
the Directors, Supervisors had or or has had a material interest,
directly or indirectly, in any material transaction, arrangement or
contract in which the Company or its subsidiaries for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2022 has any
rights been granted to any Directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to enable them to benefit from the purchase
of Shares or debentures of the Company, and such persons have
also failed to exercise those rights; and no arrangement has been
entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
companies or subsidiaries of the holding companies whereby the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18 may have
access to the rights of any other legal entities.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
BUSINESS

IN COMPETING

As of December 31, 2022, Mr. Wang Jianguo, the Chairman and
non-executive Director, was entitled to exercise approximately
68.43% voting rights in Five Star Holdings, which in turn is also
entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 10% or more of the
voting rights at any general meeting of certain companies which
have been engaged in the sales of electrical appliances. Details
of such companies are set out below:
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KAREE/
EREEBIER
i E A B
Other positions
held by
Directors/
FrsEme%Es senior
THEER Total interests management of
BERER Entity name Principal activities held our Company
HERETEEERE Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home  FEXRFA[ERELFET HEFERFEEYN FOnEEIR
BRAF (HER]) Co., Lid. (fZRFTEEERZRER  RINEG  BOIRBBALE 39.4% Bl R F i
MAER LA (“Hosjoy”) RET - HERSE - FKEF - Approximately P HE ) b

BEYHARMARRBIIRE—  39.4% by Five  EREFE=S
WAETE S e REREEH RS Star Holdings  Mr. Wang

- EBEMRERENEE Jianguo and
BE - FEERER Mr. Wang
With the mission of‘making R ERED Jian o) the
home more comfortable 19% non-executive
and healthier”, Hosjoy Approximately Directors,
endeavors to provide 19% by Mr. served as
onestop comfortable smart Wang and his directors at

home solutions through four family member  Hosjoy
major sectors: cooling and

heating system, fresh air

system, water purification

system and smart system

for purpose of improving the

environment of city families.

MM RESERAR QA Suzhou Xinhongda Electrical tHEE R REZERES T

(TE&MHFEE]D Appliances Co., Ltd. (Ef/H T Sales of electrical appliances 10% N/A
MREEREIRAA) (“‘Suzhou 10% by Five Star
Xinhongda”) Holdings

ENMMEZEERBEEBR  Taizhou Fuling Electrical HEER BNRERE  TEA
RA([RMNEZE] Appliances Sales Co., Ltd. (2 Sales of electrical appliances 100% N/A
BT R EN—K MMEZEER HERRLQA) 100% by Suzhou
2EMBERA) (“Taizhou Fuling”, a wholly Xinhongda

owned subsidiary of Suzhou
Xinhongda)

BT EERIEEAR  Yancheng Chengling Electrical HEER BNFERE  TEA
AA([HEEHZE] > &M Appliances Sales Co., Ltd. Sales of electrical appliances 100% N/A
MEREN—RZE (ERTmHEEREEBRA 100% by Suzhou
MBra) &]) (“Yancheng Chengling’, Xinhongda

a wholly owned subsidiary of
Suzhou Xinhongda)

Mzt - FREFEHEBHR2022F12 A19BBHEIRITES -
Note: Mr. Wang Jian has resigned as non-executive Director on
December 19, 2022.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report and the interests of the
Group held by the single largest Shareholder, for the year ended
December 31, 2022, the single largest Shareholder or any Director
has no interest in any business (other than the businesses of
the Group) that is subject to disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules and that directly or indirectly competes or is likely to
compete with the businesses of the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee is established to
review the Group’s remuneration policy and remuneration structure
for all Directors and senior management taking into account
the Group’'s operating performance, individual performance
of Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 8
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

According to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration range (including share-based compensation) for
senior management members for the year ended 31 December
2022 is as follows:

A

Number of Individuals

1,500,001 7T E 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 7% 2,500,000/ 7T
3,000,001 7% 3,500,000 7T
4,500,001 & 7T % 5,000,000 7T

HK$1,500,001- HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001- HK$2,500,000
HK$3,000,001- HK$3,500,000
HK$4,500,001- HK$5,000,000

- a4 N =
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AReRRKEEE RN FBHNAFRE 6
BIFE R MIFES(b) °

PR AR - AN B AR P 0 B ARIE R
BHFOKE -

BEFNRERX

ARAERREFHERR  LREFTRBBA
BAE R LB R T BT AR H A
R S R BREE -

EE EERSREBAERRG - HER
DRESF2EERXRE

2022128310 EF - EERARR RS
BABRARA RIS EATMBEREE (T RLEFHF L
EERBIEXVE) 2D - HERND R EEZRES
ERRIEEER IS EXVEET RESD AL
SARNARREBBR AR AR (BIERSRE
BERBERA ZZEGHEER R AER &
mRAR)  REES R EEIEAIE 35216 TE
BAZIKFEELMANER AR B RIEE
EFAMERA R REBHR TS RXR (Bt
e -« &5 R EE G0 A A8 R 6 S0 0 a0 8 B R B
ERBE)NT

No payment amount made by the Company in 2022 to procure
such person with high emolument to join in our Company.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, no forfeited contributions had been
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained Directors liability insurance to
protect the Directors against any losses that may arise out of their
actual or alleged misconduct.

THE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF EACH
OF OUR DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of
each of our Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of our associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which is required to be notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which is required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which is required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (for
this purpose, the relevant provisions of the SFO will be interpreted
as if they applied to the Supervisors) were as follows:
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ERBELR

ERBEUR ARABET

ERBEART ERBEART REENRAH RoaEn

B BEORGEN BEOROEE EEUE BRENESL  RRESEAL

Approximate Approximate
percentage of  percentage of
shareholding  shareholding in

in the relevant  the total issued
class Shares of the

BR Shareholder Position Class of Shares  Number of Shares  Nature of interest of Shares Company
TEE Wang Jianguo BEERFFNTEE HR 39516334 EZMAA 21.92% 7.02%
the Chairman of H Shares Beneficial Owner
the Board and MER 114439526 EXBEBEA 29.93% 20.34%
non-Executive Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
Director HIE 2,991,750 RiEEEER (M) 1.66% 0.53%
H Shares Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 2)
REMRK 8,664,152  XiEEEER (Mi2) 2.27% 154%
Domestic Shares Interest in a controlled
corporation (Note 2)
"AE Xu Xiuxian BTEFRERYTE  HE 18295661 E®HAA 10.15% 3.25%
Executive Director H Shares Beneficial Owner
and the Chief NER 52984339 EmEAA 13.86% 9.42%
Executive Officer Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
£ Li Wei £ HER 745591 EBEEBA 0.41% 0.13%
Supervisor H Shares Beneficial Owner
HER 2159237  EZMAA 0.56% 0.38%

Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
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2. AREBBRAEEREBERAG CEELESR
TEATF#)68.43% MR REM N R)) MHEEHIFE
FREEEEEEFRL (BREE)99%ME -
FARRACETEFRL(BRAE)EEREHA
2,991,759 HA% 128,664,152 R W& % o
It FREWRARE RRACEERF LN (B
RER) IBHRHTPEEER -

br EXCETRBEE SN - MESAM KRB E2022F12 A
31 EF EFENARASHAEREAEHENK
ANl EBEEE (FERESRIEGRAIEXVEL)
ARG, - ARG REEFTIEEIERAEER
BESFRAEERMIEXVEET7R8D HAEMNEARR]
MEBEIMNEMERSAE (BIERIEES K
ERPIBEREEEIRABRBENERIAR) » =X
RIEESH R ERHIE 3521618 T AZ LR ZIRA
Frigs MR A g SR BIZESTRIREA
HEARRNE REBEZFTNERIARE °

FERRRAEMALTRRGORABRGVE
BmRKRE

R2022F12A31H  BESZMA - FIAL(E
£ EERAQARETERABRIN R kE
RO P B RIEES RS KA EXVIFE2RES
DECZAESBBMA R B KBS AT 2 S SOK
B REALRRRIEESRBEKGIEI36IKEE
GFrzEDMARNERIUAR

Notes:
1. All interests stated above are long positions.
2. Mr. Wang indirectly controlled 99% equity interest in Nanjing

Yuanbai Enterprise Management Centre (Limited Partnership)
through Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (a company in
which Mr. Wang was entitled to exercise approximately 68.43%
voting rights). Nanjing Yuanbai Enterprise Management Centre
(Limited Partnership) directly holds 2,991,759 H Shares and
8,664,152 Domestic Shares. Therefore, Mr. Wang was deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Nanjing Yuanbai
Enterprise Management Centre (Limited Partnership).

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company had
or was deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including their interests and short positions deemed
or taken under the relevant provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2022, to the best of Directors’ knowledge,
the following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors and
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares, which would be required to
be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required to be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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ERBELR

2RBELR RARBRT

ERBELKT ERBEAET REERRAH RAEEN
BENRHER BENRAHE ERtE BREAEIE  HRESEIL
Approximate

Approximate  percentage of

percentage of  shareholding in

shareholding the total issued

in the relevant Shares of the

e Shareholder Class of Shares  Number of Shares  Nature of interest class of Shares Company

MEBE (hE) BEl Alibaba (China) Network Technology H& 24915812  EZBEA 13.82% 4.43%

BRAR((MECBHE])  Co., Lid. (‘Alibaba China") H Shares Beneficial Owner
(MzE2) (Note 2) NER 72,156,332  ERZEEA 18.87% 12.83%
Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
RRORPNEZRE Central SOEs Industrial Investment  Hi& 6921056 EmEEA 3.84% 1.23%
EeRIERAT Fund for Poor Area H Shares Beneficial Owner
Vi) Co., Ltd. (Note 3) RER 20043418  EXEEHA 5.24% 3.56%
Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner
IR Wang Jian Hik 7455912  EmEAA 4.14% 1.33%
H Shares Beneficial Owner
RER 21592364 EXEEHA 5.65% 3.84%
Domestic Shares Beneficial Owner

B 5 Notes:

1. FutERSATE - 1. All interests stated above are long positions.

2. MEEREHREAEE (FE)BREERAFRE 2 Alibaba China is held as to 57.59% and 35.75% by Taobao
T RERITER AR D RIFHEES7.59% (China) Software Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Tmall Technology
N35.75% 2w o AE (FE) BHEBERA Co., Ltd., respectively. Taobao (China) Software Co., Ltd.
A RN T XM AR A " H Taobao China and Zhejiang Tmall Technology Co., Ltd. are wholly owned by
Holding Limited2&# %A * MTaobao China Taobao China Holding Limited, which in turn is wholly owned
Holding LimitedfTaobao Holding Limited by Taobao Holding Limited. Taobao Holding Limited is a direct
2 & A ° Taobao Holding Limited &M 2 wholly-owned subsidiary of Alibaba Group Holding Limited.
EEEEZERERARNEREZENB AR - Therefore, Taobao (China) Software Co., Ltd., Zhejiang Tmall
At 88 (hE) RHERBERAF - HIX Technology Co., Ltd., Taobao China Holding Limited, Taobao
ST AR A F - Taobao China Holding Holding Limited and Alibaba Group Holding Co., Ltd. Are
Limited * Taobao Holding Limited X £EE deemed to be interested in the shares held by Alibaba China.
SRR AR A A AR AR 8 BB B AR
BIR D R EA R o

3. TROZBNEZREEZSRMHAERIF (TR 3, Central SOEs Industrial Investment Fund for Poor Area Co., Ltd.

TEE ) HAERAZEXESCERBRAAE
2 W) RANBEERR (FEZRERERSE -
RETIEHKD  EEEE HLREER B
BMEARIE) BEE30.49%  SWEHARELES
5%Z10% RS HE + o (i) B FIER 104 2B AL R
#BE69.51%  ZREHERLESE5%IA T
i e REESHBBREEEEELEEEES
BEREIET -

(“SOE IIF”") was managed by SDIC Chuangyi Industry Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (B EI=EXZESEEBRAT) and
was owned as to i) 30.49% by six institutional shareholders
(mainly engaged in equity investment, equity management
consulting, telecom operations, energy investment and integrated
infrastructure services) each holding 5% to 10% equity interest
in SOE IIF, and ii) 69.51% by the remaining 104 institutional
shareholders each holding no more than 5% equity interest in SOE
IIF. SOE IIF is ultimately controlled by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
of the PRC (BB G EELEEELZER).
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (other than the Directors,
Supervisors and chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required to be entered in the register to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into, and did not have, any
equity-linked agreements which would or might result in the issue
of Shares by the Company, or require the Company to enter into
any agreements which would or might result in the issue of Shares
by the Company, during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Overview

We have in the past conducted certain transactions with entities
that become our connected persons (as defined under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules) upon Listing. Such transactions continue
after Listing and therefore constitute our continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.

Relevant Connected Persons
The following parties with whom have entered into transactions

are regarded as connected persons under the Listing Rules:

Connected Person Connected Relationship

Alibaba China One of substantial shareholders

Directors Directors
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IHRRITERERS Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

TXHINARRB I HE TIERAHERELS  Below set out the details of certain non-exempt continuing

BIFEIS © connected transactions entered by our Company
MECEREHEEERGS 1. Alibaba China Sales Framework Agreement
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K5 RASETF R _LE R eI K 4% 2
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R Bt MEREHEK, o
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BEEERBEHEERGHER T HET
RSN ANEE— RN BB ERE
RPRIEERERGTET

On December 21, 2021, the Company entered into the
sales framework agreement with an associate of Alibaba
China (“Alibaba China Sales Framework Agreement’),
pursuant to which, the Group agreed to provide Alibaba
China and/or its associates with goods (including but not
limited to household appliances and consumer electronics),
for a term from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023.

On August 23, 2022, the Board resolved and approved
revise the original annual caps under the Alibaba China
Sales Framework Agreement. The revised annual caps for
the transactions under the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement for the years ending December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2023 are RMB500 million and RMB800
million respectively.

Reasons and benefits for the transaction and revision of
the annual caps

(1) Alibaba China and/or its associates have been
purchasing certain goods from the Group during
their ordinary course of business given the price
advantage of the merchandise offered by the Group
compared to other market players. Furthermore,
the Group is authorized as designated agent or
seller of certain types and/or brands of goods in
certain areas. Therefore, Alibaba China and/or its
associates could only purchase such goods from
the Group. The transaction contemplated under the
Alibaba China Sales Framework Agreement is made
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group on normal commercial terms;
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(2) In 2022, the Group implemented omni-channel and
full-link strategy, and expanded a variety of sales
channels and product types. As Alibaba China
is a leading retail business entity, the Group will
gradually strengthen its strategic cooperation with
retail platforms such as Alibaba China as one of the
Group’s sales channels;

(3) Based on the continued improvement of the supply
chain capacity of the Group (especially in the
household appliances and consumer electronics
industries) and its strategic cooperation with many
leading manufacturers in the upstream, such as
Gree, Midea, Joyoung and Apple, the Group will
realize mutual complement with Alibaba China and/
or its associates in the timely supply of certain
household appliances and consumer electronics
categories, as well as in the best-selling categories.

In conclusion, the Company needs to continue to conduct
the transactions under the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement and revise the annual cap to meet the above
business needs.

Pricing basis

The prices of transactions contemplated under the Alibaba
China Sales Framework Agreement shall be determined by
negotiation on an arm’s length basis.

The price for selling goods to Alibaba China and/or its
associates by the Group shall be determined with reference
to the price of the goods that the Group could sell to the
Independent Third Parties and prevailing market price.
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Pricing procedures

The selling price of the goods are to be separately
negotiated for each sold by the parties based on the
principles that the selling price to be paid shall be
determined on normal commercial terms after arm’s
length negotiation, and shall be no less favourable
than the prevailing market price and the price offered
by Independent Third Parties. The parties will enter
into separate sales order in respect of each sales in
accordance with the terms of the Alibaba China Sales
Framework Agreement.

To ensure the selling price to Alibaba China and/or its
associates are fair and reasonable and comparable to
those offered to Independent Third Parties, the Group will
compare the price in relation to the similar product type
and volume with at least two other independent companies
prior to entering into sales order with Alibaba China and/
or its associates so as to know the prevailing market
price. The Directors consider that the above procedures
can ensure that the transactions under the Alibaba China
Sales Framework Agreement will be conducted on normal
commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders.

Annual caps and actual transaction amounts

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts
transaction under the Alibaba China Sales Framework
Agreement were RMB500 million and RMB209.6 million
respectively for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Alibaba China Purchasing Framework Agreement

On December 21, 2021, the Company entered into the
purchasing framework agreement with an associate of
Alibaba China (“Alibaba China Purchasing Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to
purchase goods (including but not limited to household
appliances and consumer electronics), for a term from the
Listing Date to December 31, 2023.

On August 23, 2022, the Board resolved and approved
revise the original annual caps under the Alibaba China
Purchasing Framework Agreement. The revised annual
caps for the transactions under the Alibaba China
Purchasing Framework Agreement for the years ending
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023 are RMB80
million and RMB150 million respectively.

Reasons and benefits for the transaction and revision of
the annual caps

(1) The Group has been purchasing certain goods from
Alibaba China and/or its associates given the price
advantage of such goods offered by Alibaba China
and/or its associates compared to other market
players. The transaction contemplated under the
Alibaba China Purchasing Framework Agreement is
made in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group and on normal commercial terms;
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(2) After 10 years of development, as at December 31,
2022 the Group now serves more than 206 thousand
member stores and boasts strong channel extension
capacity. With the increase of per capita disposable
income of rural residents, the consumption potential
of the lower-tiered city market will be further
released. And the Group will constantly enhance
the stickiness of member stores through the supply
chain + SaaS services. To meet the diversified
product demands of member stores in the lower-
tiered city market, the Group will adopt the strategy
of multi-channel supply chain. Based on the price
advantage of Alibaba China and/or its associates
in certain commodities, the Group will purchase
certain commodities from Alibaba China and/or its
associates to solve the temporary demand of certain
member stores;

(3) The Company expects that the overall business
results of the Group will maintain stable growth
in the future. Taking into account the estimated
revenue growth of the Company and the temporary
product demands of the member stores in
the past, it is expected that the amount of the
purchase transactions with Alibaba China and/or its
associates will increase by a certain extent.

In conclusion, the Company needs to continue to conduct
the transactions under the Alibaba China Purchasing
Framework Agreement and to revise the annual caps to
meet the above business needs.

Pricing basis

The prices of transactions contemplated under the
Alibaba China Purchasing Framework Agreement shall be
determined by negotiation on an arm’s length basis.

The price for purchasing certain goods from Alibaba China
and/or its associates by the Group shall be determined
with reference to the price of the goods that the Group
could purchase from the Independent Third Parties and
prevailing market prices.
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Pricing procedures

The purchase price of the goods are to be separately
negotiated for each purchase by the parties based on
the principles that the purchase price payable shall be
determined on normal commercial terms after arm’s
length negotiation, and shall be no less favourable than
the prevailing market price and the price offered by the
Independent Third Parties. The parties will enter into
separate purchase order in respect of each purchase in
accordance with the terms of the Alibaba China Purchasing
Framework Agreement.

To ensure the purchase price offered by Alibaba China
and/or its associates are fair and reasonable and
comparable to those offered by Independent Third
Parties, the Group will compare the price in relation to the
similar product type and volume from at least two other
independent companies prior to entering into purchase
order with Alibaba China and/or its associates so as to
know the prevailing market price. The Directors consider
that the above procedures can ensure that the transactions
under the Alibaba China Purchasing Framework Agreement
will be conducted on normal commercial terms and
not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders.

Annual caps and actual transaction amounts

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the
transaction under the Alibaba China Purchasing Framework
Agreement were RMB80 million and RMB77.5 million
respectively for the years ended December 31, 2022.
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Annual Review by Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
aforementioned continuing connected transactions, and confirmed

such transactions are:
(1) entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(2) conducted with normal commercial terms or more favorable
terms; and

(3) conducted pursuant to agreements of relevant transactions,
with fair and reasonable terms and in the interests of
Directors of Listed Issuers as a whole.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
the Company had no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which were required to be disclosed
pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
relating to the disclosure of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions.

Confirmation by the Auditor

The auditor of the Company has performed the relevant
procedures regarding the continuing connected transactions
of the Company in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has provided a copy of the auditor’s letter to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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The auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with
respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
entered into in the year ended December 31, 2022:

(a) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention
that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group;

(c) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate actual transaction amount of
each of the disclosed continuing connected transactions,
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the actual transaction amount of the
disclosed continuing connected transactions has exceeded
the annual cap.

Related Party Transactions

Details of material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Reporting Period are disclosed in Note 36 to
the financial statements. Save as disclosed in the Section headed
Connected Transactions of this annual report, related party
transactions disclosed in Note 36 are not deemed as connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, or are
exempt from the reporting, announcement and Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company had
complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and were disclosed in this annual report.
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AUDITORS

The Company’s accompanying financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs, have been audited by KPMG.

KPMG will retire at the forthcoming 2022 annual general meeting
and is eligible and willing to offer itself for re-election. A resolution
will be proposed at the 2022 annual general meeting to re-appoint
KPMG as the auditor.

ShineWing Certified Public Accountants LLP ({kfP &A=
Fr (3L @A E)), the former auditor of the Company was retired
from the conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not changed auditor
for the past three years.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and set its terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists
of three members, namely Ms. YU Lixin (Chairlady), Mr. WANG
Ran and Mr. LIU Xiangdong. The Audit Committee is chaired
by Ms. YU Lixin, who is an independent non-executive Director
with appropriate accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

Following discussions with the auditor, the Audit Committee has
reviewed the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2022. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Company and discussed matters relating to the Company’s risk
management and internal controls. There were no disagreements
between the Board and the Audit Committee with respect to the
accounting treatment method adopted by the Company.

The Company has prepared its annual results for the year ended
December 31, 2022 in accordance with IFRS.

On behalf of the Board
Chairman
Mr. WANG Jianguo

Nanjing, the People’s Republic of China
March 28, 2023
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In 2022, in strict accordance with the Company Law, the
Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedure of the Board of
Supervisors of the Company and relevant laws and regulations,
the Board of Supervisors supervised and inspected the legal
operation, financial position, operation and implementation of the
management policy in a responsible manner to the Company and
all Shareholders, conscientiously performing its due duties and
promoting the operation and development of the Company. The
2022 Report of the Supervisors is set out below:

DAILY WORK OF OF SUPERVISORS IN 2022

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors held
five meetings, attended eight Board meetings and two general
meetings, and conducted due diligence reviews of relevant
resolutions. The details are as follows:

HEEEERY, JIREEGRE / JIERRASREH
SRERRY ERENAY EEERRY

Attendances/
Number of Meetings Attendances/ Attendances/
of the Board of the Number of Board Number of General
EEnS Name of Supervisors Supervisors Meetings Meetings
TEELE Mr. WANG Xinhua 5/5 8/8 2/2
FEEE Mr. LI Wei 5/5 8/8 2/2
EHERE Mr. MAO Yijun 5/5 8/8 2/2
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INDEPENDENT OPINIONS OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE
OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY
FOR 2022

) Basic evaluation of the operation and management
behavior plus performance for 2022

From the perspective of effectively safeguarding the
interests of the Company and the rights and interests of
Shareholders, the Board conscientiously performed its
supervisory duties. The Board of Supervisors was of the
view that the Board had conscientiously implemented
the resolutions of the general meetings and diligently
performed its duties. The resolutions were in compliance
with the Company Law and the Articles of Association,
without detriment to the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders. The management of the Company
conscientiously implemented the Board resolutions, without
incurring illegal and unlawful acts in the operation, and
successfully completed the business plans formulated at
the beginning of the year.

()  Inspection of the Company’s financial position

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
carefully supervised, inspected and audited the financial
position and the financial management system of the
Company. It was concluded that the Company had a
sound financial system, a perfect financial management
system and standardized financial operations, and there
were no false records or material omissions. KPMG audited
the Company’s 2022 annual financial report and issued
a “standard unqualified” auditor’s report, which truly and
accurately reflected the financial position and operating
results of the Company

(I)  Use of proceeds

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
effectively supervised the use and management of the
Company’s proceeds and was of the opinion that the
Company could rationally use and effectively manage
the proceeds in strict accordance with the investment
agreements made and entered into with the investment
institutions. The use of the proceeds was legal and
compliant, and the actual investment projects of the
proceeds were consistent with the committed investment
projects. There were no changes in the use of proceeds or
acts that were detrimental to the interests of Shareholders.
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Connected transactions

During the Reporting Period, the connected transactions
of the Company were tailored to the operation and
development needs of the Company, with legal and
compliant decision-making procedures and fair pricing.
There were no acts that were detrimental to the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders, particularly minority
Shareholders, which served the overall interests of the
Company and all Shareholders.

Acquisition and disposal of assets

The verification of the Company’s transactions reveals that
there were no material acquisitions or disposals of assets
during the Reporting Period.

Opinions on the evaluation of the Company’s internal
control

The Board of Supervisors carefully reviewed the Board’s
2022 Evaluation Report on Internal Control and the
construction and operation of the Company’s internal
control system and was of the opinion that: the Company
had established a relatively sound and reasonable internal
control system and implemented it in operation activities.
The Company’s 2022 self-evaluation report of internal
control truly and completely reflects the current status
of the Company’s internal control and the main aspects
to be improved, and raises no objection to the Board’s
Self-Evaluation Report on Internal Control.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE WORK OF BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS IN 2023

Within the spectrum of duties set forth in the Company Law and
the Articles of Association, the Board of Supervisors will earnestly
perform its due functions with an objective and impartial attitude
and in a realistic and practical manner, to safeguard the rights
and interests of Shareholders. It will increase its daily attention
to and supervision of the Directors, managers and other senior
management in performing their duties, executing resolutions and
complying with regulations and systems, and promote the smooth
reform and innovation plus operation of the Company. According
to the Company’s 2023 operation objectives and priorities, the
Board of Supervisors will focus on the following tasks:

() Supervising and inspecting of decision-making on
major matters

By attending the meetings of the Board and the general
manager office, we understand the process of making
relevant major decisions, and check whether the
Company’s decision-making procedures comply with
the provisions of laws and regulations, and whether
the Directors and senior management of the Company
make decisions prudently and perform duties diligently.
We approve, assist and procure the Board and the
management to make decisions by following the
procedures, to ensure the achievement of the Company’s
annual business objectives.

()  Strengthening inspection and execution

The Supervisors’ inspection focuses on the fulfillment of the
policies of relevant units and management departments of
the Company, particularly the handling of certain key links,
key parts and more prominent issues. For example, we
strengthen the control of accounts receivable and payable
and establish a feasible reconciliation system; strengthen
the management of operational foreign investment to
control the Company’s operational risks; check whether
the Company’s financial work is in strict compliance with
national accounting policies, systems and regulations,
and whether financial accounting is carried out in a timely
and accurate manner based on the financial system and
accounting standards; check whether the transaction
prices of the Company’s acquisition and disposal of assets
are reasonable, and whether there is any insider trading or
damage to the rights and interests of certain Shareholders,
causing losses to the Company’s assets, etc.
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Supervising and inspecting the performance of
duties by the management

The Supervisors check whether the Directors and senior
management of the Company make decisions prudently
and work perform duties diligently and faithfully; whether
there is any violation of laws, regulations, the Articles of
Association or damage to the interests of the Company in
performing their duties.

Strengthening the self-construction of the Board of
Supervisors

It takes a good blacksmith to make steel. The business
level of the Supervisors is an important guarantee for the
performance of their duties. In the year ahead, all members
of the Board of Supervisors will further strengthen the
learning of financial, legal and business knowledge and the
study of relevant laws and regulations of listed companies,
to continuously improve our ability to perform our duties.

On behalf of the Supervisory Committee
Chairman of Board of Supervisors
Mr. WANG Xinghua

Nanjing, the People’s Republic of China
March 28, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to protect Shareholders’ interests and
enhance the corporate value. In the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions in the
CG Code for the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
2022.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out
in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board will review
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, compliance
with the Model Code and the Employee Written Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures
made in this Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopts the Model Code as its code of conduct for
securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the provisions set out in
the Model Code throughout the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2022.

The Company has also established written guidelines for securities
transactions by relevant employees who may have inside
information about the Company on terms no less stringent than
the Model Code (the “Guidelines for Securities Transactions by
Relevant Employee”). The Company has not been aware of any
non-compliance by employees with the Guidelines for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employee.
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LIST OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

TRINERRER KRB ES - EELSMEIE  The following table sets out the information of the Directors,

ABMER Supervisors and senior management of the Company during the
Reporting Period and as at the Latest Practicable Date:

] EAXQREENES ZEBRH

Name Position in the Company Date of appointment

BE

Directors

R BEERMIFNTES 201511 A16H

WANG Jianguo

REE

XU Xiuxian
it

ZHAO Liangsheng
Fi

SUN Chao
Tl

WANG Jian

B {RFK

CAl Zhonggqiu
o)

WANG Ran
T

WANG Yi
BB

YU Lixin
Gl

LIU Xiangdong
B2fE
CHENG Zichuan
=B

HUANG Shun

the Chairman of the Board and
Non-executive Director

BITES

Executive Director

WiTES

Executive Director

WITES

Executive Director

AIFEFNITE S

Former Non-executive Director

FEITES

Non-executive Director

EMITESE

Non-executive Director

RISENTTE S

Former Non-executive Director

BN IEITESF

Independent Non-executive Director

B IERITES

Independent Non-executive Director

B IENITES

Independent Non-executive Director

AN IEMITES

Former Independent Non-executive
Director

November 16, 2015

2015911 A16H

November 16, 2015

202145 H10H

May 10, 2021

2023F2 A 10H

February 10, 2023

2015911 A16 B (2022F 12 A 19 H 1)
November 16, 2015 (ceased on December 19, 2022)
202145 H10H

May 10, 2021

2022411 A28H

November 28, 2022

2021458108 (20224 11 A28 HEHIT)

May 10, 2021 (ceased on November 28, 2022)
2022% 6 H17H

June 17, 2022

202145 H10H

May 10, 2021

202145 H10H

May 10, 2021

201648 A25R (2022F6 A 17 HET)
August 25, 2016 (ceased on June 17, 2022)
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HE EAD B EENRS ZEBH

Name Position in the Company Date of appointment
EE

Supervisors

T EiEE E= 201511 A 16H
WANG Xinghua Supervisor November 16, 2015
FIE E= 202046 H29H

LI Wei Supervisor June 29, 2020
EHE B= 202145H10H
MAOQ Yijun Supervisor May 10, 2021
EREEAR

Senior Management

"EE BEBTE 2010 1286H

XU Xiuxian Chief Executive Officer December 6, 2010
i-Ertes BEREVBE EEewENREIBH 201351 A1A

ZHAO Liangsheng Chief Financial Officer, Secretary January 1, 2013
to the Board and Vice President

il Rt 201591 A4H
XING Jianhong Vice President January 4, 2015
e MR E e KRl e 202266 A17H
XING Jun Co-Chief Financial Officer and June 17, 2022
Vice President

7 BliaE 2015%7H15H
SUN Chao Vice President July 15, 2015
BELARWE

Joint Company
Secretaries

8 R ARME 2022491 A13H
TANG Min Joint Company Secretary January 13, 2022
B2 BN EIME 20221 A13H

AU Wai Ching Joint Company Secretary January 13, 2022
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Biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management are set out in the section headed “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report. The
Board is responsible for the management and operation of the
Company and has general powers in this regard. Directors are
appointed for a term of three years and are eligible for re-election
at the end of their term. Independent Non-executive Directors
shall not hold office for more than six consecutive years.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with
the Listing Rules in relation to the appointment of at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors (representing at
least one-third of the Board) and at least one independent
non-executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

None of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the
Company has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships) with any
other Directors, Supervisors and chief executives.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
bring valuable business experience, knowledge and expertise in
different areas to the Board to enable its efficient and effective
operation. The independent non-executive Directors are invited
to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, in particular the
proportion of independent non-executive Directors, should
be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual
basis.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to his/her
independence to the Company. The Company considers all
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and
to avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company's
single largest Shareholder and/or certain subsidiaries of
the single largest Shareholder, would abstain from voting in
the relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the single largest Shareholder and/or its associates.

4. The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the company policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board on an annual basis,
whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and their contribution and
access to external independent professional advice.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND
DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, directing and supervising the affairs of the Company
and acting in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for and has general authority over the
management and operation of the business of the Company,
including the determination of the business of the Company
strategy and investment plans, the implementation of resolutions
passed at general meetings and the exercise of other powers,
functions and duties conferred by Articles of Association. The
Board is also responsible for formulating and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices with respect to corporate
governance, risk management and internal controls, and legal and
regulatory compliance.

The Board stands at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance structure and there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the senior management
of the Company. The Company has clearly delineated the
responsibilities of the general meeting, the Board, the Board of
Supervisors and the senior management of the Company. The
Shareholders’ meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
and the Board is accountable to the general meeting. The Board
has established four specialized committees, which operate
under the leadership of the Board and advise the Board on
its decisions. The Board of Supervisors oversees the Board
and senior management in the performance of their duties, as
well as the financial activities, risk management and internal
controls of the Company. Under the leadership of the Board,
the senior management of the Company is responsible for the
implementation of the Board’s resolutions and for the daily
operations and management of the Company, and reports to the
Board and the Board of Supervisors.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are not performed by the same individual as
this ensures better checks and balances and hence better
corporate governance. Mr. WANG Jianguo holds the position
of the Chairman, who is primarily responsible for the strategic
development of the Group. Mr. XU Xiuxian serves as the Chief
Executive Officer, who is primarily responsible for the overall
management and operation of the Group.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In accordance with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination
Committee shall formulate a policy concerning diversity of Board
members. In formulating its nomination policy, the Company has
created measurable targets in the following areas, including
expertise, experience, knowledge, professional skills, education
background, independence, age, etc. In doing so, the Company
can ensure its Directors reach the eligible level in terms of
their expertise, industrial experience, education background,
independence, age and other factors, which enable them to make
corresponding contributions to the Board whenever necessary
and practicable. With regards to gender diversity on the Board,
our board diversity policy further provides that our Board shall
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
over time when selecting and making recommendations on
suitable candidates for Board appointments. The Board would
ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved
with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international
and local recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of
bringing the Board to gender parity. Going forward and with a
view to developing a pipeline of potential successors to the Board
that may meet the targeted gender diversity ratio set out below,
we will:

() continue to make appointments based on merits with
reference to board diversity as a whole;

(ii) take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the
Company by recruiting staff of different gender;

(iii) consider the possibility of nominating female management
staff who has the necessary skills and experience to the
Board; and

(iv) provide career development opportunities and more
resources in training female staff with the aim of
promoting them to the senior management or board of the
Company so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to the Board in a
few years’ time.

Currently, the Board had appointed one female Director. In the
future, we will continue to identify and appoint female Director,
with appropriate qualification and experience, in our Board. The
Directors will exercise fiduciary duties in the process, acting in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
when making the relevant appointments.
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Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring diversity within
the Board members and will use its best efforts to identify and
recommend suitable candidates, including female candidates,
for the Board’s consideration. We also welcome candidates of
different genders to apply for our mid to senior level positions.
The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merits
and the contribution the selected candidates could bring to our
Board and management team. Our Board believes that such merit-
based selection criteria will best enable our Company to serve our
Shareholders and other stakeholders going forward. The Company
and the Nomination Committee periodically review the nomination
policy and are open to adopt further measurable objectives in
the future based on the business needs of the Company and to
keep pace with the prevailing regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practice.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, members of our Board
consisted of 1 female and 8 male, aged from 35 to 62 and with
education background and professional experience covering
management, economy, finance, law, financial, etc. The Company
has fully considered the diversified requirements of Board
members in terms of gender, age, region, education background
and professional experience. The Company confirmed that the
composition of the Board satisfies the requirements regarding
diversity of board of directors (including gender diversity) set out
in the Listing Rules.

Continuing Professional Development for Directors

Directors shall participate in appropriate continuing professional
development in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code to develop and update their knowledge and skills to ensure
informed and relevant contribution to the Board. Seminars are
also arranged on a regular basis to update the Directors from time
to time on the latest developments and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements to
ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and their obligations under the relevant
statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Directors are also
provided with regular updates on the performance, position and
prospects of the Company to enable the Board as a whole and
each of the Directors to discharge their duties. The Company’s
solicitors and joint company secretaries update and provide
written training materials to the Directors from time to time on their
roles, functions and responsibilities.
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Directors are required to submit to the Company details of the
training they have received in each financial year in order for
the Company to keep proper training records of the Directors.

EEIMERIT

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022, the
Company held the following trainings for the Directors.

FBEBEEXER
(PiFEE)

Director Continuing
Professional
Development

EEnE Name of Directors Involved (Note)
EERFPIYTES Chairman and Non-executive Director:

BT A Mr. WANG Jianguo a,b
HITES Executive Directors:

wEBEE Mr. XU Xiuxian ab
AR L Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng a,b
FHTES ! Non-executive Directors:

T4 (2022F 12 A19 B EME) Mr. WANG Jian (ceased on December 19, 2022) a,b
B Mr. CAl Zhonggiu ab
T AEE (202211 A28HZE ) Mr. WANG Ran (appointed on November 28, 2022) a,b
T4 (20225 11 A28 HEME) Mr. WANG Yi (ceased on November 28, 2022) a,b
BAFHTES: Independent Non-executive Directors:

EEH It (202246 A17BET) Ms. YU Lixin(appointed on June 17, 2022) ab
2L E Mr. LIU Xiangdong a,b
B {EEE Mr. CHENG Zichuan a,b
FE% A (2022F6 A17 BEMT) Mr. HUANG Shun (ceased on June 17, 2022) ab

GG

a: SMEMEBABH-MBRRNAREBERY &

&l

b: MEZERE (RECEEREH ESRE. b
TR R E A ARRAR) BOb R

Notes:

to the Company’s business

Participating in the training offered by the law firm and related

Reading materials on a variety of topics, including corporate

governance issues, Directors’ duties, Listing Rules and other

relevant laws
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Board Meetings

Notice of all regular Board meetings of the Company shall be
given to all Directors at least 14 days in advance to give them an
opportunity to attend the regular meetings and place matters on
the agenda.

For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings, the
Company generally gives a reasonable notice. The meeting
agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent to the
Directors or Board committee members at least three days prior
to the Board meeting or Board committee meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the papers and are
well prepared to attend the Board meeting or Board committee
meeting. If a Director or Board committee member is unable to
attend a meeting, he/she will be informed of the matters to be
discussed and will have an opportunity to inform the Chairman
of his/her views prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings
shall be kept by the Joint Company Secretaries and copies are
circulated among all Directors for information and records.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings shall
record in detail the matters considered and decisions made by the
Board and Board committees, including any issues raised by the
Directors. Minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee
meeting are drafted and sent to the Directors for their comments
within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting. Minutes of
the Board meetings are open for inspection by all Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, 8 Board meetings were held and 2
general meetings were convened, and the attendance records of

gRAOT - each Director at the Board meetings and the general meetings
above are as follows.
BEEERE
BRERAHK
Attendances in Person/
EEpR Name of Directors Number of Meetings
EEg BRERE
Board meetings General meetings
EERRHFPTES: Chairman and Non-executive Director:
TR LA Mr. WANG Jianguo 8/8 2/2
HITESE Executive Directors:
BREEXE Mr. XU Xiuxian 8/8 2/2
A E Mr. ZHAO Liangsheng 8/8 2/2
FHTES ! Non-executive Directors:
T4 (2022F 12 A19 B EE) Mr. WANG Jian (ceased on 717 2/2
December 19, 2022)
B EE Mr. CAl Zhonggiu 8/8 2/2
FH%EE (202211 H28HZEE)  Mr. WANG Ran (appointed on 1/1 0/0
November 28, 2022)
F# LA (2022F 11 A28 BEME) Mr. WANG Yi (ceased on 717 2/2
November 28, 2022)
BYFHPTES: Independent Non-executive Directors:
EEH (2022F6 S17BEE) Ms. YU Lixin (appointed on 4/4 11
June 17, 2022)
2R E Mr. LIU Xiangdong 8/8 2/2
BFERE Mr. CHENG Zichuan 8/8 2/2
=B (2022F 6 A17 HEME) Mr. HUANG Shun (ceased on 4/4 11

June 17, 2022)

REFGSHHHE  KAAF

TME R EIFITE R
BRIEEEEEZBR °

BAREEERE RS
EERUDFANEBEIDRERZERN - RITES
PN 1 CE S I NCTE S

During the Board meetings, the senior management of the
Company provides the Directors with information on the business
activities and development of the Company in a timely manner.

The Executive Directors also frequently communicate with the
Non-executive Directors to obtain their views on the Company’s
business development and operations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In accordance with relevant PRC laws, regulations, the Articles of
Association and the corporate governance practice prescribed in
the Listing Rules, we have formed four board committees, namely
the Strategy Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Strategy Committee of our Company consists of three
Directors, including an executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG Jianguo, Mr. XU
Xiuxian and Mr. WANG Ran. Mr. WANG Jianguo serves as the
chairman of the committee. The primary duties of the Strategy
Committee of our Company include (but are not limited to):

1. studying and regularly advising on our business objectives
and medium- to long-term development strategy in
accordance with operation and the changes in the market;

2. reviewing annual business plans and any material change
or adjustment in implementation and advise the Board
accordingly;

3. regularly assessing and inspecting the implementation of

the above issues after they have been approved by the
Board and report to the Board; and

4. handling other matters required by laws, regulations, rules,
normative documents, regulatory rules of the jurisdictions
where the Shares of our Company are listed, the Articles of
Association or as authorised by the Board.
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RS BEZEeR/T82X02% - MT2%  During the Reporting Period, the Strategy Committee held 2
ZERWESELFEERER meetings. The following is the attendance of each member during

the Reporting Period:

FBEHEERE
SRERAHK
Attendance

in Person/Number

EEnR Name of Directors of Meetings Held
TEBLE (EF) Mr. WANG Jianguo (Chairman) 2/2
wEBRE Mr. XU Xiuxian 2/2
TH%HE (202211 A28 BE L) Mr. WANG Ran (appointed on November 28, 2022) 11
T#EA (2022F 11 A28 BEME) Mr. WANG Yi (ceased on November 28, 2022) 1/1
EtEES AUDIT COMMITTEE

RARMBHZEEH=-REFEN  BE -2
TEEMMEBBYIFRTES  ERLL 2@

The Audit Committee of our Company consists of three Directors,
including an executive Director and two independent non-
RAEERBEML LT - EEMZLETZEZEEH  executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG Ran, Mr. LIU Xiangdong
FE o ARABILZESGHNEEBRELIE(ETR  and Ms. YU Lixin. Ms. YU Lixin serves as the chairlady of the
) committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee of our
Company include (but are not limited to):

HIMNBEABBNRRETEFREERZ  ME
FeRLIIMBEARBUEAFEARARTE
TR RIS

BEARRRANEETFPIEIMNBER B
BN

RIBTIERE - shOMEPEFHE (BEERE
SR ) RESERFT RS HIERE - LTI
T

BERNRBHGETEER - BB - BF =R
W2 M TSR] - BEAR RS BEREK
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1. to review annually the performance of the external audit
firm, submit a summary of the audit work conducted by the
external audit firm during the year to the Board;

2. to communicate between the Company’s internal audit
department and external audit Firm;

3. to, on an as-needed basis, formulate and implement policy
on the provision of non-audit services by external audit firm
(including its affiliates);

4. to review the Company’s accounting policies, financial
position, financial reporting procedures and financial
controls; to review completeness, accuracy and fairness of
the financial statements, the quarterly (if any), interim and
annual reports and accounts of the Company and review
significant financial reporting opinions contained therein,
as well as the disclosure of the Company’s financial
information;
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to discuss with the external audit firm about issues and
areas of concern arising from the audit on half-year and
full-year accounts and any other matters that the external
audit firm may wish to discuss;

to examine the financial policies, internal audit system,
internal control system and risk management system of the
Company and provide opinions and recommendations for
improvements;

to establish relevant procedures and ensure the impartial
and independent investigation and resolution of the
matters;

to advise and ensure that the Board takes effective
remedial measures for the Company’s failure to comply
with the requirements of the Listing Rules regarding the
establishment of an audit committee;

to complete other tasks assigned by the Board; and

to discharge other duties imposed by the laws, regulations
and normative documents, regulatory bodies including
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong, as well as the Articles
of Association and the rules of procedures of the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings. The Audit Committee’s major work during the year 2022
includes the following:

reviewing the 2021 annual report, including the Corporate
Governance Report, the ESG Report, the Directors’ Report
and the financial statements, as well as the related results
announcement;

reviewing the 2022 interim report and interim results
announcement;

reviewing the revision of the cap on continuing connected
party transactions;

in relation to the external auditor, reviewing their plans,
reports and management letter, fees, involvement in non-
audit services, and their terms of engagement;
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reviewing the plans (including those for 2022), resources
and work of the Company’s internal auditors; and

reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, the system of internal controls in
operation, risk management system and associated
procedures within the Group.

The following is the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period:

HEHERE
BERERAIHE
Attendance

in Person/Number

EEnR Name of Directors of Meetings Held

M ELE Mr. LIU Xiangdong 4/4

B AL (X)) (2022F6 A17HET) Ms. YU Lixin (Chairlady) (appointed on 2/2
June 17, 2022)

FHEA (2022F 11 A28 BZE) Mr. WANG Ran (appointed on 0/0
November 28, 2022)

FESKLE (BIERF) (202256 417 BEME) Mr. HUANG Shun (former Chairman) 2/2
(ceased on June 17, 2022)

FEkk A (2022511 A28 BHEE) Mr. WANG Yi (ceased on November 28, 2022) 4/4

REZES NOMINATION COMMITTEE

ARABNREZETH=_REFENX  BFE—EH
TEEMMEBBUIIFRTES  EHELE BT
BEERZAREE - BFEEEEETZZE SR
THE -ARAREBZEGNIERERE (ETR
®)

1. MEARBMTES  SREEAEMBREBEZE
MEFTMEEEREER  ZRNERE
FBERRR : Xt - HEESURBEL
B

2. RELVEARNEZTARE RAEESRH
REBR HARNES(LERESR)RE
ANETEES RHES

The Nomination Committee of our Company consists of three
Directors, including an executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG Ran, Mr. CHENG
Zichuan, and Mr. LIU Xiangdong. Mr. CHENG Zichuan serves
as the chairman of the committee. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee of our Company include (but are not
limited to):

1.

to consider and draw up the criteria and procedures for
selecting Directors and senior management and make
recommendations thereon to the Board. Factors to be
considered include but are not limited to culture, education
background and experience of occupation;

to identify candidates for directorship and recommend
candidates to the Board, and exam the candidates running
for the positions of the directors of the Company (especially
the chairman of the Board) and make recommendations
thereon;
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to identify candidates for senior management, exam
the candidates running for the positions of the senior
management of the Company (especially the general
manager) and make recommendations thereon;

to review the independence of the independent
non-executive directors;

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
once a year and make recommendations to the Board
on any proposed change to the Board to implement the
Company’s strategies, and to assess the structure of the
committees under the Board, recommend members to the
relevant committees from the directors, and submit to the
Board for approval;

to establish the plan for reserving potential directors and
senior management and make updates from time to time;

to evaluate the performance of the directors and make
advice or recommendations on the replacement,
reappointment or succession of directors (including the
chairman and the CEQ) based on the evaluation results;

to formulate and (as appropriate) review and implement
the policy on Board diversity from time to time adopted
by the Board, and to review the progress on achieving
the objectives and make disclosure of the relevant policy
reviewed by the Committee or its summary in the annual
report of the Company; and

other matters required by relevant laws, administrative
regulations, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association and authorized by the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 3
meeting. The following is the attendance of each member during
the Reporting Period:

BREERE
SRERAH
Attendance

in Person/Number

EEnE Name of Directors of Meetings Held

BFERE(EF) Mr. CHENG Zichuan (Chairman) 3/3

R E Mr. LIU Xiangdong 3/3

T 5L (2022611 A28 HEE) Mr. WANG Ran (appointed on 1/1
November 28, 2022)

T4 (2022F 11 A28 HEE) Mr. WANG Yi (ceased on 2/2

November 28, 2022)

RERRF

ARBTRMRRBREERERF - ZBRATFERK
MEMFHHNREREF  RESTSRHABAAR
RIESREARZENIES - EFERS - BHAE
BRIRERCEER TRRESSNEEL  #
FEFINRGN  REEFEHERZ T -

REZEGREFGUIRBEFREA - FHHHE
BREACTAERNEHETENELRRE -
REZBGA2EHEERE BEXEELERE  EE
56408 B B g RIH O PRBE K 4 B~ AGE AR R R E
ETEREE REZERARZECENESK
BARNEEFeREIHERLEHRBBEEZS  #HE

BRERGIEREE - EEGAREEFER
REENRERE -

Nomination Procedures

The Company has also adopted procedures for nomination
and election of Directors. The policy sets out the criteria and
procedures for selection and performance evaluation and provides
guidance to the Board on the nomination and appointment
of Directors of the Company. The Board believes that a clear
selection process facilitates corporate governance, ensures
the continuity of Board, maintains the leadership of Board, and
enhances the efficiency and diversity of the Board.

Both the Nomination Committee and the Board can nominate
candidates for Directors. When evaluating the suitability of
recommended candidates and their potential contributions to the
Board, the Nomination Committee may refer to certain selection
criteria such as integrity, professional qualifications and skills,
achievements and experience in the Internet and technology
fields, commitment and related contributions. The Nomination
Committee shall report the evaluation results to the Board on the
appointment of suitable Director candidates and provide relevant
recommendations for the Board to make decisions and formulate
a general election plan. The Board shall bear the ultimate
responsibility for the selection and appointment of Directors.
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REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of our Company
consists of three Directors, including an executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. XU Xiuxian,
Mr. LIU Xiangdong, and Ms. YU Lixin. Mr. LIU Xiangdong serves
as the chairman of the committee. The primary duties of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of our Company include
(but are not limited to):

1. to formulate remuneration policy, make recommendations
to the Board and oversee the implementation in respect
of the overall remuneration policy and structure of the
directors and senior management of the Company
(including but not limited to the performance appraisal
criteria, procedures and key appraisal system, and major
incentive and penalty plans and systems, etc.) and setting
up formal and transparent procedures, based on the major
scope, responsibility and importance of the respective
positions of the directors and senior management and the
remuneration of the same position paid by comparable
companies;

2. to review and approve proposals on management’s
remuneration according to the corporate goals and
objectives developed by the Board;

3. to examine the performance of duties by the directors
and senior management of the Company, conduct annual
performance appraisals of them, and formulate annual
incentives schemes which shall be submitted to the Board
for approval and implementation;

4. to supervise the implementation of the remuneration system
of the Company;

5. to recommend to the Board the remuneration packages
offered to individual executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension and
compensation (including compensation paid for loss or
termination of office or appointment), and to recommend
to the Board concerning remuneration offered to
non-executive directors;
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to consult the chairman of the Board or the general
manager in respect to the compensation proposed for
other executive directors. The Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee shall seek independent professional opinions if
necessary;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to
executive directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that any directors or his/her associate(s),
as defined in the Listing Rules, shall not participate
in determining his/her own remuneration, and that the
remuneration of non-executive directors who are also
members of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
shall be determined by other members of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee;

to review incentives schemes and directors’ service
contracts;

to review and approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

other matters required by laws, regulations, department
rules, relevant regulatory rules of the securities regulatory
authorities and the stock exchanges in the place where
the Company’s securities are listed and authorized by the
Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee held 3 meetings. The Remuneration and Appraisal

Committee’s major work during the year 2022 includes the

following:
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reviewing and recommending to the Board in respect of
the remuneration policies and structure of the Company
to ensure that the Company’s remuneration packages are
competitive to recruit the best talents in the industry and to
retain key staff;

reviewing and recommending to the Board on the
remuneration packages for the directors;

assessing performance and, reviewing and approving
adjustments to the remuneration packages for the members
of the senior management team;

reviewing and approving compensation awards granted to
senior management team, recognising their contributions
to the Company and providing incentives for future
performances.

The following is the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period:

BREERE
BRERAH
Attendance

in Person/Number

EEpR Name of Directors of Meetings Held
BRFEBRE Mr. XU Xiuxian 3/3
BRI E (EFF) Mr. LIU Xiangdong (Chairman) 3/3
EEH AL (2022F6 F17HET) Ms. YU Lixin (appointed on June 17, 2022) 2/2
HESAE (202246 A17 HET) Mr. HUANG Shun (ceased on June 17, 2022) 1/1
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors has established a risk management and
internal control system in accordance with the requirements of
the CG Code, and is responsible for independently reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control system, continuously monitoring and reviewing
the effectiveness of its operation at least once a year. The system
is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, promote effective and efficient
operations, provide reasonable assurance of financial reporting
reliability and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
and safeguard the Company’s assets. The Board of Directors can
only make reasonable but not absolute assurances that there will
be no material misrepresentation or loss.

Characteristics of risk management and internal control
organizational system

The Company has established a sound risk management and
internal control organizational system, including the Board of
Directors, the Audit Committee, the Board of Supervisors, the
Company’s management, financial management center, internal
control management center and other departments according to
the requirements of code provision D.2 of the CG Code, so as
to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources, employee
qualifications and experience, sufficient training courses and
relevant budget.

The Company has formulated risk management policies and
procedures, clarified the risk management structure and
responsibility permissions, established three lines of defense for
risk management and control, identified major risks that hinder the
realization of objectives, and controlled them within acceptable
levels to ensure the achievement of business objectives, the
improvement of operational efficiency, and the reliability of
financial reports and compliance with national regulations and
other compliance requirements.

First line of defense:

The first line of defense is mainly implemented by the Company’s
business departments, which are responsible for daily operations
and for designing and implementing control measures to address
risks.
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Second line of defense:

The second line of defense is mainly implemented by the
Company’s internal control management center,
management center, system operation department and other
departments with similar functions. This line of defense is
responsible for the formulation of policies related to operations,
finance, compliance and litigation, information security and
internal control of the Company, as well as planning and
implementing the construction of the overall risk control system.
To ensure the implementation of such systems, the second line
of defense also assists and supervises the first line of defense in
establishing and improving risk management and internal control
systems.

financial

Third line of defense:

The third line of defense mainly consists of the internal audit
team, the Audit Committee and the Board of Supervisors. The
Board of Directors shall assume the ultimate responsibility
for the establishment and improvement of the Company’s risk
management and internal control system and the implementation
of risk management, and shall serve as the highest
decision-making body for the risk management and internal
control of the Company.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out
in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board will review
the Company'’s corporate governance policies and practices, the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, compliance
with the Model Code and the Employee Written Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures
made in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board of Directors has reviewed the risk management and
internal monitoring during the Reporting Period. The results of
the Company’s risk management and internal control during
the Reporting Period show that the Company does not have
any major risk monitoring errors, nor does it find any major
risk monitoring weaknesses. The Company is not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The Board considers that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries
are effective and adequate.
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The Company has put in place appropriate internal control
procedures and guidelines to avoid improper handling of inside
information which may constitute insider trading or breach of any
other statutory duty. At any time, access to inside information
is limited to the relevant personnel (i.e. the Directors, senior
management and relevant employees of the Company) and as the
situation requires until it is disclosed or released in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Directors, senior
management and relevant employees of the Company who are in
possession of potential inside information and/or inside information
are required to take reasonable steps to ensure that adequate
safeguards are in place to ensure the strict confidentiality of inside
information and that recipients understand their responsibility to
keep the information confidential.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2022.

The Board of Directors shall be responsible for presenting a clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
inside information and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The senior management
has provided to the Board such interpretations and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements and position,
which are submitted to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any event or circumstance of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The auditor’s statement of reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2022 are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor’'s remuneration for audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company during the year ended December 31,
2022 is set out below:

2B (AR TR
PR 7% %8 51 Service categories Amount (RMB’ 000)
Ei RS Audit services 7,100
JEEFTARTS (BYRE) Non-audit services (Note) 4,835
@t Total 11,935
fizE - Note:
HZE2022F12A31BIEFE - AEBEZGE N AFMZ  During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recognized
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auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services in respect of initial
public offering and environmental, social and governance service of
RMB4,835,000.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. TANG Min, the joint Company Secretary, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong
laws, the Company also engages Ms. AU Wai Ching from
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, which
is a corporate service provider, as one of its Joint Company
Secretaries to assist Ms. TANG Min to discharge her duties as
company secretary of the Company. The key contacts of Ms. AU
Wai Ching in our Company is Ms. TANG Min.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, Ms. TANG Min and Ms.
AU Wai Ching have participated in relevant professional trainings
for no less than 15 hours to comply with rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions.

The annual general meeting(s) of the Company provides
opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly with the
Directors. The Chairman of the Company, and the chairmen of
the Director Committees of the Company will attend the annual
general meeting(s) to answer Shareholders’ questions. Auditors
will also attend the annual general meeting(s) to answer questions
on the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’s reports, the accounting policies and auditors’
independence.

To promote effective communication and establish a two-way
relationship and communication between the Company
and its Shareholders, the Company adopts a Shareholders’
communication policy and maintains a website at (www.htd.
cn), where up-to-date information on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings.

During the Reporting Period, the Company actively expanded the
communication channels with investors, and maintained good
communication and interaction with investors through various
forms such as results briefings, operation tracking exchange
meetings, investor reception day and large-scale offline exchange
activities, brokerage strategy meetings, and analyst surveys. In
addition, the Company responded to investors’ questions in time
through the investor relationship mobile and email, and submitted
reasonable suggestions to the management.
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Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has established a shareholder communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ comments and concerns are
properly addressed. The Board shall regularly review the policy
on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.

As part of its regular review, the Board has reviewed the
shareholder communication policy for this year and is of the view
that they are effective and adequately implemented.

Shareholders’ Rights

According to the Articles of Association, the procedures for
Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting, to
make inquiries and to make suggestions at the general meeting
are as follows:

1) Convene an extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 10% of the Company’s Shares may sign one or several
written requests in the same format to request the Board
to convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class
general meeting, and clarify the topics of the meeting. The
Board shall, in accordance with the provisions of laws,
administrative laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
and the Articles of Association of the Company, provide
written feedback on whether or not to agree to hold an
extraordinary general meeting or a class general meeting
within 10 days after receiving the request.

If the Board agrees to convene an extraordinary general
meeting or a class general meeting, a notice of the meeting
shall be issued within 5 days after the resolution of the
Board is passed. Changes made to the original request in
the notice shall be approved by relevant Shareholders.
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If the Board does not agree to hold the extraordinary
general meeting or the class general meeting or fails to
give a reply within 10 days after receipt of the proposal,
Shareholder(s) severally or jointly holding no less than
10% Shares of the Company shall be entitled to propose
in writing to the Board of Supervisors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting or a class general meeting.

If the Board of Supervisors agrees to convene the
extraordinary general meeting or the class general
meeting, it shall serve a notice of such meeting within
5 days after receipt of the said request. In the event
of any change to the original proposal, the consent of
relevant Shareholder(s) shall be obtained. If the Board of
Supervisors fails to issue the notice for the Shareholders’
general meeting or the class general meeting within the
specified time, the Board of Supervisors shall be deemed
as failing to convene or preside the general meeting or
the class general meeting. The Shareholder(s) severally or
jointly holding no less than 10% Shares of the Company
for no less than 90 consecutive days may convene and
preside over such meeting on his or their own.

Make enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to make enquiries about the
Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the
Investor Relations Department of the Company by email
at ir@htd.cn. The Company will not handle verbal or
anonymous enquiries in general.

Make recommendations to the Shareholders’ general
meeting

Shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 3% of the Company's Shares may put forward an
interim proposal and submit it to the convener in writing
10 days before the Shareholders’ general meeting. The
convener shall issue a Supplementary notice of the
Shareholders’ general meeting within 2 days after receiving
the proposal, notify other Shareholders and submit the
interim proposal to the Shareholders’ general meeting for
approval.
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A written notice shall be given at least 21 days prior to the
convening of the annual general meeting, and at least 15
days prior to the convening of the extraordinary general
meeting. Where laws, regulations and the securities
regulatory authority of the place where the Company’s
stocks are listed provide otherwise, such provisions shall
prevail.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each matter at Shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each Shareholder meeting.

AMENDMENT OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

On June 17, 2022 and November 28, 2022, the Company
convened the 2021 annual general meeting and the 2022 first
extraordinary general meeting respectively, at which the amended
Articles of Association was considered and adopted, and took
effect commencing from June 17, 2022 and November 28, 2022.
For further details, please refer to the circulars of the Company
dated May 27, 2022 and November 11, 2022 and the poll results
announcements of the Company dated June 17, 2022 and
November 28, 2022.

The latest Articles of Association were published on the website of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on November 28, 2022.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.*
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited
liability)

OPINION

s2

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of [ ifiE
4% 3 B R A A Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.* (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (‘the Group”) set out on pages 117 to 268,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at December 31, 2022 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

For identification only.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.
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Recognition of revenue from merchandise sales

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on pages 163 to 164.

The Key Audit Matter

The principal activities of the Group are sales of a comprehensive
suite of merchandise in lower tier cities and rural areas in the PRC
and provision of intelligent business and marketing subscription
service, offering merchant solutions and rendering other various
related services.

The Group recognized revenue from merchandise sales of
RMB79,436 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Management evaluates the terms of individual contracts to
determine the Group’s performance obligations and appropriate
timing of revenue recognition.

Revenue from merchandise sales is recognized at the point in
time when the control of the merchandise has been transferred to
customers, being when the goods are delivered and accepted.

We identified the recognition of revenue from merchandise sales
as a key audit matter because revenue generated therefrom
accounts for the majority of the Group’s revenue and involves
large number of individual sales orders and because revenue
is one of the key performance indicators of the Group which
increases the risk of misstatement of the timing and amount of
revenue recognized by management to meet specific targets or
expectations.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue from
merchandise sales included the following:

° obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
management's key internal controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

° inspecting sales contracts, on a sample basis, to
understand the terms of the sales transactions including
the terms of delivery and acceptance, applicable rebate
and/or discount arrangements and any sales return
arrangements to assess if the Group’s revenue recognition
accounting policy was in accordance with the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

° comparing sales transactions recorded during the year,
on a sample basis, with invoices, sales contracts, and
customer acceptance records, where appropriate, to
assess whether the related revenue was recognized
in accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition
accounting policy;

° confirming, on a sample basis, the amount of sales
transactions for the year ended December 31, 2022 directly
with customers and inspecting underlying documentation
relating to reconciling differences between the transaction
amounts confirmed by customers and the Group's
accounting records;

° comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue
transactions recorded before and after the year end date
with the underlying sales contracts, customer acceptance
records and other relevant supporting documents
to determine whether the related revenue had been
recognized in the appropriate financial year; and

° inspecting manual adjustments to revenue during the
financial year which met specific risk-based criteria,
enquiring of management about the reasons for such
adjustments and comparing details of the adjustments with
relevant underlying documentation.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ting Yuen.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 28, 2023
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BZE2022F12 A31 B ILFE (AARKETIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214
2022 2021

M et AR¥T R ARBEFTT

Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
KA Revenue 4 80,354,775 65,763,174
L PNDZN Cost of revenue (77,857,929) (63,895,208)
ER Gross profit 2,496,846 1,867,966
H W A Other revenue 5(a) 45,089 55,843
H A W 5305 58 Other net gain 5(b) 172,099 136,629
TR Research and development costs (113,234) (78,547)
HE REHMAX Selling and marketing expenses (1,327,807) (864,241)
TR REML LR Administrative and other operating expenses (393,492) (388,661)
Z SN EMERFIERMERE Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 6(c) (216,381) (90,300)
REFE Profit from operations 663,120 638,689
BRI Finance income 6(a) 225,435 166,308
B 75 K AR Finance costs 6(a) (285,501) (879,292)
TSR AN 58 Net finance costs (60,066) (712,984)
JE(REE S NTEAE (BE)  Share of profits/(losses) of associates 15 76 (1,820)
BRELATFRIE,(BR) Profit/(loss) before taxation 6 603,130 (76,115)
P55 Income tax 7 (93,152) (100,934)
FEFNE(BE) Profit/(loss) for the year 509,978 (177,049)
TR AL : Attributable to:
NN B AR R Equity shareholders of the Company 287,245 (349,881)
eI M Non-controlling interests 222,733 172,832
FEMNE,(FHE) Profit/(loss) for the year 509,978 (177,049)
BREF (ER) Earnings/(loss) per share 10
EXAREE (ARE) Basic and diluted (RMB) 0.57 (0.69)

F126 268 BRI R ZEH HREM—35 The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial
statements.
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B ZE2022F12 A31 B ILFE (AARKEIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214F

2022 2021

M et ARBT T ARBEFT

Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000

FRAE,(EE) Profit/(loss) for the year 509,978 (177,049)

FREMZEmKE Other comprehensive income for the year - -

FREEBHERE Total comprehensive income for the year 509,978 (177,049)
BT AL : Attributable to:

RNl R Equity shareholders of the Company 287,245 (349,881)

FEPE IR 2 Non-controlling interests 222,733 172,832

FRE2EKZLEHE Total comprehensive income for the year 509,978 (177,049)

F126E268 BRI KA ST HKHARM—5D ©  The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial

statements.
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e g R R
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(AAREESIR)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214
2022 2021
k=3 AR®T T ARBT T
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
FREBEE Non-current assets
Y -~ BB R&E Property, plant and equipment 11 76,685 42 635
FAEEE Right-of-use assets 12 103,657 111,171
WEME Investment property 13 15,881 3,707
REE DT 2 RS Interests in associates 15 9,660 1,990
AR BEFEBEEE T A Financial assets at fair value through other 16 2,000 2,000
Hih 2P =M e mEE comprehensive income
UAREEFEBEZE A Financial assets at fair value through 17 547,987 -
EHERNEmEE profit or loss
EIRFH Pledged deposits 21(b) 820,000 1,150,000
EHER Time deposits 21(c) 320,000 865,000
RIEBIEEE Deferred tax assets 31(b) 95,331 68,690
1,991,201 2,245,193
REBEE Current assets
IAREEFEBEZE) A Financial assets at fair value through 17 2,329,220 2,705,757
EHBEENemEE profit or loss
FE Inventories 18 2,443,800 2.718,623
SR E N RN = Trade and bills receivables 19 3,127,285 2 652,767
FENRIE - Ze R Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 8,661,049 8,416,880
o Ath jE W 3RE
PR 47 5% Restricted deposits 21(a) 5,155 15,492
EIREFET Pledged deposits 21(b) 4,329,686 3,873,552
TE BT Time deposits 21(c) 1,845,981 -
ReEMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 22(a) 4,038,408 2,966,920
AIY B B I8 Taxation recoverable 31(a) 3,396 2,827

26,783,980 23,352,818

81262268 BHIM IR ZEF U HHmEN—E 5 - The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial
statements.
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e M BARR R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(AAR®FITR)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214
2022 2021
i AR¥T ARBETTT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
REAE Current liabilities
IRITERRHMER Bank loans and other borrowings 23 698,783 129,460
KEMERAFHERAAEAE  Loans from non-controlling 24 8,064 17,026
b shareholders of subsidiaries
HEBE Lease liabilities 25 42,621 40,421
AR BEFEREEEET A Financial liabilities at fair value through 26 89,381 -
EHBEEMNemasE profit or loss
B SRR RENEE Trade and bills payables 27 14,938,783 14,418,802
HuERIE R ERTE R Other payables and accruals 28 781,480 612,025
aXEaE Contract liabilities 29 2,725,225 2,937,060
AERFE Redeemable capital contributions 30 - 9,027,445
JERTRLIE Taxation payable 31(a) 57,461 48,819
19,341,798 27,231,058
REBEE (BF) FE Net current assets/(liabilities) 7,442,182 (3,878,240)
BWEERRBAER Total assets less current liabilities 9,433,383 (1,633,047)
FRBERE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 25 56,254 67,399
LU A Deferred income 32 17,000 17,000
73,254 84,399
BE (AfE) 38 NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 9,360,129 (1,717,446)

F126E 268 B MM B EY HEREN—3 D -

statements.

The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial
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e g R R
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(AAREESIR)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214
2022 2021
k=3 AR®T T ARBT T
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
EARRFE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
&N Share capital 34 562,570 508,658
(e Reserves 34 7,392,244 (3,584,116)
AQATERRREGRELZ Total equity/(deficit) attributable to equity 7,954,814 (3,075,458)
(B4 #%58 shareholders of the Company
FEIERR R Non-controlling interests 1,405,315 1,358,012
(B4R BE TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) 9,360,129 (1,717,446)
EEEDH2023F 3 A28 B KR T3 o Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on
March 28, 2023.

#®EE ) Xu Xiuxian )

) )

) )

o ) e ) Directors

HEE ) Zhao Liangsheng )

) )

) )

) )

F126 2268 B MM iR iZ S I REH —3H © The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial
statements.
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AEREaBER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE2022F12 A31 B IEFE AARKEIITR)
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

ARARERRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
el B/
it Bx  EARE  iERE ZithR ai  FEREE  (BUY)AB
PRC Non- Total
Share Capital ~ statutory  Accumulated controlling equity/
Note capital reserve reserve losses Total  interests (deficit)
AEETR ARETR ARETR  ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
R02E1818 Balance at January 1, 2022 508658 (2,101,931) - (1482185 (3075458) 1358012  (1717,446)
NNFREZE Changes in equity for 2022;
Eprakzes Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 287,245 287,245 222733 509,078
ERENAREERTLAE  Issue of ordinary shares by initial public offering,  34(c) 53912 1,770,231 - - 1,824143 - 1,824,143
R BARATFE net of issuance costs
FBUBETAENNE Reclassffication of redeemable capital 30 - 9119275 - - 9119275 - 9,119.275
BlEs contributions as equity
DRGE Appropriation of reserve 34(e) - - 6,145 (6,145) - - -
FERERTE Capital contribution from non-controlling interests - - - - - 34,593 34,593
YEEknhER Acquisition of non-controlling interests 34(d) - (204,146) - - (04,46)  (31,534)  (235,680)
Bt ) i Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries - - - - - (230) (230)
HENBLAER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries 22e) - - - - - (148,248)  (148,248)
Bl e Appropriation of dividends to non-controlling - - - - - (30,011)  (30,011)
PRRE shareholders of subsidiaries
WEEEENRRA Equity settled share-based transactions 39 - 3,755 - - 3,755 - 3,755
EWNRS
R02E12831BHEE  Balance at December 31, 2022 52570 BSSTI8E G145 (1.201085) 7954814 1405315 9,360,129
F126E 268 IR ZE T HHREN—E D ° The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial

statements.



—RoCEEH
Annual Report 2022

mEEnB X
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BZE2022512 A31 B ILFE (AARKFIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

RRREERREL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ke FER
g BE ATEE EERE ZiEE e Er  BusE
PRC Non-
Share Capital statutory ~ Accumulated controlling Total
Note capital reserve reserve losses Total interests deficit
ARETT  ARETR ARETT  ARETT ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2021 51 B1B MR Balance at January 1, 2021 508,608  (2,676,383) - (1,132,304)  (3,300,029) 1265538  (2,044,491)
NNFREZE Changes in equity for 2021:
EREENGES Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (349,881)  (349881) 172832 (177,049)
BUBETEENAE Reclassification of redeemable capital 30 - 935475 - - 935475 - 935475
ot 4o contributions as equity
FERERTE Capital contribution from non-contralling interests - - - - - 57,182 57,182
W RER Acquisition of non-controlling interests 34(0) - (360515) - - (360515)  (61582)  (422,007)
EEMB A AR Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries - - - - - 17114 17,114
HERBATER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries 22e) - - - - - (M%) (71,73)
HENBLAERD Disposal of interests in a subsidiary - (508) - - (508) 1828 1320
PEK IR without lass of control
ANEARFEERBRR Appropriation of dividends to non-controlling - - - - - (13,165)  (13,165)
PRRE share holders of subsidiaries
H2021 512831 B%4#  Balance at December 31, 2021 508658 (2101,931) - (1480,185) (3075458 1358012 (1717446)
F126E 268 B MM B ZEY HEIREN—3 D - The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial

statements.
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Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.

mERERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE2022F12 A31 B IEFE AARKEIITR)
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214F
2022 2021
M et AR¥T R ARBEFT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
R SEE Operating activities
KERMRHRS Cash generated from operations 22(b) 397,361 928,817
ERRIE Tax paid 31(a) (123,998) (113,808)
RETHMEBRSFH Net cash generated from operating activities 273,363 815,009
RETE Investing activities
IR BEWEE - BB MR E Payment for the acquisition of property, plant (54,945) (22,492)
and equipment
HEYE - HE&E Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 1,261 3,240
FRiS 518 and equipment
BEUAABEFEHBEEZS) Payment for purchases of financial assets (8,658,400) (23,313,959)
FFABEMERIEEMI  measured at fair value through profit or loss
HENAREBETEAR Proceeds from disposal of financial assets 8,638,169 21,814,968
BT ABENEREE measured at fair value through profit or loss
FTiS 38
RRE W EEFHE Net settlement of future contracts (182) -
HEMBARFTSHRIEFEE  Net proceeds from disposal of interests in 22(e) 101,933 34,734
subsidiaries
HERTE A R (REX Proceeds from disposal of interests in a = 1,320
eI ) FTiS FR0E subsidiary without loss of control
U BB BT B A RS MU FUFRE  Net receipts from acquisition of interests in 2 1,914
subsidiaries
HERE A RERAFTBSIE Proceeds from disposal of interests in associates - 2,000
Yo B B i X R R O 1SR Payment for acquisition of interests in associates (7,000) (610)
TE BRTE SR AE 0 Increase in time deposits (1,179,322) (175,000)
2 U FI B Interest received 118,915 118,376
RETEBFFAREFHE Net cash used in investing activities (1,039,569)  (1,535,509)

F126E 268 E MM iR ZET HIREH—3 D -

statements.

The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial
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mEHERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BZE2022F12 A31 B ILFE (AARKETIR)
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)

20224 20214F
2022 2021
M et AR¥T R ARBEFTT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
b E B Financing activities
ENEEHENEREL D Capital element of lease rental paid 22(c) (52,974) (70,655)
ENEEHSHMNEE D Interest element of lease rental paid 22(c) (4,624) (5,494)
FZIRITE R R HALE K Proceeds from new bank loans and other 22(c) 3,460,563 1,731,275
FR1S30R borrowings
ERBITERREMERK Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings  22(c) (2,899,324)  (1,807,462)
2RFE Interest paid 22(c) (188,912) (197,524)
REMBATIFEERMKE 2 New loans from non-controlling shareholders 22(c) 82,036 307,263
FIEER of subsidiaries
BEK B AR IEEREEF Repayment of loans from non-controlling 22(c) (84,905) (328,118)
shareholders of subsidiaries
iﬂﬂﬁgl\ﬁ WIS EFRE Net settlement of forward exchange contract 7,962 -
SRR T FIE 0 Increase in pledged deposits for banking (120,000) -
facilities
ARz 45 AR (D B ETE R Proceeds from equity settled share-based 7,151 -
R G508 transactions
eI R EE Capital contributions from non-controlling 34,593 57,182
interests
W IE A a2 MR Payment for acquisition of non-controlling (230,250) (305,549)
interests
BBAENXNAFABERTEER Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares by 34(c) 1,824,143 -
FRSRIE - BITRANFRE initial public offering, net of issuance costs
BlNENGE I ES Payment of dividends to non-controlling (14,382) (9,475)
IRATAR B shareholders of subsidiaries
RMEFBAE,(FTA) Net cash generated from/(used in) financing 1,821,077 (628,557)
REFH activities
ReRBELSEWEM Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 1,054,871 (1,349,057)
(RA) B8 equivalents
FONRERELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 22(a) 2,966,920 4,315,977
of the year
ExgEHTE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 16,617 -
FRESRBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the 22(a) 4,038,408 2,966,920

end of the year

F126E 268 B MM B ZEY EIREH—3 D - The notes on pages 126 to 268 form part of these financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREHEREBPIN - UARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 EXxER
EREBEBROAERIA([AAF])R
2010F 12 A6 A E ARIFE ([FE])
B BEREMEAR  EARRK2015F
MAIGHRTHESES ML - AQFH
BREERRNGIARNODBRAR « XAFA
HIHBE R 202252 A 1S ETBH AL H R
ERABERLET -

ANRIREMBAR (RBIASE]) FZRN
FREEESRERD  TRESEEERY
HETBAMRTS - IRMAREAFT ERREEM
EBEBRE - EEZME QR OE R
140

2 FESITEE
(a) ABHEHEEH

Z L IRR TR BB ERES
BHEEL ([ERMBHRESER )
wE BRVMBRELENBEERE
AEAEFES ([BERGHENES
& 1) M8 1 ) P S8 A M B B PR B 5 4R
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BEHEX - ARERANE 2GR
RETLWT o

BERe EAEEe B ZELE
IR G EER - UHIEAREE
W&t B B A IR BT 4R
A MiEE2(c)#H T AR REYFER
ZERIERT R MR F R BORE
MEPNER  EZSFEPRAEE
ERM BRI RRA IR S5 HE A
7

GENERAL INFORMATION

[EREMEMD AR AR Huitongda Network Co., Ltd., (the
“Company”) was established in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) on December 6, 2010 as a limited
liability company. Upon approval by the Company’s board
meeting held on November 16, 2015, the Company was
converted from a limited liability company into a joint stock
limited liability company. The Company’s H shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on February 18, 2022.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”)
are principally engaged in sales of a comprehensive suite
of merchandise in the PRC and provision of intelligent
business and marketing subscription service, offering
merchant solutions and rendering other various related
services. The information of the principal subsidiaries is set
out in Note 14.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) which
collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (the “IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to
IFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2022 comprise the Group and
the Group’s interests in associates.

Iltems included in these consolidated financial
statements of each entity in the Group are
measured using the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to the entity (“functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Company
is RMB. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB,
which is the presentation currency.

rounded to nearest thousands,

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except as set out in the accounting policies
hereunder.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

liabilities,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

()

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are set out in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments
to IFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

° Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

o Amendments to |AS 37, Provisions,
contingent liabilities and contingent assets:
Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a
contract

None of these developments had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and cash flows and any unrealized profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group
has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with Notes 2(p) or (r) depending on the
nature of the liability.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity
to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognized at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(f)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate (see Note 2(e)) or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(iii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal Group that is classified
as held for sale). Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for
any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The
cost of the investment includes purchase price,
other costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see Note 2(k)(iii)). At
each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the investees and any impairment losses
for the year are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group'’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method, together
with any other long-term interests that in substance
form part of the Group’'s net investment in the
associate after applying the ECL model to such
other long-term interests where applicable (see Note

2(k)(i)).

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the investee, except where unrealized losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former investee at the date when significant
influence is lost is recognized at fair value and
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(f)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt
and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries and associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognized/derecognized on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs
are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see Note 35(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.
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(CONTINUED)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

()

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is

held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(v)(ii)(c)).

- fair value through other

comprehensive income (FVOCI) -
recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective

it AHMbE2E is achieved by both the collection
(RAarEEFTERR of contractual cash flows and sale.
2H AHEMEEK Changes in fair value are recognized
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in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using
the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognized,
the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)

if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortized cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the

BEFEBEEZH investment (including interest) are
ABHIBE (UARARE recognized in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(9)

Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognized in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’'s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognized in profit or loss as other income
in accordance with the policy set out in Note

2(v)(ii)(b).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss
on remeasurement to fair value is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Investment property

Investment properties are buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
Note 2(j)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Any gain or loss arising from the retirement or
disposal of an investment property is recognized
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in Note

2(v)(ii)(a).

Transfers to investment properties shall be made
when there is a change in use, evidenced by end
of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-
occupied property to investment property. Since
the Group uses the cost model, transfers between
investment properties and owner-occupied
properties do not change the carrying amount of
the property transferred and they do not change
the cost of that properties for measurement or
disclosure purposes.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
investment property, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives.

fhEt A FH

Estimated useful life

B
Buildings

24%514F
24 — 51 years
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(M

Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets (see Note 2(j)), are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see Note 2(k)(iii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognized in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-

FTE line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

st A fE 5

Estimated useful life

BF Buildings 20%F

20 years

HEMFEERE Leasehold improvements K JE A B R A 5T A 58 AR A

(ABIEH B%E)

The shorter of the unexpired

term of lease and the

estimated useful lives

BFH&E Electronic equipment 3E10%F

3 - 10 years

RAL - BB RFDEZE Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3E104F

3 - 10 years

RE Motor vehicles 54F

5 years

FAEEE Right-of-use assets REHEA

Over the lease term
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(M

)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Construction in progress represents properties
under construction and machinery and equipment
pending installation and is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(iii)). Cost
comprises the purchase costs of the asset and the
related construction and installation costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use and depreciation will be
provided at the appropriate rates in accordance
with the depreciation polices specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

()

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease

component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalized are
recognized as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease
liability is initially recognized at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortized cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a
lease is capitalized is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
Notes 2(i) and 2(k)(iii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from the
right-of use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments
in debt securities carried at amortized cost
(see Notes 2(f)(i), 2(v)(ii)(c) and 2(k)(i)).
Any difference between the initial fair value
and the nominal value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognized the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

(1)

As a lessee (continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognized in accordance with Note

2(v)(ii)(a).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance
lease or as an operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease
to which the Group applies the exemption
described in Note 2(j)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.



2 FTESEEER (&)

(k) FEBEREERE

(1)

T ARIZEER
AEERILEHERATENS
REE (BEAS A EE
W BHREMBYEGIE %
FEER/WEBERRESMF
EXMMAHNRESREMS
BIURERAAEBEFERR
BHAARLMEE KRG E
(88 NEBEFNES
FEEER(RHMEERR)#
RE R -

Hipi AR EEFENEHRE
E - BREAAEBEFEAR
B A S BEEHBRAME
BRESREAR(BEMEAH
HEEAREMEE ST ER
BARFES (TAEE) - BA
EITEREEREEE

BEHMEEERNGE

EHEEEREREEEENE
KNG - EEBBRUMA
BEHREER (AIREANE
NAKENRSRERAREH
BB R SR E ZHNE
B MBREFE -

AR EEAN - RIFEHR S
ZRER R AIA T REER RALIR -

- BEMEEREE

B 5 N H b WA
NEANEE : W%
HEREEENERF
Ky HITLUE -

- FEREMEE  BA
BERFE -

—RoCEER
Annual Report 2022

B RS ¥R R Y

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BrZHIERI - UARKZT)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

()

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the
financial assets measured at amortized cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, and
trade and other receivables which are held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest) and debt securities measured
at FVOCI (recycling).

Other financial assets measured at fair
value, including equity and debt securities
measured at FVPL and equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling), are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation
thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.
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(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months

mEMNTEHEE IS after the reporting date; and
)

- ZHIFEHEEESE - lifetime ECLs: these are losses
EEHEEFEEER that are expected to result from all
HAIEE BT H possible default events over the
NFET BRI gEE 4 SE 1 expected lives of the items to which

Bz EHEE
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the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognizes a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring
on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a
default event occurs when (i) the debtor is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90
days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due
dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and
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2 FESBER (&) 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(k) GFEBEREERHEE) (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i) 2RI TAISEERS (&

BEHEREEENGE (B)

&

B AtE BT (&)

By - W5 KB

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)
- existing or forecast changes in the

FEREBRENRAHTE technological, market, economic
B2 EB AR or legal environment that have a
HUREEBEHEE significant adverse effect on the

NBEERTHFE

BYemIAMNEE
mE  EERRKE
3 b0 & ¥ A 75 12 {8 5
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7 BRI RARE
EETH G EBRIA
RIEHRE SRR
B (maRRREE
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debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

EHEEEER SR ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
EREEHE MU date to reflect changes in the financial
RtemITEGYH instrument’s credit risk since initial

HERARNEERR
2% RYEEER

recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognized as an impairment gain or

CEMEMEHHTIRN loss in profit or loss. The Group recognizes
B ERRBER an impairment gain or loss for all financial
mok e o ANEE instruments with a corresponding adjustment
P & mt T BRI to their carrying amount through a loss
Bl EE - WiE allowance account, except for investments in
BEERERE AR debt securities that are measured at FVOCI
[ERER i (recycling), for which the loss allowance is
mAnEEFERE recognized in other comprehensive income
BEAEMPER and accumulated in the fair value reserve
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(recycling).
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(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognized in accordance
with Note 2(v)(ii)(c) is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income
is calculated based on the amortized cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganization;

- significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(1)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
asset becomes five years past due or when
the Group determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognized as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. These contracts are initially
recognized at fair value in provisions.

The Group monitors the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract
and recognizes a provision when ECLs on
the financial guarantees are determined to
be higher than the carrying amount initially
recognized.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued (continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee.
A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk
that the specified debtor will default has
increased significantly since the guarantee
is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is
measured. The same definition of default and
the same assessment of significant increase
in credit risk as described in Note 2(k)(i)

apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that
it incurs less any amount that the Group
expects to receive from any other party. The
amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(iil)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired, an
impairment loss previously recognized no
longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

- right-of-use assets;

- investment property;

- interests in associates; and

- interests in associates and interests
in subsidiaries in the Company's

statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest Group of
assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (for example,
head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis or to
the smallest group of cash-generating
units if otherwise.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognized in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favorable
change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognized.
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(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with |IAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial
year (see Notes 2(k)(i) and (ii)).

) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out formula
and comprises all costs of purchase of goods after
deducting discounts from suppliers, and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognized as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognized.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realizable value and all losses of inventories are
recognized as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognized as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognized
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m)

(n)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue (see Note 2(v)
(i)). A contract liability would also be recognized
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognized (see Note

2(n)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain
a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs. Receivables are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses (see Note 2(k)
(i)). Receivables that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (recycling).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0)

(P)

(q)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for expected
credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 2(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade
and other payables are stated at amortized cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Capital contributions

The Company entered into a series of investment
agreements with certain independent investors,
pursuant to which, these investors agreed to make
cash investments to the Company to acquire the
equity interest of the Company (collectively referred
as "Pre-IPO Investments”).

Capital contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
are classified as financial liabilities or equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Capital contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
are classified as equity if they are non-
redeemable by the Company or redeemable only
at the Company’s option. Dividends on capital
contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
classified as equity are recognized as distributions
within equity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

r

(s)

Capital contributions (continued)

Capital contributions from the Pre-IPO Investments
are classified as financial liabilities if they are
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of
the shareholders (including options that are only
exercisable in case of triggering events having
occurred). The liability is recognized and measured
in accordance with the Group’s policy for interest-
bearing borrowings set out in Note 2(r) and
accordingly dividends thereon are recognized on
an accrual basis in profit or loss as part of finance
costs.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings
are stated at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognized in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 2(y)).

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in
which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Contributions to local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labor rules and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which the
Group’s subsidiaries located are recognized
as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

Share-based payments

The fair value of awarded shares granted to
employees is recognized as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value
of the awarded shares is measured at grant
date by reference to the valuer’s valuation of
the underlying shares. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the
awarded shares, the total estimated fair
value of the awarded shares is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the awarded shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of
awarded shares that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognized in prior
years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of awarded shares that vest (with
a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognized in
the capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognized in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

®)

Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when the Group recognizes restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognized
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilized, are recognized. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as
the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to Interests in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured
based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilized. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognized when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t) Income tax (continued)

in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realize the
current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realize and settle simultaneously.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

()

Provisions

When determining the amounts to be
recognized in respect of liabilities arising
from the provisions, management makes
the estimates based on prior experience
and default history (see Note 2(k)(ii)).
possible that the prior experience and default
history is not indicative of all the future loss.
Any increase or decrease in the provisions
would affect the profit or loss in future years.

It is

Provisions are also recognized when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the
time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)y Provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

(i)

Contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected to
be reimbursed by another party, a separate
asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognized for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognized when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer, or the lessee has the right to
use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognized under
that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not
adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period
of financing is 12 months or less.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

0 Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)

Revenue from commerce business

The Group directly sells and enables
merchants to sell their products to
transaction users through business-
to-business commerce platforms.
Revenue from commerce business
primarily comprised revenue from
merchandise sales and commission
income.

Revenue from merchandise sales
and related costs is recognized on a
gross basis when the Group acts as a
principal. Revenue from merchandise
sales is recognized at the point in time
when the control of the merchandise
has been delivered, being when the
goods are delivered and accepted.

Commission income is recognized
for transactions where the Group is
not the primary obligor, is not subject
to inventory risk and does not have
latitude in establishing prices and
selecting suppliers. Commission
income is recognized on a net basis
which is based on a fixed percentage
of the sales amount.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

0 Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Revenue from service business and
other services

The Group provides intelligent
business and marketing Software-as-
a-Service plus (“SaaS+") subscription
service to the merchants, offers
merchant solutions and renders other
various related services.

The Group offers SaaS+ products and
services to subscribing merchants.
Revenue of SaaS+ subscription
includes fixed subscription fees
and service fees for value-added
solutions under various modules,
such as online storefront build-up
and promotional activities. Revenue
of fixed subscription fees is generally
recognized over time on a ratable
basis over the contract term beginning
on the date that the service is made
available to the customer. Revenue of
service fees for value-added solutions
is recognized at the point in time when
the performance obligations for the
services performed are completed.

The Group earns revenue by offering
the merchant solutions and other
related services including various
value-added services to address
paying merchants or marketers’ online
and offline operation needs, including
marketing digitalization, targeted
advertisement and other relevant
services. Revenue of merchant
solutions and other related services
is generally recognized at the point
in time when the performance
obligations for the services performed
are completed.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other
income

(a)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under
operating leases is recognized in
profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from
the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognized
in profit or loss as an integral part of
the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognized as income in the
accounting period in which they are
earned.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted
investments is recognized when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment
is established.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other
income (continued)

(c) Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it
accrues under the effective interest
method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at
amortized cost or FVOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortized cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see Note 2(k)(i)).

(d) Government grants

Government grants are recognized
in the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognized
as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are recognized
as deferred income and subsequently
recognized in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset.



168 ERERRRDERAF

Huitongda Network Co., Ltd.

B RS R AR B EE

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREHEREBPIN - UARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 FESBER (&)

(w) BB

MEXABRERH T EREERA
BREEEESREZF RS AH
X o ERARELRHEER R
% o

(x) SEERE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)

(x)

(y)

Research and development costs

Research and development costs comprise all
expenses that are directly attributable to research
and development activities or that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to such activities. Research
and development costs are recognized as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the Company initially
recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was measured.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(2

Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are assessed to determine if they are business or
asset acquisitions. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group chooses to apply a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business
acquisition, when substantially all of the fair value
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed do not constitute a business, the overall
acquisition cost is allocated to the individual
identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An
exception is when the sum of the individual fair
values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
differs from the overall acquisition cost. In such
case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are
initially measured at an amount other than cost in
accordance with the Group’s policies are measured
accordingly, and the residual acquisition cost is
allocated to the remaining identifiable assets and
liabilities based on their relative fair values at the
date of acquisition.
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2 FESTECR (E) 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(aa) EBEHEA (aa) Related parties

(a)

B AT AL - BliZ At skiZ
AT ZREAREE G R

(i)

P2 il 3 2k A 4 I R R
ES

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) HAEEREEATE (i) has significant influence over the
7K Group; or

(i) AXEEIAEERE (iiiy  is a member of the key management
NAMEZEEEK personnel of the Group or the Group’s

it & TIMERMGE - BB
EAREEARE

(i)

(if)

(iii)

ZEREASEER

parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

The entity and the Group are members

— 5B ZKE AT (B of the same Group (which means that
EHAR - WERAA each parent, subsidiary and fellow
AEES NG subsidiary is related to the others).

BAERE) -

ZEREASEER

(if)

One entity is an associate or joint

—SEBEZHERF (B venture of the other entity (or an
EHAF - WERAA associate or joint venture of a member
AEES N NGRS of a Group of which the other entity is

BAERE) -

MEERE /R —F
=M ERE -

a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv), —HEBRE=FE (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a
BHWEELE W5 third entity and the other entity is an
—ERBAR%E=-FE associate of the third entity.
BEREE AR -

(v) EBEAXN ZEIN (v)  The entity is a post-employment

= E
SEEHEZERH
1’ B M a5 2 B B
BFIEHE -

benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(aa)

(bb)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

(continued)
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part,
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

provides key

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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AARKEZ5)

3  ErtHERMEE

(a)

(b)

ERASEEEABRNARS
#

REAREESHBRNBIET &
BECEHA TR S HIE

RHEBTHEBmAKA

EEAKERAKEFE LHERR
RESIERTEARKREAZRELH
ETREBPAREBEERISN - R
HAEEEEEIEARREAR - K
SEeEKXARERAEEES
TBREEITEN  REAXFER
B REARIREEER - £EEM
MEERENE  EER/EAEER
EmBRERFAINRGRZEBH L
ENZETEmmIESHE - Bt K%
EAHEEMOIEA - MABRKEA
RBBEAEZT -

fhET T E B R 1 RR

MizE16 - 17Rk26EHABABSRTA
NARBEGMENRELERRES
HER - Kt THEREZMNEE
RIREAT -

3

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
critical accounting judgement:

Revenue from merchandise sale from commerce
business

Determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the sales of goods
on the Group’s platform requires judgement
and consideration of all relevant facts and
circumstances. In evaluation of the Group acting
as a principal or an agent, the Group considers,
individually or in combination whether the Group
is primarily responsible for fulflment the contract,
is subject to the inventory risk, has discretion to
establish prices. Having considered the relevant
facts and circumstances, the directors consider
that the Group obtains control of those goods
sold in commerce business before the goods are
transferred to the customers. Accordingly, the
Group is acting as a principal for the merchandise
sales and the related revenue is presented on a
gross basis.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 16, 17 and 26 contain information about
the assumptions and their risk factors relating to
valuation of fair value of financial instruments. Other
significant sources of estimation uncertainty are as
follows:
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3  ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

(b)  Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

()

(i)

Inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs
of completion and selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. In addition, these estimates could
change significantly as a result of change in
customer preference and competitor actions
in response to industry cycles. Management
measures these estimates at each statement
of financial position date.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses

The Group estimates the amount of
loss allowance for ECLs on trade and
other receivables that are measured at
amortized cost based on the credit risk of
the respective financial instruments. The
loss allowance amount is measured as the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows with
the consideration of expected future credit
loss of the respective financial instrument.
The assessment of the credit risk of the
respective financial instrument involves high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When
the actual future cash flows are less than
expected or more than expected, a material
impairment loss or a material reversal of
impairment loss may arise, accordingly.
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4 WA R EB 2 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(@ WA (a) Revenue
AEBNETEEBARTREEE2M The principal activities of the Group are sales of
X WIRBEREmEREHPE a comprehensive suite of merchandise in the PRC
SaaS+aTBIMRT - REARBAF R and provision of intelligent business and marketing
RRHEMSERERY - BAAS SaaS+ subscription service, offering merchant
B EEBHE S FERME4(D) solutions and rendering other various related
HFE o services. Further details regarding the Group’s

principal activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i) WA 58 (i) Disaggregation of revenue
REZEBHEINEPEH Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
WADBIT - with customers by major business lines is as

follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

BB K| EXERE 155 Revenue from contracts with
HEARBEFEHN customers within the scope

A of IFRS 15

7 i 88 B FT S A Revenue from merchandise sales 79,436,247 65,222,853

RN Commission income 2,089 2,760

F9/ESaaS+5] HIFTSU A Revenue from SaaS+ subscription 533,590 278,405

PR BRTT RPATBIA Revenue from merchant solutions 261,246 159,409

HEMRISFAEBRA Revenue from other services 121,603 99,375
80,354,775 65,762,802

REHARRAKA Revenue from other sources

EAh Others — 372

= 372

80,354,775 65,763,174
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4 WARDEE2H (&) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(a) WA (#&) (a) Revenue (continued)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (continued)
RWAEREREDNEFE KA . .
N Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
DEREINAT . o
with customers by the timing of revenue
recognition is set out below:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ME—FEE A point in time 79,821,185 65,488,133
R — R A Over time 533,590 275,041
80,354,775 65,763,174
AR SR EARIRP 2L 2(v) () P B & =T The Group recognized its revenue from
REREFEHBA - contracts with customers in accordance with
accounting policy as set out in Note 2(v)(i).
ASENEFPERZ (L HE The Group’s customer base is diversified
2022F12A31AIEFE @ #i& and nil (2021: nil) of the customers with
(20214 : &) HEF MR HHBBA whom transactions have exceeded 10%
%”&)\W1O%°%§gﬁm%¢1ﬁ of the Group's revenues for the year
BRI F BRI E35(a) © ended December 31, 2022. Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from the
customers are set out in Note 35(a).
(ii) TR IR R BT A K B IR 2 (ii) Revenue expected to be recognized in the
ABIFER &P &

AEE D BERPBREERFE 155
F121BMAITREDEEANRESE
mIERL - Eit - AREEHRARK
FEE AR B A B B I 488 950 B X A £ [
ERTZEAH (FAMBRA—Fk
UMT)ETHHTEROBEHAEE
BHA -

future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15
to its sales contracts for goods such that
information about revenue expected to be
recognized in the future is not disclosed in
respect of revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under these
contracts that had an expected duration of
one year or less.
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AARKEZ5)

4 WA 7 EB28 (44)

(b)

DEBE2

REBREBGE DN D AEIERLE
% o AREBIZRERERD LKA
AfEAAREESRITREEZAER
MERER —BHHA - AT =
BRI 2D &P o WA GHEE 2D FF A
MRA T AT 28D & ©

RHEBOAETRZEBERHEERIR
HIRE RS - P EIBBERT
BRAXZMPHERERM XBEH
WAEZBHEHEERRBRARABE K
Ao

IRFEZFETE

RIEEB DT RERHEEEBER
2 35PIIE SaaS+a] BIRRTE R ARSI R
FRIRTTER ©

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organized by business lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’'s most senior
executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three
reportable segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

Commerce business

The commerce business segment, which mainly
includes direct sales and provision of marketplace
service that enables merchants to sell their products
to transacting users through the online platform.
Revenue from commerce business primarily
comprised revenue from merchandise sales and
commission income.

Service business

The service business segment, which mainly
represents the provision of intelligent business
and marketing SaaS+ subscription service and a
collection of merchant solutions.
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WARRARTIZEZE D&
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)
Others

Revenues from the others are primarily derived from
other services rendered by the Group.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group's senior
executive management monitors the results
attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Revenue and cost are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the
costs incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of
certain assets attributable to those segments.
The measure used for reporting segment
profit is gross profit.

There were no separate segment assets and
segment liabilities information provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management
as Group’s most senior executive
management does not use this information
to allocate resources to or evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s
most senior executive management for
the purpose of recourse allocated and
assessment of segment performance for the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is
set out below.
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4

AARKEZ5)

WARDHE2H (&) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(b) 2| E) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) DEbEE  EERBE (B (i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(continued)
20225
2022
RBEK PR3 Hith @t
Commerce Service
business business Others Total
ARETR AR%TnR ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
A2HEDHRA Reportable segment revenue 79,438,336 794,836 121,603 80,354,775
BER=ivilh Reportable segment profit 1,795,724 593,400 107,722 2,496,846
20214
2021
R5%EH R %S Hit FeE
Commerce Service
business business Others Total
ARETT ARETI ARETT AR®ETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BES- LN Reportable segment revenue 65,225,613 437,814 99,747 65,763,174
2R HBHE Reportable segment profit 1,498,255 286,952 82,759 1,867,966

B E2022F K2021F12 8
31 B 1k F E E | 82 Bk 7 A1 A
B (BE) HEERINES
Bm*k -

The reconciliation of gross profit to profit/
(loss) before tax for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 is shown in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss.
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4 WARDEE2H (&) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(b) SH2FH(E) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) EER (i) Geographic information
B PR B T 5 2RI B 8 SR AT IFRS 8, Operating Segments, requires
DERTEERRRBEEERE identification and disclosure of information
BHERHNER M wmE about an entity’s geographical areas,
A (AT EREE — regardless of the entity’s organization (i.e.
AI2W|HHEL) - REEP —1E even if the entity has a single reportable
IR B AL EER  REA segment). The Group operates within one
HEABWARPEES - M geographical location because all of its
HAGHFRBEERERMAE revenue was generated in the PRC and
B S REFRE - Bt all of its non-current assets and capital
WE SR E R - expenditure were located/incurred in

the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.

5 HA WA R H A W2 5 8 5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN
(a) HAbWwA (a) Other revenue

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BATH Government grants 42,429 55,175
Hit Others 2,660 668
45,089 55,843
HZE2002E12A31HILEE - & During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
EE I E SRR AR Group received unconditional government grants of
42‘429‘00077: (2021 ¢ . }\EM RMB42,429,000 (20212 RMBS5,175,000) as rewards
55,175,0007T) » £ /578 £ B S £ 1 of the Group’s contribution to technology innovation

BlE R B R B REE B e and regional economic development.

B o
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4 WAR D2 (&) 5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN
(CONTINUED)
(b) HtzxF5E (b)  Other net gain
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR EETE RS Net realized and unrealized gain on financial
AR HEENSREE assets at fair value through profit or loss
B B KRBT R WFE 151,219 136,663
HEH B AR 2 (E518), Net (loss)/gain on disposal of interests in
Wz 588 (H1at22(e)) subsidiaries (Note 22(e)) (54,251) 734
B A AR 2 s Net gain on disposal of interests in
FEE associates - 185
HEME - BEREEZ Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant
(F18), W= FE and equipment (70) 104
SNEU RS (B518) 558 Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 151,236 (2,397)
NAnBEFEAHES Net realized and unrealized loss on financial
FFAERHBERNERERE liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
WEBR R AEREEFE (81,601) -
H Others 5,566 1,340

172,099 136,629




—RoCEER
Annual Report 2022 181

B RS ¥R R Y

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

6 BRELAIRE,(B518) 6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
BERTFDE S (&E) Bk (GEA) AT Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/
KIF - (crediting):

(a) BIBRAFE (a) Net finance costs
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RITIF A BHA Interest income from bank deposits (225,435) (166,308)
B A Finance income (225,435) (166,308)

BRI MIRTTEFAFIE Interest expenses on discounted bills and

= (H1a222(c)) bank loans (Note 22(c)) 188,412 193,741
MIEARSEIER IR EFHA  Interest expenses on loans from non-

FBERXZ (Kit22(c)) controlling shareholders of subsidiaries

(Note 22(c)) 635 2,567

HEABMNARX Interest expenses on lease liabilities

(HiaE22(c)) (Note 22(c)) 4,624 5,494
AEENTFEEAMF SR Interest expenses arising from redeemable

(B1at22(c)) capital contributions (Note 22(c)) 91,830 677,490
EATSRR Finance costs 285,501 879,292

B RS AN 3R Net finance costs 60,066 712,984
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AARKEZ5)

6 BRBLAIRIE (&18) (&)

(b)

6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
(CONTINUED)

ERE2ES (b)  Staff costs
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBET T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
e ITENMEMET Salaries, wages and other benefits 610,373 540,619
TE R SRR IRET S 3R Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 34,456 34,117
RS E ARG, BEMA Equity settled share-based payment
A (K71:£33) expenses (Note 33) 3,755 -
648,584 574,736

AEETENELRNEERSER
HWITTHERTE R M E R E R UR
REHE) - AN B H)rh BIR 8 2 BRI
ATBRARENFHEEHSNET
Bt ER R BIHK - AR
BRERRAEMNEHRES - AREIE
NEHBERRTEARABERERE
ERRTRAABBENREEERN
At SR - AEEEERM
FORNEH B RN E LR XT3 - iz
R B AR AR B AR 5T &
T HOR YL 3K T & R

B £l RN - 7N 52 B 3 M L B 5%
AEIBRNERRREMNREE

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by
the local municipal government. The Group’'s PRC
subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated
on certain percentages of the average employee
salary as agreed by the local municipal government
to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees. The Group remits all the defined
contribution retirement scheme contributions to
the respective social security offices, which are
responsible for the payments and liabilities relating
to the defined contribution retirement scheme. The
Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as incurred and
not reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully
in the contributions.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with the
scheme beyond the contributions described above.
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6 BRELAIRE,(B518) () 6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
(CONTINUED)
(c) HftER (c) Other items
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ERAMIZMFEMA Cost of inventories recognized as
(K152 expenses (Note i) 77,452,662 63,509,813
TEZW Depreciation charge
—BEWME - BEKR - owned property, plant and equipment 18,154 20,763
—EREEE — right-of-use assets 50,844 59,402
— AW — investment property 212 194
TR (Hazii) Research and development costs (Note /i) 113,234 78,547
E 5 N H A fE UK IB = B /518 Provision for credit loss on trade and other
B receivables
— Z 5 R HEAMEYFRIETEHI{E - expected credit loss on trade and other
5EBE receivables 220,063 101,415
—FTASLRIE M 2 Bt — write-on of other receivables previously
JFE U R IE written off (3,682) (11,115)
BER L Decrease of provisions - (843)
TFEMOREE Provision for write-down of inventories 14,971 15,747
WX Listing expenses 16,178 25,650
ZEE B & Auditors’ remuneration
— Fat iR — audit services 7,100 5,000
— SEFEETARTS (A 5tiii) - non-audit services (Note iij) 4,835 7,080
HiEE - Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

ERANEHERR AT
SR -

MERARITEE TRARIT
ERXEBENEH 2528
TRat A XX E6(b) st & 1R
P BB ERRIRR AN -

HE2022F12 31 ILEFE
REEF RN AREE RIRE -
e BER RIS R IR R
HIZEEN NS A K% 4,835,000
7L (20214 AR#7,080,000
JL) + EFR ARE2,130,0007T
(20214 : AR¥5,027,0007T)
TVMAA F BB R R E TR
o

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses
includes provision for write-down of inventories.

Research and development costs include
amounts relating to staff costs and depreciation
expenses, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately
above or in Note 6(b) for each of these types of
expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2022,
the Group recognized auditors’ remuneration
for non-audit services in respect of initial
public offering and environmental, social and
governance service of RMB4,835,000 (2021:
RMB7,080,000), among which RMB2,130,000
(2021: RMB5,027,000) is also included in the
listing expenses disclosed separately above.
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7 HEEBRANFAEHR

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HRAERBRANBIRE : (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBET T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B HA i 18 Current tax
FNEAE Provision for the year 132,626 109,588
IEERIE Deferred tax
TR EE KR Origination and reversal of temporary
(H1£31(b)) differences (Note 31(b)) (39,474) (8,654)
REE g k] Total income tax expense 93,152 100,934
Bt - Note:

AR AR ER RGN B REM K
o AEBANARRMEAREA
1 25% KR ER RGN BB E IS
B TREMRBEI] ) - AT
M A RIBR SN

BIE (RN EERTERIE)
(ERIZE A [2016]3258) » AAQF]
BMEESMEMEEER - H20214F
FE2023FFX15%HFTEREER

[EREHRIE R AR AR EE
g EER - B2021F £20234F
ZZ15%MFTEREBRRE -

The Company and subsidiaries were all incorporated
in the PRC. The Company and subsidiaries within
the Group are subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax
(“CIT”) at statutory rate of 25%, except for the following
specified subsidiaries:

According to the Administrative Measures for
Determination of High-Tech Enterprises (Guokefahuo
[2016] No. 32), the Company obtained the qualification
as a high-tech enterprise and was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years from
2021 to 2023.

Huitone Datatech Smart Technology Co., Ltd. obtained
the qualification as a high-tech enterprise and was
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for the
years from 2021 to 2023.



REBBERANAEHR ()

(a)

mEBERRANBIRE  (F)

BIEPZEARLMENS B EERR
HHBN2019F1 F17 BB HE
Fi[2019]135% C B & se/ N EL TR 1
EEEMBRBEBERNAE)  F
FEMT TS EEE R AR 1,000,000
7t (& AR#1,000,0007T) #y/)NBUER
M AJER75%MEMT TS
CRER  BA20%NEREE
H2019F £20214F - FEMATFATE
ENTFARE1,000,000tE ARE
3,000,0007T (& AR¥3,000,000
TC) BN BRI 2 - A ER50%H)
MBS EETIER - BA20%M
FTSBifi K -

BEFRTBEBEEAREELBRDRN
2021 F 4 A2ABEMMCERE /)
MEEMEREIFHEPMESHERRK
FHRAE) (RE[2021]12%7) © A
2021 £ 2022%F » FREMBFTETE
KR ARM1,000,0007T (BARKE
1,000,0007T) B/ NEUBRFI 2 - AT Z
Z87.5%MEMBIFTSHERTESR
HEA20%MATSHFLE o
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7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (continued)

According to Caishui [2019] No. 13, “The
Announcement of Implementation on Inclusive
Tax Relief Policy of Small-scaled Minimal Profit
Enterprise” issued by Ministry of Finance of the
PRC and National Tax Bureau on January 17, 2019,
the small-scaled minimal profit enterprise with
an annual taxable income below RMB1,000,000
(RMB 1,000,000 inclusive) is entitled to a preferential
tax treatment of 75% exemption of taxable income
and application of income tax rate as 20%; the
small-scaled minimal profit enterprise with an
annual taxable income between RMB1,000,000 and
RMB3,000,000 (RMB3,000,000 inclusive) is entitled
to a preferential tax treatment of 50% exemption of
taxable income and application of income tax rate
as 20%, for the years from 2019 to 2021.

According to Announcement [2021] No. 12, “The
Announcement of Implementation of Income Tax
Incentives for Micro and Small Enterprises and
Individually-owned Businesses” issued by Ministry
of Finance of the PRC and National Tax Bureau
on April 2, 2021, the small-scaled minimal profit
enterprise with an annual taxable income below
RMB1,000,000 (RMB1,000,000 inclusive) is entitled
to a preferential tax treatment of 87.5% exemption of
taxable income and application of income tax rate
as 20% for the years from 2021 to 2022.
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7 HREBEBERANAEH (B

(a)

mEBERRANBIRE - (F)

BIEFPBETBBEERBEEERDR
2022F 3R 14 B EMBCERE—
BN EEMSHERBRRNA
EY(RE[2022]135%)  B2022FF
20245 - FRERMBAMSHEEARE
1,000,000 T & A R #3,000,0007T
(& AR#3,000,0007T) /)N HCF
¥ AIER75%MEMTFTSHER
BEE - EA20%HFAEHHIE -

R AR CR R R A E e 78 30K B 3 B
BB RE R B R P RE R B A0 (B R
[2011]5858% kA Fi[2020] 5 23
) RAPEAEIKIHRERS T
M AR R R 2021 EE2030FE %
EEMEHIMEIS% o

AEBFERENRSGEBFPHER
mAETHEBRARFA/NAMFICE
SFHHBECERSE  AEBRER
2022 K 2021%12 A31 8 It FE H
MEXBEEIMEHRES -

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (continued)

According to Announcement [2022] No. 13, “The
Announcement of Further Implementation of Income
Tax Incentives for Small-scaled Minimal Profit
Enterprise” issued by Ministry of Finance of the
PRC and National Tax Bureau on March 14, 2022,
the small-scaled minimal profit enterprise with an
annual taxable income between RMB1,000,000 and
RMB3,000,000 (RMB3,000,000 inclusive) is entitled
to a preferential tax treatment of 75% exemption of
taxable income and application of income tax rate
as 20% for the years from 2022 to 2024.

Pursuant to Caishui [2011] No0.58 and Caishui
[2020] No0.23 Notice on Tax Policies for Further
Implementation of Western Regions Development
Strategy, certain subsidiaries in the Group
established in the western regions of the PRC, and
are entitled to the preferential income tax rate of
15% from 2021 to 2030.

Certain subsidiaries in the Group which are
primarily engaged in merchandise sales in
commerce business meet the conditions as small-
scaled minimal profit enterprise or western regions
development enterprise were qualified for the
entitlement of such preferential tax treatment during
the years end December 31, 2022 and 2021.



—RoCEER
Annual Report 2022 187

B RS ¥R R Y

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

GEBERANMEH (&) 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

(b) ﬁﬁﬁﬁ i;ﬁ#&%ﬁﬁﬁ%%—r%ﬁZFﬁ (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and profit/
BLATRIE (BH) ¥k (loss) before taxation at applicable tax rates:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥TT ARBTTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BRERIFE S (E18) Profit/(loss) before taxation 603,130 (76,115)

BEATAIE (BB z%%  Notional tax on profit/(loss) before taxation,

BIE - RPEDEER X calculated using the PRC statutory tax

25%FT & rate of 25% 150,783 (19,029)
BENENZE Effect of preferential tax rate (85,441) (66,524)
AR A R IE & Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 2,457 2,360
FERMIBEBEORBTE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognized 9,155 9,994
REREREZEROHBTE  Tax effect of temporary differences not

recognized 3,259 6,410

T 2% AR AR TEAT HUR O B % Tax effect of bonus deduction for research

ma and development costs (10,018) (1,649)
AR EE LR Tax effect of interest expenses arising from

il Sz RO L 765 i 28 redeemable capital contributions 22,957 169,372

ERHIEHR Y Actual tax expense 93,152 100,934
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8 EEME

RIEFEAREHIEI8I(NERAR (KE
BEEFEER) ROFoBHENZE=HS N

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

T~ Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
e 28 B
EEHe  REUANG mMiERA HE 55
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme 2022
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
ARSI  AR%Tr AREBTR AR¥TR AR%TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BITES Executive directors
"Ag Xu Xiuxian - 1,922 862 42 2,826
itk Zhao Liangsheng - 1,218 597 42 1,857
FHTES Non-executive directors
TER Wang Jianguo - - - - -
TH(R2022F12F198%T)  Wang Jian (resigned on December 19, 2022) - - - - -
Tk (R2022F 11528 BE () Wang Yi (resigned on November 28, 2022) - - - - -
T (R2022511F28BEZ) Wang Ran (appointed on November 28, 2022) - - - - -
bk Cai Zhonggiu = - - - _
BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors
BB (7202286 A17B84)  Huang Shun (resigned on June 17, 2022) 60 - - - 60
REH (202056 717 FEZ() Yu Lixin (appointed on June 17, 2022) 70 - - - 70
B1E Cheng Zichuan 120 - - - 120
B Liu Xiangdong 120 - - - 120
£z Supervisors
THE Mao Yijun - 525 235 19 779
IHE Wang Xinghua - 523 169 19 71
E35 Li Wei = 757 330 42 1,129
370 4,945 2,193 164 7,672
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EEME (&) 8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
e 28 U
Ezhe  REDAE SN A 202158
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2021
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
ARETR  AREFTT  ARETRT  AR¥TR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HTES Executive directors
{153 Xu Xiuxian - 1,648 836 37 2,521
BRE(R021E5F10BEZT)  Zhao Liangsheng (appointed on May 10, 2021) - 1,009 584 37 1630
FHTES Non-executive directors
TEE Wang Jianguo - - - - -
IR Wang Jian - - - - -
TH(R01E5710BEZE)  Wang Yi (appointed on May 10, 2021) - - - - -
BH (R20215531BEZE)  Cai Zhongaiu (appointed on May 1, 2021) - - - - -
ZHE(R2021557108B) L Shaohua (resigned on May 10, 2021) - - - - -
BIR5 (M202155410RB)  Xu Jinrong (resigned on May 10, 2021) - - - - -
BIR (R2021F5 R 10BEHE) Bai Bo (resigned on May 10, 2021) - - - - -
BUkTES Independent non-executive directors
LR (B202155 1085 Ai Min (resigned on May 10, 2021) 50 - - - 50
EE Huang Shun 120 - - - 120
FEE(R2021F5510H8E)  Luo Dejun (resigned on May 10, 2021) 50 - - - 50
BTE(R202155F10BZZ)  Cheng Zichuan (appointed on May 10, 2021) 80 - - - 80
BAR (R2021F5710BEZE)  Liu Xiangdong (appointed on May 10, 2021) 80 - - - 80
gz Supervisors
TEF(R2021F58108%EZM)  Mao Yijun (appointed on May 10, 2021) - 532 200 13 745
THE Wang Xinghua - 500 175 13 688
SHEZ (R2021F57108F4)  YiSuning (resigned on May 10, 2021) - 172 - 12 184
R Li Wei - 682 383 37 1,102
380 4543 2,178 149 7,250

HZE2022F M2021F12A31BIEFE -
AEBBERNEERE ST RETEMRRK
B {EBRSIEMAREERMALEE %
KBS EARERERARERIMKERD
RIE5 A BRI WA AwEE -

HZE2022F 2021 F12A31AEFE - &~
DRI ERENEXRBERETMEHH -

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
no amounts were paid or payable by the Group to the
directors and supervisors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office
in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
each of the directors of the Company did not waive or
agreed to waive any remuneration.
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9 REHMAL 9

AEZEHFWALTHRSRIEME (20214
WE)BEENREA (20214 —F) BE
£ EFHAWESEE - 8 TATHB &

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2021: two) are directors and nil (2021: one) is supervisor
whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate

mEEMN of the emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals
are as follows:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®T T ARBT T

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Fe RUREYA S Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,399 2,016

BB TEAT Discretionary bonuses 968 983

RIRET IR Retirement scheme contributions 84 74

NS EE ARD BERNR S Equity settled share-based payments 2,563 -

8,014 3,073

=% (20214 : MA) &= FH A L 2 ZE
DRI FIATEHE :

The emoluments of the three (2021: two) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AE AE

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

1,500,001 8L ([BL)) & Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") 1,500,001 to 1 1
2,000,000/ 7T HK$2,000,000

2,000,001 7L E 2,500,000/ 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 1

4,500,001 & 7T & 5,000,000/ 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 -
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10 BRER (FHE) 10 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
(a) EBREAXERF (FE) (a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
HE2022F N 2021F12 A31 B ILF The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per
EOGRERRER (BR) HRE share during the years ended December 31, 2022
HE2022F N2021F12 A31HILF and 2021 is based on the profit/(loss) attributable
ERERELARERN (BE) mHEA to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company for
NEIEBESRREGERT (EE) the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) per share for
TE BERELARZF(BE)Mm the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 and
ST mRmINE TG ENT ¢ the weighted average number of ordinary shares

for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) per share
calculated as follows:

BERELFE - (FE)mE & Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity
RA BB RFEGFARF shareholders of Company for the purpose of basic
(E15) earnings/(loss) per share
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AREERERREGFR Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity

. . 287,245 349,881
FE(E8) shareholders of the Company ( )
A & [+ & fE e AR SR EAS Allocation of loss for the year attributable to
FANBEDE equity shareholders of redeemable 16,727 130,318
capital contributions
RERELFE, (&E) Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
MEAREIEBEERRKRE ordinary equity shareholders of the
i » yequy 303,972 (219,563)

EEFERNEF(EE) Company for the purpose of basic
earnings/(loss) per share
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10

BREFN (HE) (&)

(a)

BREAXER (FHE) (&)

RERELXEF - (BR)ME &

10 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (continued)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the

BIR B IIHEF 152 purpose of basic earnings/(loss) per share
2022F 20214
2022 2021
REHE BITERR Issued ordinary shares at the
beginning of the year 508,658,037 508,658,037

AR A BT ERBR Y
7

AR AR E R
ERBOYE

Effect of ordinary shares issued for
redeemable capital contributions
Effect of ordinary shares issued by
initial public offering 46,657,795

(24,417,248) (189,456,188)

HERELRF(EER)
& R FE R E B
A58

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
at the end of the year for the purpose of basic
earnings/(loss) per share 530,898,584

319,201,849




10 SRERN (BB (&)

(a)

(b)

BREXEF (HE) (FE)
FAEEFEHIT L BB EER
20224 K 2021412 A31 B E A &
B EEBRARR R IR MNETS
H(RHF30)  EA FEERE®
REARZEF(EE) sStEH R -

SREBERR (BE)

GREERT (BB HERARE
BTN AR INIE T 3980 - DR
BIEEBRE X AABERRE (10
MIEES0FTE % ) MR E & M IE R4 M
FHE o HE20224F ;2021512 A 31
BIEFE  AREEAERTEESER
AetmaE  EABELERK AR
REBHZE2022F £ 2021412 A31
BIEFEEERMN (FE)  BEE
BRI AAASREERF (EE)
HETES - LT HARESFTABES
REE o Filt - HZE2022%F k2021
F12A31ALFESREEHFEH
ARESBFRNTRERRT (EE)
IR
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10 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (continued)

Effect of ordinary shares issued for redeemable
capital contributions represent the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of the Company
associated with the redeemable capital contributions
(see Note 30) at December 31, 2022 and 2021,
which are subject to redemption and excluded
from the calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per
share.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume exercise of
redemption rights attributable to the investors of the
Pre-IPO Investments (as defined in Note 30). For
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
Company had the redeemable capital contributions
as financial liabilities which are potential ordinary
shares. The potential ordinary shares were excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per
share for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021 as their effect would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted earnings/(loss) per share for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are
the same as basic earnings/(loss) per share of the
respective years.
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11 Y% BERRE 11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
fA
il RER
S Btk WOERE RE  EEIE Eh
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Electronic  and office Motor Construction
Buildings improvements equipment equipment  vehicles i progress Total
ARETR ARBTR AR®Tr ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB’'000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
A Cost;
R021E1A1A At January 1, 2021 - 46,313 31,301 16,707 18,560 - 112,881
hE Additions 762 3,648 8,840 1,308 4585 3,149 22,49
YENBARER Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries - - 35 2 - - 62
£3 Trangfers - 3,079 - - - (3079) -
HE Disposals - (38) (3,723) (1432) (4,783) - (9,976)
LEMBRRRS (W26 Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Note 29/¢)) - (868)  (1,297) (461) (268) - (2894
H2021F12 3318202281 518 At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 762 52,334 35,156 16,149 18,094 70 122,565
HE Additions - 7540 4214 3,178 7,626 32,327 54,945
gz Transfers - 603 - - - (603) -
HE Disposals - (59)  (1767) (#11) (1,185 - (3422)
HENBATRR (HH26) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Note 22/e)) - (1008)  (1,009) (@21 (2,266) - (4.814)
120225124318 At December 31, 2022 762 59300 36564 18495 22260 31794 169274
ithE: Accumulated depreciation;
202151418 At January 1, 2021 - 31,894 19,628 6,146 10,128 - 67,796
ER Charge for the year - 7615 7,351 2214 3583 -8
HERER Written back on disposals - (3) (2492 (1048) (3262 - (6840)
HENBLAEE WH2k) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Vote 22/e)) - (466) (935) (270) (118) - (1,789)
2001512318 R202241A 18 At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 - 9005 23552 7042 10331 - 79930
Em Charge for the year 37 6,253 6,303 2,125 3,436 - 18,154
ERRD Written back on disposals - (59 (1,601) (45) (386) - (2,091)
EMBRRER (Hi22e) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Note 22(¢)) - (869)  (1,006) (208)  (1231) - (3404)
H2022%12 7318 At December 31, 2022 37 44330 27,248 8,824 12,150 - 92,589
BEFE Net book value:
20215128310 At December 31, 2021 762 13,329 11,604 9,107 7,763 70 42,635
R2022512831H At December 31, 2022 725 15,060 9,316 9,671 10,119 31,7% 76,685
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12 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group has obtained the right to use certain office and
warehouse properties through tenancy agreements during
the reporting period. The leases typically run for a period
of 1 to 10 years. The analysis of the net book value of right-
of-use assets by class of underlying asset is presented

below:
BEBRNYE
Properties
held for own use
AR®T T
RMB’ 000
M202141 818 At January 1, 2021 127,927
NE Additions 58,666
FEHNERE Depreciation charge for the year (59,402)
HEM B A R (fit22(e)) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Note 22(e)) (16,020)
72021412 A31H K% 202241A1H At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 111,171
nNE Additions 47,510
FEWNERE Depreciation charge for the year (50,844)
HEME A R (A it22(e)) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Note 22(e)) (4,180)
72022412 A31 8 At December 31, 2022 103,657

REBEERNESHBFAERSTAT

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognized in profit or loss is as follows:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®T T AREET T

RMB’ 000 RMB’'000

TREEENTERS Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 50,844 59,402
HEAERNE (Hit6(a)) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) 4,624 5,494
G ERMMNRX Expense relating to short-term leases 43,955 40,339

EEAERe Rt EE HEAGEIHAS
AR EARENEERKREANRES R
B D RIS M FE22(d) ~ 25 K35(b) °

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities and the future cash outflows arising from
leases that are not yet commenced are set out in Notes
22(d), 25 and 35(b), respectively.
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13 REYE 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
BF
Buildings
ARBTR
RMB’ 000
AN : Cost:
R2021F1H1H ~ 2021F12H31H & At January 1, 2021, December 31, 2021 and
20221 H1H January 1, 2022 4,036
PN Additions 12,386
R2022%12A31H At December 31, 2022 16,422
Rt E . Accumulated depreciation:
M2021F1A1H At January 1, 2021 135
FRZH Charge for the year 194
20211231 H %2022 151H At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 329
FRZH Charge for the year 212
R2022%12A31H At December 31, 2022 541
SRMENFE : Net book value:
R20214F12A31H At December 31, 2021 3,707
202212 A31H At December 31, 2022 15,881




13

BEWE (E)

MN2022%F 128310 WEMEN AR
BERBYE - FHEMLEEAARE
15,957,0007T (20214 : AR#¥3,769,000
JL) °

AEBEREVMEMNTE - AEEBREYE
MARBEFEIBERAABENENF=
o AABEDIRBEAEEE - EFWE
AR HEEMLNTSEHESRIREERILE
ESCE LR R i S R P S A Rk
SH2EYEFTHBEECNOE S AR
D EE b BB B RETRE - M5l
KNS2ESMTPERUNENHEERSME
WHRETF  WEAHBUARMEREED
TSRS URRAKERENENFER
Z -REMENERAZAERS MRER

SAN

R o

REFRELLHAEHBILEYWE - AEY
S EH1F - R2022F 12318 » EWE
FREEARE13,681,000 TEREHEE -
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(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

As at December 31, 2022, the fair value of investment
property is valued by an independent third-party valuer to
be RMB15,957,000 (2021: RMB3,769,000).

The Group’s investment property is located in the PRC. The
fair value measurement of the Group’s investment property
is categorized into Level 3 of fair value measurement.
The fair value was determined based on the income
approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units of
the properties are assessed and discounted at the market
yield expected by investors for this type of property. The
market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals
achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as
other lettings of similar properties in the neighborhood.
The market yield is determined by reference to the yields
derived from analyzing the sales transactions of similar
properties in the PRC and adjusted to take into account
the market expectation from property investors to reflect
factors specific to the Group’s investment property. The
current use of the investment property is their highest and
best use.

The Group leases out one of the investment properties
under operating lease. The lease runs for an initial period
of 1 year. As at December 31, 2022, investment property
with a carrying amount of RMB13,681,000 were temporarily
idle.



198 EEEAKRBERAR
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

R E E R
Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEEBAEN  UARBZ5))
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 REERFRNER 14 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains only the particulars of
LTHRNERSXEXNEREEES  BE subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets
HEEMNHNBRABIMNEE  BRR1TERSE or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is
SN - PR KRR R T AR o ordinary unless otherwise stated.
FrERER LA
BER Proportion of ownership interest

RIREEHY BRHEAHE REEH O HELR
Place of Particulars of ERER fiE fisE

establishment issued and Group’s Held Held
kL and paid-in effective by the bya ZEEB
Name of company business capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
EREHEHRERAT hE ARE 80% 80% - BARBREY 2 REGEBRRE
52,120,000 RUBHEBREHBANE
Huitone Datatech Smart Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB52,120,000 Provision of intelligent business
(ERERBEREARLT) and marketing solutions
through service offering
platform and other relevant
services
TEH-2HEERAR hE ARE 100% 100% - REERTOERHE
20,000,0007
Jiangsu Sanchuang Trading Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB20,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(TH=gHEERAR) commerce business
T2 TBBEHAERAR hE ARYE12,0000007 9% - 0% REFBAOERHE
Jiangsu Xinglihui Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB12,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(THEUEBEENRERLR) commerce business
FIEEEBENRERAA RE AR%10,0000007 100% 100% - RPEBTOEREE
Zhejiang Huabaihui Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(FIZEERBENRERAT) commerce business
TEHESERENRERAT e ARH10,000,0007 100% - 100% RBEHPHERES
Jiangsu Huiyiheng Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(THERERENRERAT) commerce business
MNEREFARAA hE ARYE10,0000007 60% 60% - REEBTOEREE
Hangzhou Huiyin Electronic Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in

(MMEEETERAR) commerce business



14

RE QA ER (&)

—RoCEEH
Annual Report 2022 199

P E R
Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEHERIN - UARBKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

frERRL LA
BER Proportion of ownership interest
RUREZHH BREARE  AEEY YN WEAR
Place of Particulars of ~ BIER fi&g fikE

establishment issued and Group’s Held Held
kL and paid-in effective by the bya ZEEB
Name of company business capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
PEERBENRERAR RE AR%20,0000007 65% 65% - RPEBTOBREE
Shanghai Danao Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB20,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(LBERAEREARL) commerce business
FREETERENAARAT RE - ARME10,0000007 60% - 80% REFRAOEREE
Beijing Huidechengda Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(FREEHEREREERAR) commerce business
BITERBEHAERAR hE ARE75000007 60% 60% - REEBTOEREE
Zhanjiang Huijia Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB7,500,000 Sales of merchandise in
(AITESREHEARLA) commerce business
IHERBANRERAR RE AR%10,0000007 100% 100% - RPEBTOEREE
Jiangsu Jishi Network Technology Co., Lid. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(IHERBEREERAR) commerce business
HEEBEAERRERAT e ARH10,000,0007 100% 100% - ROERAOBRHE
Hunan Huitongda Network Technology Co., Ltd The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(HEEREBENRARAT) commerce business
FIEEBANRERAR hE ARYE10,0000007 100% 100% - REEBTOEREE
Zhejiang Huixian Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(MIEEEERRER L) commerce business
RRERERRARLA hE ARE4,0000007 65% 65% - RPEBTOEREE
Tianjin Huirongda Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB4,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(REEREMRARAT) commerce business
THESERERRERAA B ARH10,000,0007 100% 100% - ROERAOBREE
Jiangsu Huibangbang Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(IHEEEZHENEERAH) commerce business
BERE (R2) HEARAR hE ARYE10,0000007 60% 60% - REEBTOEREE
Changhui TEDA (Tianjin) Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in

(RERE(X2)HRERAR)

commerce business
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14 RHEEBATRINER (&) 14 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
FeRR#HILA
BER Proportion of ownership interest

RIREEHY BHEAHE REEH | HELR
Place of Particulars of ERER fikE fi%E

establishment issued and Group’s Held Held
NAER and paid-in effective by the bya ZEEB
Name of company business capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activity
TELRBARNBERAA hE ARY10,0000007 100% 100% - RPEBOEREE
Jiangsu Jiangge Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(THEIRBEREERAR) commerce business
WREZRERRFNRERAT hE  ARI20,0000007 60% 60% - RAEBTHERHE
Shandong Huihuanong Ecological Agriculture Science and The PRC  RMB20,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
Technology Co., Ltd. (LREZRERRERA commerce business
BRAT)

B ERELBENRERAA hE ARYE15,0000007 60% 60% - RBEBPHERHE
Hubei Huitongsaipu Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB15,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(B ERELREREERAT) commerce business

SMTmEBOANEERAR hE ARYE22,0000007 60% 60% - REEBTAEREE
Quanzhou Guangsheng Network Technology Co., Lid. The PRC RMB22,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(FATEBRENRERAT) commerce business

laREEHRERAR hE ARH50000007 60% 60% - RPEBTOBREE
Hangzhou Pinchen Information Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB5,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(MM AEEEREARLR) commerce business
ERESLAARRERAT hE ARYE10,0000007 60% 60% - RAEBPNERHE
Jinan Huidafeng Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(ERERLRENRERAF) commerce business
BLEREHZERAT hE ARY15,0000007T 73% 78% - ROEBTAEREE
Hubei Huirongsheng Trading Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB15,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(ML EREERERAR) commerce business
FIERBANRERAR hE ARH20,0000007 51% 51% - RPEBTORREE
Zhejiang Huichao Network Technology Co., Lid. The PRC RMB20,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(MIERBEREAERLA) commerce business
LERE AR RERAT hE ARYE10,0000007 60% 60% - RBEBPHERHE
Shanghai Xunjida Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in

(LEREEEENARERAT) commerce business
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14 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

frERRL LA
BER Proportion of ownership interest
RUREZHH BREARE  AEEY YN WEAR
Place of Particulars of ~ BIER fi&g fikE

establishment issued and Group’s Held Held
kL and paid-in effective by the bya ZEEB
Name of company business capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
HIEEEBARRARLT RE AR%10,0000007 100% 100% - RPEBTOBREE
Zhejiang Huitongda Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(FIERERENRARDT) commerce business
TR -FRARRERAT hE AKH3,0000007 51% - 51%  REFRAOBRHE
Henan Qianyijia Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB3,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(TEH-FRENRERAT) commerce business
BRAERERGARLT hE ARYE10,0000007 100% 100% - REEBTOEREE
Fujian Huitongda Network Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(BRLEREAEERLR) commerce business
EFE (15) FaRR BB R AR RE AR%10,0000007 90% - 0% RAFHANEREE
Xingoicheng (Jiangsu) New Energy Technology Co., Lid. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(BRE(IH)FEEREERAR) commerce business
T&EESEERAT hE AR%10,0000007 70% 70% - REFHTOEREE
Jiangsu Dachuang Electric Appliance Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(THEEERERLA) commerce business
FRERRERENAARAT hE ARYE10,0000007 60% - 0% REFBIOERHE
Beijing Huidetongda Network Technology Co., Lid. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(tREEERRENEARLA) commerce business
HEENRBENRERRA RE AR%10,0000007 100% 100% - RPEBTOEREE
Shanghai Yikoutian Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(LEENBBENRARAT) commerce business
THITREERRARAT B ARH10,000,0007 %% - %% REFRANBRHE
Jiangsu Qianyun Intelligent Agriculture Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in

(IEFEESRRERAR)

commerce business
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14

R B AR NER (&) 14 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
FrERER LA
BRIR Proportion of ownership interest
RUREZHH BAERR AEEY YN HEAT
Place of Particulars of ERES fisE fi&H
establishment issued and Group’s Held Held
NAER and paid-in effective by the bya ZEEB
Name of company business capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
IHZERENEERAA hE ARY30,0000007 100% 100% - RPEBTOBREE
Jiangsu Yunchang Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB30,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(THEZEEARRER L) commerce business
ER-HREARAT hE AR%20,0000007 40% - 0% REFBINEREE
Chongaing Sanmeng Agriculture Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB20,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(EE=EREERAR) commerce business
IHERERRERRAA hE ARYE10,0000007 51% 51% - REEBTOEREE
Jiangsu Home Express Trading Co., Lid. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(THEFERHEERAT) commerce business
REARRBENRERAA hE ARY20,0000007 40% - 0% REEBIOBREE
Fujian Yishengtong Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB20,000,000 Sales of merchandise in
(BEZRBELNRERLD) commerce business
MIREEEERERAR RE  AR%10,0000007T 100% - 100% REFENOEREE
Zhejiang Haijuhui e-commerce Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB10,000,000 Sales of merchandise in

(MTERESTERERAA)

ZEBRRNPERINEREEAR -

NERERBR -

g %
BB EWE AT X - REIBEAER
£

HE2022F K2021F12A31BIEFE » &K
EEAEERESA B ARPFEER -
AEEWB AR RS EAIERAER -

These entities are limited liability companies established
in the PRC. The official names of these entities are in
Chinese. The English translation of the company names is

for identification purpose only.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
the Group’s non-controlling interests are diverse among
the subsidiaries. None of the Group’s subsidiaries has a

material non-controlling interest.

commerce business
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REE N E 2 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
TREV RN EENBE AR ZFE - ZFH The following list contains the particulars of associates
ERNTARFELTARERE  BUEMISH of the Group, all of which are unlisted corporate entities
& : whose quoted market price is not available:
frERERLA
#2022512531R
Proportion of ownership interest
HIR 2RIR as at December 31, 2022
EXNE  BEERER AEEN LY HEAT
Placeof Particulars of ERES fi&% fi&H
establishment issued and Group’s Held Held
NGRS and paid-in effective by the bya ZEEH
Name of associate business capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
BRRNERENIARAA (W) TE ARE 152000007 19% 19% - RRRXBTERRRRRETA
Nanjing Nongpaidang Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB15,200,000 Development of agricultural
(AREREEEMRARLE) Mot ) e-commerce and service offering
platforms
BRERBLESHEARAR W) hE ARH6,000,0007 20% - 0% BEANERRHS
Hainan Huitong Youcheng Information Technology Co., Ltd. (1§ The PRC  RMB6,000,000 Rendering human resource services
BEBERERHHBRLE) (Mo i)
BRTEEBERRERDE M) fE \EH3706,1287 30% - 0% REFERBRAGHE
Nanjing Shumei Network Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB3,706,128 Rendering technology services and
(ARTHEEENREBRDR) (Note fi) sales of merchandise
ARRRERSFERAA M) hE ARH29,0000007 20% - 2%  REER
Gonggingcheng Zhonghuida Electronics Co., Ltd. The PRC  RMB29,000,000 Investment holding
(EESPEESTERLA) Mote iv)
Htat - Notes:
(i) M2019F9 A « REB R R E i - (i) In September 2019, the Group entered into an

FiBTEARES5,100,000 TR ERE
REREREREERAR (ERAM
1) B51% A ERS - IR m R ARIE
KRAREBNHEAR - RERE2HE
(—HEIREREEE TS ERY
RETEMAIFAR) NEE  S4AE
BRSPS RRBELEENNS -

investment agreement to invest 51% equity interest in

Nanjing Nongpaidang Network Technology Co., Ltd.

(“Nanjing Nongpaidang”) through capital injection of
RMB5,100,000, upon which Nanjing Nongpaidang
became a subsidiary of the Group. The investment in

Nanjing Nongpaidang, an innovative company focusing

on development of agricultural e-commerce and service

offering platforms, enables the Group to have exposure

to market of agricultural production materials.
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15 REBERTzERE (&)

Hist - (%)

M2020565 R + AEBEE=FFT71H
#F Bt AEERELHEHERERE
HIEMN20% AR BeHEAA
R#1,600,0007C c A Z—HFE=
FiEBEE ARE6,000,000 kR
FERENI7 5% R AR - RALE
TERHERE=ZFTE%  AEENE
RERE BRI D EEE19% ' M
EAREBETHARNEEZHNB AR
WK AAREE ZBENR] - REARE
B AEEERZT—RESNAER
BHEESRS At AAREERA
REEHEREHEELEERATE
71 WERERAAEBEMNEE AR

(i) 2020511 A AEEFEBRITAAR
#2,000,000 T & S HEIEBERE LS
BHEBR A A1A)20% IR AN i 2w o

(i)  A2021F 118 AEEUTHELE
HABOEATMEENEZREER AR
([FAREE]) 53% MARME - % AR TIAR
SEzHMBAR - X BRERTRSE X
AmEE MEHERE  AEEHER
EREEELLE R AEETKEE
% AEERBERBEEZEELAIEE
EBEI0%  MEARBETHARNEERZ
MEBATE - HERARER B ERT -

(iv)  H2022F 118 - AEEZE:HE - [
ERBEEHFEESTHERAA20%
HINGHE - HZE2022F 12 A31H » A&
EE HE AR7,000,0007T °

LA PR A RS R RIS RS E N R A M
RAHE -

15

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes. (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

In May 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with
a third party, pursuant to which, the Group agreed to
dispose its 20% equity interest in Nanjing Nongpaidang
at a cash consideration of RMB1,600,000. Meanwhile,
another third party acquired 37.5% equity interest
in Nanjing Nongpaidang through capital injection of
RMB6,000,000. Upon the completion of the Group’s
disposal and capital injection from the third party, the
proportion of the Group’s equity interest in Nanjing
Nongpaidang has been diluted to 19% and Nanjing
Nongpaidang ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group
but became an associate of the Group. The Group
has a right to appoint one director to the board of
Nanjing Nongpaidang in accordance with the articles
of association, therefore the directors of the Company
are in the view that the Group can cast significant
influence on Nanjing Nongpaidang and consider it is
an associate of the Group.

In November 2020, the Group invested 20% of the
equity interest in Hainan Huitong Youcheng Information
Technology Co., Ltd. through capital injection of
RMB2,000,000.

In November 2021, the Group disposed 53% of the
subscribed equity interest in Nanjing Shumei Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Shumei”), which was
the Group's subsidiary principally engaged in rendering
technology services and sales of merchandise, at nil
consideration. As of the date of disposal, nil capital
contribution was made by the Group in Nanjing
Shumei. Upon the completion of the Group’s disposal,
the proportion of the Group’s equity interest in Nanjing
Shumei has been diluted to 30% and Nanjing Shumei
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group but became an
associate of the Group.

In November 2022, the Group entered into an
agreement and agreed to subscribe 20% of the equity
interest in Gonggingcheng Zhonghuida Electronics Co.,
Ltd. As at December 31, 2022, the Group has made
capital contribution of RMB7,000,000.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the

equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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REENR 2= (&) 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
REBEBRERBMENF ZEBERBE The Group assesses whether this is any objective evidence
B N FES 2 A ERMERE - BOK that its interest in the associates are impaired at the end
WENA RN - M5 - KBESERREZT of each reporting period by considering the associates’
FEs  REREARTFEHERTEEANETE business development process, any significant financial
BEERERBERRZESHIBERE - & difficulty, default or bankruptcy encountered by the
REMFE  AEERARSREHRLE associates and adverse change in technological, market,
ZHEREDNR  MRABEARGEGERRA economic or legal environment. Based on the assessment
RBE = AR AR EEE - above, the Group concluded that no impairment indicator

was identified at the end of each reporting period and no
impairment loss of interest in associates is considered
necessary to be recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

ERIZEEREE R RIMIERLER - Aggregate information of associates that are not
individually material:

2022 20214
2022 2021
AR%T T ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ERIFEE X E N FRES  Aggregate carrying amount of individually
&R IEE K E & R A immaterial associates in the consolidated
RERE financial statements 9,660 1,990
$’§IW1EZZTrH AT Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of
ke those associates’
—iriﬁi‘“A%?%?‘F'JfFﬂ /(B18)  Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 76 (1,820)
Hitv 2 E = Other comprehensive income = -
THEINEERE Total comprehensive income 76 (1,820)

LAARBESEEHESETT AEM2E 16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

HRENESREE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR¥TT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000

BEEUAREBEFTEEEEEHFT AHMm  Equity securities designated at FVOCI
2HEBBNRAES (TTEE) (non-recycling)
— RERIELMRAFS — Investment in unlisted equity security 2,000 2,000
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16 HURAAREESEEHESBFAHMEE 16
HYENERMEE (&)
JE LR E 75 Ty — M B RE A L B L

ABEBORAERD ZEBTERFEAEA
s/ RBH A E R

ZIS'E@H%%%ﬁi%%bii%u@mﬁ@ﬁéﬂﬁ

BEE AEMEERE (T EE) - REA
ZIE T ERE AR - NERESE - W&
PZIEEWEERIAR B (20214F « &)

THeBMEENRABAENESTRME
35(e) & -

17 UAREBEFEBEEZBHFTAZSHE 17

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

The unlisted equity security is equity interest of a private
entity incorporated in the PRC. This entity is principally
engaged in offering pawns services to individuals or small
and medium enterprises.

The Group designated its investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling), as the investment is held for strategic purposes.
No dividends were received on this investment during the
year (2021: nil).

The analysis on the fair value measurement of the above
financial asset is disclosed in Note 35(e).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

ENERMEE PROFIT OR LOSS
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T AREET T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
UAREBETEEESEHTAEH Financial assets at FVPL — non-current
BENEREE - FERBBS portion
—JELTMigE — Unlisted investments 312,460 -
— BRI - Structured deposits 235,527 -
UAREEFERHSHFTAES Financial assets at FVPL — current
BRNERNEE - RS portion
— ERMTERRIEME M — Structured deposits and wealth
management products 2,329,220 2,705,757

2,877,207 2,705,757

$E@LA®ﬁfﬁﬁu+zﬁﬁ*:"‘ FHAEHE
SN EREEIFREEHRIEEETBEMRIZN
RERARNKTERBTE -REREBET
METEEIBEBHERIETR - FFLET
BRERAEEAE-—FKEEEHTEMHE - &
ERHENRR  — RN FIRRR aﬂf%ﬁ
ERBRATRODNAUR —RUEHERE
MEEH DR E L o

The Group’s non-current balances of financial assets
at FVPL represent investments in private companies
established in the PRC and certain structured deposits
issued by a financial institution in the PRC with a floating
return. The unlisted investments are the Group’s interests
in a company engaged in the research and development,
manufacturing and sales of electric vehicles, a company
engaged in augmented reality and virtual reality solutions
and a company engaged in new energy battery business.
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UAABESEEESBHTAERHE 17  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
mHEmEE (8) PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
REBEBRINARBEFEEEZESHFTAE The Group’s current balances of financial assets at
HERNEREELABRTEZ RS REE FVPL mainly represent structured deposits and wealth
RAEETHAEE S EMNEEETFR R management products issued by various financial
BEEmR o institutions in the PRC with a floating return.
M20224F12A31H + AK#1,497,548,000 As at December 31, 2022, structured deposits and wealth
70 (20214« AR¥1,722,100,0007T) K45 management products of RMB1,497,548,000 (2021:
BUGEREEVERCRIFERBITENSE RMB1,722,100,000) were pledged as security for issuance
BHERD of bills payable.
FTHEeREENARBEAEDTRME The analysis on the fair value measurement of the above
35(e) = - financial assets is disclosed in Note 35(e).
rE 18 INVENTORIES
(a) HZEMBERRRANEFEESSRE: (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
7 A Merchandise 2,407,584 2,620,770
ERPEm Goods in transit 104,252 180,623
2,511,836 2,801,393
FE MO Write-down of inventories (68,036) (82,770)

2,443,800 2,718,623
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18 #EH (&) 18 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)
(b) BRABIUTABENTFEHRSE (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
oA recoghized as an expense and included in

profit or loss is as follows:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®T T ARETIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

EEFEMNREE Carrying amount of inventories sold 77,437,691 63,494,066
FERREE Provision for write-down of inventories 14,971 15,747

77,452,662 63,509,813

M2022F 128318 - AR As at December 31, 2022, inventories of
21,082,000 (20214 : AR# RMB21,082,000 (2021: RMB16,337,000) were
16,337,00070) WiFEE EFIERE pledged as security for issuance of bills payable.

TEREMERSD -

FrEEEEHR—FRKE - All inventories are expected to be recovered within
one year.

19 EBFERFEREKRERE 19 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B S EWGRIE Trade receivables 1,829,690 1,616,940
JE U ZE Bills receivable 1,359,856 1,081,519

3,189,546 2,698,459

B EEERE Less: loss allowance (62,261) (45,692)

3,127,285 2,652,767

FiEEZREUFERERZEEHR —FR All of the trade and bills receivables are expected to be
Y@ - recovered within one year.



19

B RBRWRARERREE (&)

EWREE T EREUERRTALRE - &
SEBENE B (—RBEDBHEHAE
128 7)) BRITWEREHEE - AEBBE
TEEREENEERE - AEETE@EH
ERESERWEE  IWEEESREMEN

FRIA

20226128318 AEBEEEESE
ETRAARLZRE  WR2EABREEL
BEHBHREMEMNGIE - AEEE R
PRITERZERBEE R EMHERR
18 o ZERIEHRBITALEBRNIBAAE
HERKREF LN+ @A - XRRFES
RE AEBECEEZSREMAENER
HoRBEER - WEBITEEMNEERRK
HEMEMF  MWETRITREREBALE
T AIARNSERIBAERE P E R RIER
RZERREENEEEAAENRRE
R AEERAZEEBENBRITRITAEGR
THWEBEEZ  BEITERITTIAITERE
R A B ZERE - 2022412 A 31
B WETRITRENIHRALERE - &
FENZANBBERAMERE SR ER (8
AEEREEERREMNHERORIEER)
ABARES01,717,0007T (20214F : AR
643,419,0007T) °

B TRBERAK B RES XBIR TS 5
- HpraEmeRHs Bk ke Rk
B R AEERESADEEEE -
W 2021F12 31 BT ERILERARE
148,000,0007T (20214 : AR# 1,904,000
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(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Bills receivable primarily represent short-term bank
acceptance notes receivable that entitle the Group to
receive the full face amount from the banks at maturity,
which generally ranges from 3 to 12 months from the date
of issuance. Historically, the Group had experienced no
credit losses on bills receivable. The Group from time to
time endorses bills receivable to suppliers in order to settle
trade and other payables.

As at December 31, 2022, the Group endorsed certain
bank acceptance bills to suppliers for settling trade and
other payables of the same amount on a full recourse
basis. The Group has derecognized these bills receivable
and payables to suppliers in their entirety. These
derecognized bank acceptance bills had a maturity date
of less than twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of these bills and has discharged its
obligation of the payables to its suppliers, and the Group
has limited exposure in respect of the settlement obligation
of these bills receivable under the relevant PRC rules and
regulations, should the issuing banks fail to settle the bills
on maturity date. The Group considered the issuing banks
of these bills are of good credit quality and non-settlement
of these bills by the issuing banks on maturity is not
probable. As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to loss and undiscounted cash outflow, which
is same as the amount payable by the Group to suppliers
in respect of the endorsed bills, should the issuing banks
fail to settle the bills on maturity date, amounted to
RMB801,717,000 (2021: RMB643,419,000).

Certain bills receivable were discounted to financial
institutions with recourse, where substantially the risks
and rewards of ownership had not been transferred. Since
the Group has continuing involvement in the transferred
assets, discounted bills receivable of RMB148,000,000
(2021: RMB1,904,000) were therefore not derecognized as
at December 31, 2022.
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19 EBEZRRFEREBURERS (&) 19
AR e 2 A

BERSHR  BFREFARERRER
ERAHRIRERBENRESTOT

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade and bills receivable, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2022 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T AREFIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

3f&8 AR Within 3 months 2,936,820 2,472,909
HBim3EAEEI2EAR Over 3 months but within 12 months 136,859 155,894
Bim121E A Over 12 months 53,606 23,964
3,127,285 2,652,767

B HRUGRIREEREHRE AL 0RRE
B AEAEEEERERE S RYGAE
EREERBRE —FIBRNMES5(a)

Trade receivables are generally due within 90 days from
the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set
out in Note 35(a).

20 FEMAEIE - BE R HEMEREIE 20 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

2022 20214

2022 2021

ARET T ARBFIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

TR 3RIE Prepayments 7,579,098 7,475,689

AT U B B FE Value added tax recoverable 152,724 151,778

R B E R R R I R Refund receivables from suppliers 201,842 293,739

I S NGIE /S Amounts due from former subsidiaries 536,955 344,139

JEULF B Interest receivables 202,770 96,250

Efbize R EWGIA Other deposits and receivables 281,129 212,566

8,954,518 8,574,161

T EIE R Less: loss allowance (293,469) (157,281)

8,661,049 8,416,880




—RoCEER
Annual Report 2022 211

B RS ¥R R Y

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FAMNFE - - BEREMEWRTIE(E) 20 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

TEFBE - FRREMNERTESER The amount of interest receivables expected to be
AR®53,795,0007t (20214F : AR recovered after more than one year is RMB53,795,000
67,857,0007T) + & #F B2 IE BN ERHR 3077 3 % (2021: RMB67,857,000), all of which relates to non-current
ERFREM - FIEHEMENRIE Zek pledged deposits and time deposits. All of the other
H fth & W R IE 8 BRI 5 — F AU Bl Sk i RR 5 prepayments, deposits and other receivables are expected
FX o to be recovered or recognized as expense within one year.
MR2022F12A31H BNREARE As at December 31, 2022, prepayments of RMB36,744,000
36,744,000 T (20214 : ARBZTIL) BIK (2021: RMB nil) were pledged as security for bank loans
PERRITER R AME RN ER R and other borrowings.

REERA - AEBETEMNKIE - e REM Movement in the loss allowance in respect of the Group’s
FEWRIBR EIEREZENT ¢ prepayments, deposits and other receivables during the

reporting period is as follows:

12f8A 2HREAEE 2HRARE

RHEERE FR-BEEHE FR-GEHE i

Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-

not credit- credit-
12-month ECL impaired impaired Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
R2021E 1818 As at January 1, 2021 1,200 45298 103,159 149,657
B EER Impairment losses recognized 1,508 22,489 49,179 73,176
EREREBHEEEE -EEEHE  Transfer to lifetime ECL-not credit-impaired (679) 679 - -
ERC2EBHEEFE-F8WE  Transfer to lifetime ECL-creditimpaired (5,184) 5,184 -
ik Write-off - - (59,083) (59,083)
LENBARER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (993) (1,302) (4,174) (6,469)
20215124318 k202241 A1H  As at December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 1,036 61,980 94,265 167,281
ERRAEER Impairment losses recognized 235 30,816 156,986 188,037
BRC2PRAEEHE -EEEHE  Transfer to lfetime ECL-not credit-mpaired (330) 330 - -
BRCPYREGESEE-EEHE  Transfer to lifetime ECL-creditimpaired - (14,828) 14,828 -
s Write-off - (1,648) (1,648)
HENBAAER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (25) (32,152) (18,024) (50,201)

R2022F12 4318 As at December 31, 2022 916 46,146 246,407 293,469
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21 RFEEFER BEHEERREHEFENXK 21 RESTRICTED DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS
AND TIME DEPOSITS

(a) REIFREE - (a) Restricted deposits comprise:
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBET T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
E AR HITE Other restricted deposits 5,155 15,492

(b) EREREHE: (b) Pledged deposits comprise:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BVERER &> Current portion 4,329,686 3,873,552
JERNERER Non-current portion 820,000 1,150,000

BTENERE - EREBRIEITER  Pledged deposits for issuance of bill

R RT3 payables, letters of guarantee and
bank loans 5,149,686 5,023,552
B FHEREEREENRE - # The pledged deposits will be released upon the
REERBITETIE R - settlement of the relevant bills payable, letters of

guarantee and repayment of relevant bank loans.
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21 [REIEFER EBEFERREHEFER(E) 21 RESTRICTED DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS
AND TIME DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

(c) EMEREE (¢) Time deposits comprise:
20225 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
BNHAER Current portion 1,845,981 -
JERNERER > Non-current portion 320,000 865,000
2,165,981 865,000

22 HBHERRLEEYURHMEREELMRE 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

=g CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) HReRBELEEYEE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTRE ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
IRITER Cash at bank 4,038,375 2,966,875
FERS Cash in hand 33 45

4,038,408 2,966,920
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22

HEeRBELZEYUARBEMIEEKRE 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

ﬁ*}l' (nlﬁ)
(b) BRBIAIAE () EKEMER

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation

SHHER to cash generated from operations
2022 20214
2022 2021
his AR®TTR ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BEAFE/ (B8) Profit/(loss) before taxation 603,130 (76,115)
HE Adjustments for:
il Depreciation 6(c) 69,210 80,359
Z2HREMERFEEERERE Provision for credit loss on trade and other
receivables 6(c) 220,063 101,415
SHASAIE M2 Eth s RoE Write-on of other receivables previously
written off 6(c) (3,682) (11,115)
HFEMREE Provision for write-down of inventories 6(c) 14,971 15,747
BRI AR Finance costs 6(a) 285,501 879,292
B A Finance income 6(a) (225,435) (166,308)
IMEYER Foreign exchange gain (129,908) -
NEREE RN RERN Equity settled share-based payment
DESE expenses 6(b) 3,755 -
HENE  BREREME2EE /(&)  Netloss/(gain) on disposal of property,
8 plant and equipment 5(b) 70 (104)

WA BEEBARHHAEHREN
EREECERRAERNEFH

WA BEEBERHHAEHREN
eRABECEARAERERER

HENBARERBR,/(KE) F8

Wﬂiﬁy%@n A’L'J /Eﬂﬁ

BEESEE:

FERD /(Em)

B 5 REMEIRFIEE
BHERED /(Em)
BIRARE  ERERBIENH
BREREN

Net realized and unrealized gains on

financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 5(b) (151,219) (136,663)
Net realized and unrealized loss on

financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 5(b) 81,601 -
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of interests

in subsidiaries 5(b) 54,251 (734)
Net gain on disposal of associates 5(b) - (185)
Share of (profits)/losses of associates 15 (76) 1,820

Changes in working capital:

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 26,223 (941,329)
Increase in trade and other receivables (1,429,619) (2,881,502)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits 10,337 (15,492)

Increase in pledged deposits for issuance
of bills payable, letters of guarantee

and bank loans (6,134) (386,648)

B9 RE NI Increase in trade and other payables 1,055,705 3,511,458
BRECRD)/%Em (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (81,383) 955,764
BERY Decrease in provisions - (843)
KEmBHS Cash generated from operations 397,361 928,817




22

RERREEEYUREMASRE 22

B8 (R

(c)

METHELNABYHEK

TRALAEERETHELNRE
g BRREMFREEY - - BE
APELNAELSE
ERENAEELZE

RBERDASRERENEE -

TMEBHAKRE
REemERDA
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated cash flow statements as
cash flows from financing activities.

REWEAH
RITEHR FERRR
EfhfER MER HEEE  AEEEE Eh)
Loans from
non-
Bank loans controlling Redeemable
and other  shareholders Lease capital
borrowings  of subsidiaries liabilities  contributions Total
ARETR AEETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
(fit23) (fitos)  (Hist25) (ffits0)
(Note 23) (Note24)  (Note 25) (Note 30)
R202%181A At January 1, 2022 129,460 17,026 107,820 9,027,445 9,281,751
HERENERD Changes from financing cash flows:
FEBTERREGEREETE  Proceeds from new bank loans and other borrowings 3,460,563 - - - 3460563
BERIETREMER Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings (2,899,324) - - - (2,899,324)
REMBATHERERL New loans from non-controlling shareholders of
THER subsidiaries - 82,036 - - 82,036
BEMBLAEARBEET.  Repayment of loans from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - (84,905) - - (84,905)
ENEERENELTH Capital element of lease rentals paid - - (52,974) - (52,974)
EREERSHNESH Interest element of lease rentals paid - - (4,624) - (4,624)
EiEERsNHEDS Interest peid (167,246) (1,666) - - (188912)
RERSTHEEDLAE Total changes from financing cash flows 373,993 (4,535) (57,598) - 311,860
EiJE Exchange adjustments 8,368 - - - 8,368
B2 Other changes:
ERUAHEERAE Increase in lease liabilities from entering info
afEM new leases during the year - - 47510 - 47,510
SR (Hiz6e) Interest expenses (Moie 6(3)) 188,412 635 4,624 91,830 285,501
HERBLARE (M222e)  Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Vote 22(6)) (1,450) (5,062) (3,481) - (9,993)
EETAEN T RARE Reclassification of redeemable capital contributions
as equily - - - (@192 (9,119275)
LT Total other changes 186,962 (@42 48y (9027445)  (8796257)
R2022£12A31A At December 31, 2022 698,783 8,064 98,875 - 805,722
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22
a8 (#)
(c)

RERREEEYURRMBRAESRE

METHELNEEYH R (H)

22

()

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (continued)

REHBAT
RAETR FERRR
Hitfest HEH fEefs  UEEEE e
Loans from
Bank loans  non-controlling Redeemable
and other  shareholders Lease capital
borrowings  of subsidiaries liabilities  contributions Total
ARETT ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(323) Wiz (hizs) (Wi30)
(Note 23) (Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 30)
R2021£1 518 At January 1, 2021 212,782 40,588 136,004 9,285,430 9,674,854
HERSRERD: Changes from financing cash flows:
FEBTETREAGERAETE  Proceeds from new bank loans and other borrowings 1731,275 - - - 1731275
EREEARAMER Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings (1,807,462) - - - (1807462)
REMBAAFERRR L New loans from non-controlling shareholders of
FEER subsidiaries - 307,263 - - 307,283
BEMBLAEZRKEST  Repayment of loans from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - (328,118) - - (328,118)
ENRERSNERSS Capital element of lease rentals paid - - (70,655) - (70,655)
ENEERHAETS Interest element of lease rentals paid - - (5,494) - (5,494)
BfiflE Interest paid (193,905) (3619) - - (197,524)
BERSHERDLE Total changes from financing cash flows (270,092) (24.474) (76,149) - (370715)
g5 Other changes:
ERTIHASERMERELM Increase i lease liabilities from entering into new
leases during the year - - 58,606 - 58,666
HERT (W) Interest expenses (Mot 6z)) 193741 2,567 5,494 677,490 879,292
HEMBREER (Hi#226))  Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Vore 22/e)) (6971) (1,655) (16,245) - (24.871)
EETAEN AR ARE Reclassification of redeemable capital contributions
as equity - - - (935,475) (935,475)
=0 bt Total other changes 186,770 912 47915 (257,985) (22,388)
20215128318 At December 31, 2021 129,460 17,026 107,820 9,027,445 9,281,751
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HEeRESZEEYWUREMEEKE 22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

B8 (&) CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d HERSAHREHAEEE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
REEHFAGEHERERNESEE Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow
FBATEIE - statement for leases comprise the following:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
KEREREN Within operating cash flows 43,955 40,339
BMEREREA Within financing cash flows 57,598 76,149
101,553 116,488
ZERFENTRIBEERM These amounts relate to the following:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBEFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ENHEERS Lease rentals paid 101,553 116,488
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22 BRERASFEYUARAMHRSRE

B8 (R
(e) HEMBAREZMSREREF
H

R2022F K 2021F 12 A31 HIEF
B AEEEEERE THB AR
o ZEMBAREERFEKESE
REFEBHOERIEE - BHEERZ
ZEHENBRAREASEMS BN
EKX

RHEMBRAR AL EZEHEZE

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

Net cash flow arising from disposal of
interests in subsidiaries

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, the Group disposed its interests in certain
subsidiaries, which were principally engaged in
the merchandise sales in commerce business in
the PRC. None of these disposed subsidiaries are
individually material to the Group.

Aggregate of assets and liabilities at the date of

EXEEERE disposal of the subsidiaries over which control was
lost:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
WME - BEREE (HiE11) Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 1,410 1,105
EREEE (Hi12) Right-of-use assets (Note 12) 4,180 16,020
BREBIREE (H1531(b) Deferred tax assets (Note 31(b)) 13,070 3,103
"E Inventories 233,629 457 542
RekB2EEY Cash and cash equivalents 24,416 44,141
B S RWGIE R ENRE Trade and bills receivables 127,497 62,637
B S REWGIE R EN RS Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 481,767 233,603
AR BEFEBEEZEHAEH Financial assets at fair value through
EamNepEE profit or loss - 3,827
AT EIREIE (H7231(a)) Taxation recoverable (Note 31(a)) 47 12
RITERREMIER (HF22(c)) Bank loans and other borrowings
(Note 22(c)) (1,450) (6,971)
B S REMNFIERENRE Trade and bills payables (94,939) (347,098)
HibERRUEREF &R Other payables and accruals (289,240) (121,138)
REMB A REERBRRNER Loans from non-controlling shareholders
(Hit22(c)) of subsidiaries (Note 22(c)) (5,062) (1,655)
ERAE H729) Contract liabilities (Note 29) (130,452) (163,011)
HEBE (Hit22(c)) Lease liabilities (Note 22(c)) (3,481) (16,245)
JERTIE (K7 31(a)) Taxation payable (Note 31(a)) (602) (60)
BIEREEE (H731(b)) Deferred tax liabilities (Note 31(b)) (237) (126)
FEERR Non-controlling interests (148,248) (71,735)
BHEEEFE Net assets disposed 212,305 93,951
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e) Net cash flow arising from disposal of
interests in subsidiaries (continued)

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of interests in subsidiaries:

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARBTT ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B Consideration 400,035 102,839
BEHEEERE Net assets disposed of (212,305) (93,951)
FARREKRE LERfBRRFIEZ Gross amounts due from former
2 subsidiaries disposed during
the year (241,981) (8,154)
HEMBARERN (B18),/ WaF8  Net (loss)/gain on disposal of interests
(B1e5(0)) in subsidiaries (Note 5(b)) (54,251) 734

AL ENBARER RS FES
HranT -

Analysis of net cash in respect of the disposal of
interests in subsidiaries is as follows:

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T T ARBEFTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

HHE Consideration 400,035 102,839
B EHEReMREEEY Less: cash and cash equivalents

disposed of (24,416) (44,141)

it Eai=b=ill Increase in consideration receivables (88,205) (15,810)

FARKE HERIHER A Effect of net amounts due from
Az B former subsidiaries disposed during
the year (185,481) (8,154)

P B A R R TS R F R

Net proceeds received for disposal of
interests in subsidiaries 101,933 34,734




220 EEEAKRBERAR
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

B RS ¥R R Y

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B =BHEBIN

AARKEZ5)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

23

RITERREMER 23 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

RBERR - AEEF BRITERNT BB

The maturity profile for the interest-bearing bank loans of

ST - the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBTTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
—FAFRIEERK Within 1 year or on demand 698,783 129,460

REREHR - RITER R EAE KA ER

At the end of each reporting period, the bank loans and

BRIAT other borrowings were secured as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

RITER R H MDA Bank loans and other borrowings

— B - secured 284,744 101,904
— I — unsecured 414,039 27,556
698,783 129,460
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MITERRHEAMER (F) 23 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Htat - Notes:
0) WITERRHEMERANERE TEE (i) The bank loans and other borrowings were secured by
B - ZEZEAENRMES W T : certain assets of the Group. An analysis of the carrying

value of these assets is as follows:
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T AREBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEWERIE (B15#19) Bills receivable (Note 19) 148,000 1,904
FEWER& (Mtat20) Prepayments (Note 20) 36,744 -
EIRTFR (M at21(b)) Pledged deposits (Note 21(b)) 120,000 -
(ii) MNo0224FE K 2021412 A31H « A& (ii) At December 31, 2022 and 2021, certain bank facilities
BT ERERNETRTREH A granted to the Group for bank loans were guaranteed
EEE-SARTTERLE AR by Mr. Wang Jianguo as the single largest shareholder
BEBBRATREBEBATITFS R4 of the Group, Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. and its
BELERERNDARATER - WHUT affiliate Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co., Ltd., and
EHEAEERARIEBRE®EAGRED TG were pledged with Mr. Wang Jianguo’s equity interest
REVEIR R o BREE TR 2022812 A31H in Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. Guarantees and
BRITER Y AN ERRIERSEER pledges issued by related parties for bank loans at
2023F3 821 BRI=2 &M - December 31, 2022 will be fully released by March 21,
2023 at the latest.

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FREEEE 5 B R R AR RITER Bank loans with guarantees and
pledges issued by related parties 394,278 100,000
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24 REMBARFERBRRERNER 24 LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RE M B R RFEERRENER Loans from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries 8,064 17,026

R2022F K 2021F 12531 H » kEHEBA
AIIEERBRRNEFRIZFFNENT4.35% 2
450%:H8 - BEKEREHRR —FRES
FIRBREE -

25 FHEEE 25
KSR - EEEHESaENT

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, loans from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries were subject to
an interest rate, ranging from 4.35% to 4.50% per annum,
were unsecured and expected to be settled within one year
or repayable on demand.

LEASE LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the lease liabilities were
repayable as follows:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR%T T ARBTIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

1R Within 1 year 42,621 40,421
1F&2FN After 1 year but within 2 years 25,131 27,832
2FBEEN After 2 years but within 5 years 20,552 25,699
5% 1% After 5 years 10,571 13,868
56,254 67,399

98,875 107,820
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UAAREEFTEEHEEHT AEZHEMN 26 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
EtRBeE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 F 20214

2022 2021

AR®T T ARBTIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

EARNES A Forward exchange contracts 89,324 -

KIREH Future contracts 57 -

89,381 -

AEBE—FBTATLENINERINES
B NEBETUETHENREZRRSSE
EBYVFMELANERRER BEERONEE
H o

ARl aEnNArBEFED NN
5E35(e) R HEE °

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward
exchange contracts with a bank to manage its currency
risk arising from certain cash and cash equivalents
denominated in HK$ until the settlement date of the
contracts.

The analysis on the fair value measurement of the above
financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 35(e).

ESEARERENERS 27 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR®ET T ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B o RNREMENRE Trade payables 1,131,314 1,588,378
FER R Bills payable 13,807,469 12,830,424
14,938,783 14,418,802




224 EEEAKRBERAR
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

B RS R AR B EE

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREHEREBPIN - UARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 EBIEZEAFREREMNRE (&) 27

BERSHR  AEKEERERAMNES
RS RIB R BN RENRE DT

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of the Group’s trade and bills payable, based on the
Group’s invoice date, is as follows:

2022 20214

2022 2021

ARET T ARBET T

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

3EAR Within 3 months 7,835,375 4,942,782
3E12{@A 3 to 12 months 7,023,841 9,362,080
HBiE1218 A Over 12 months 79,567 113,940
14,938,783 14,418,802

FBE S RENFARENZERBERER —F
NEBIILERKEE -

R2022F K 2021F 12 A31H - AEEphEE
TENEEMERNE TIRITHME R TER
SEERASENE —HAKRR) RFE
EEWERRRAFTMNHITES)  AEERSE
BAERAFLREBRB ARG FEREFEEER
ERMAERAT - WALTEEEER 2R
REEER A RMREREER - BEIRN
2022F 12 A1 A EN EHE L ENERE
EEF 2023 12 A 16 BRI ERHEH -

All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be
settled within one year or repayable on demand.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, certain bank facilities
granted to the Group for issuance of bills payable were
guaranteed by Mr. Wang Jianguo as the single largest
shareholder of the Group, Mr. Xu Xiuxian as the executive
director of the Company, Five Star Holdings Group Co.,
Ltd. and its affiliate Hosjoy Comfortable Smart Home Co.,
Ltd., and were pledged with Mr. Wang Jianguo's equity
interest in Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. Guarantees
and pledges issued by related parties for bills payable at
December 31, 2022 will be fully released by December 16,
2023 at the latest.

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
R 7 B R IR IR Bills payable with guarantees and pledges
ANES issued by related parties 6,991,021 5,998,851
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28 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
JEFT B2 Accrued expenses 213,260 198,001
BB TR AR ENRIE Payable for staff related costs 97,940 76,234
E bR Other taxes payable 157,026 88,522
B iz e Deposits received 61,752 21,967
FERT IR AR Logistics cost payables 26,269 41,168
JETRIM B A =) Z 08 Amounts due to former subsidiaries 30,611 27,631
FERTHT B AR B Dividends payable to shareholders of
subsidiaries 20,593 4,964
FEIHT B A RIRERE Payable for acquisition of non-controlling
interests 117,345 126,168
D REROREEEZ S Redemption obligation on equity settled
EEEK share-based transaction 10,424 -
A, Others 46,260 27,370
781,480 612,025

EFAAXTIEBRELHEIERMS - IRIFK

AREHMFE o

FrEHMEMNBEREFERBH{IN—F

NEBRILBREE -

Accrued expenses primarily comprise marketing and

promotion expenses, service costs and other expenses.

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be

settled within one year or repayable on demand.

BREE 29 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBET T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REFFEY 454 Balance at the beginning of the year 2,937,060 2,133,207
HRFEANBFIFAEHNAEED Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
R ABEENABERD recognizing revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (2,823,622) (2,032,806)
R FAREFEN KIBE WA L) Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
BEE M receiving advance payments during the
year 2,742,239 2,988,570
&S B A Rl Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries = 11,100
HEMNBARERERANAR Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
B (Biit22(e)) of disposal of interests in subsidiaries
(Note 22(e)) (130,452) (163,011)
R REV AR Balance at the end of the year 2,725,225 2,937,060
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30

AARKEZ5)

AREEEE
ARREETEIREET L — RZIKE W
& BREZEHS  RFREERERAR
AETRERE - NWEBARRRRE (518
[BRAFRBEERRE]) -

R2015%5F » ARAEETFREETVRE
e Bt ZEREEREREARE
500,000,0007T * AWEAR R B ZFK10%
fRHE(TARFIRE]) - BF - KARF#E—F
HETRERNLEERSE Bt 8E#&
B EHE ARES500,000,0007T @ LAWEEA
NEIERS.34% R ([A+RIIRE]) -

MR2016F + ARRHE—RIEEEFT LK
B Bt ZREBERELEAR
#300,000,0007C © AUWE AR R E R
4.41%HE ([BRIIKRE]) »

R2017%F - ARRIE—Z/EERLE
B Bt ZREBERELEAR
#500,000,0007T @ LAUKEE &N A& B Y
4.76%BHE([CRFIIKE]) »

R2018F » ARAIRARAETRE
REZFH-ZREEIUEEDGS &
I ZEEERBERAARRKREARE
2,500,000,0007T * WABBFHREEZFA
R#2 000,000,000 * AUWEEARRQFE B
20%ME ([DREFIEE]) -

R2020%F » ARAEEFREETVERE
WE o Bt ZEREEREREARE
1,200,000,0007C » AU A D E & EH
4.58% B HE(ERFIRE]) »

30

REDEEMABLE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Company entered into a series of investment
agreements with certain independent investors, pursuant to
which, these investors agreed to make cash investments to
the Company to acquire the equity interest of the Company
(collectively referred as “Pre-IPO Investments”).

In 2015, the Company entered into an investment
agreement with certain investors, pursuant to which, these
investors agreed to invest RMB500,000,000 to acquire
10% of the then equity interest of the Company (referred
as “Series A Investment”). In the same year, the Company
further entered into an investment agreement with certain
investors, pursuant to which the investors agreed to
invest RMB500,000,000 to acquire 8.34% of the then
equity interest of the Company (referred as “Series A+
Investment”).

In 2016, the Company entered into an investment
agreement with an investor, pursuant to which, the investor
agreed to invest RMB300,000,000 to acquire 4.41% of the
then equity interest of the Company (referred as “Series B
Investment”).

In 2017, the Company entered into an investment
agreement with an investor, pursuant to which, the investor
agreed to invest RMB500,000,000 to acquire 4.76% of the
then equity interest of the Company (referred as “Series C
Investment”).

In 2018, the Company and certain existing investors of the
Company entered into an investment agreement with an
investor, pursuant to which, the investor agreed to invest
RMB2,500,000,000 in the Company and pay the existing
investors RMB2,000,000,000 to acquire 20% of the then
equity interest of the Company (referred as “Series D
Investment”).

In 2020, the Company entered into an investment
agreement with certain investors, pursuant to which, these
investors agreed to invest RMB1,200,000,000 to acquire
4.58% of the then equity interest of the Company (referred
as “Series E Investment”).
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AEEEE (&)

MR2021F BRIRENKREE B ARAQF
2.72%RIEEETHEMNEREBE A+
R NRCRIIEEMNE TREERARA A
H339%BHEEZETERINIREMNERES
ARF|REMNITE BB AR RF0.08% M=
ETHENE=FBRERLE FERE
RAFBEERRENZFIREENRRRER
(BIEERE) RIBERRBE T T ERERNZ
FEFTKRELLE AL ATEBEEFEAR
#935,475,0007C (AR B EZEAHZEE
HEANRREEENSHRABENETE)
REE2021F12A31HIEFEEHTHES

BERARABENRENKREEZAEART
Hip gl RAARNBRERLREE - BX
NFAEEMREZREERIENETEES
BIRERIBEA AT -

e

RARNAZRTG] - A+ Z 5 R DREF|REZETT
KRR 1D FE B AR A 8] R AN A B B AR R 8 A
ETEHRHED  TZ2EHA: (WREEH
RA(BARYIRETE A2020F6 A30H
AT BEA+ R E M E A£2020F 12 A 31
HAl : BEDRF|IKXE M 5 /202254 A26H
Al WEETAEERDARAEE (i) ARAA
RARTERRREREDERIETTE
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REDEEMABLE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
(CONTINUED)

In 2021, the investor in Series B Investment transferred
2.72% of the equity interest of the Company to a limited
partnership in the PRC; certain investors in Series A+
and Series C Investments transferred an aggregate of
3.39% of the equity interest of the Company to an investor
in Series E Investment; and an investor in Series A
Investment transferred 0.08% of the equity interest of the
Company to a third party limited partnership in the PRC.
The special rights attributable to these investors of the
Pre-IPO Investments, including the redemption rights, are
not transferable pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement
and were terminated upon the completion of such
transfers. Accordingly, redeemable capital contributions
of RMB935,475,000, being the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities arising from these transferred equity
interest of the Company on the respective dates of
transfers, was reclassified as equity during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

The investors of the Pre-IPO Investments are entitled to the
same voting rights and dividend rights as other founding
shareholders of the Company. Certain key special rights
attributable to the investors of the Pre-IPO Investments are
summarized as follows:

Redemption rights

Shares issued by the Company in the Series A, Series
A+ and Series D Investments shall be redeemable by
the Company and the founding shareholders of the
Company upon the occurrence of certain events, with
the main conditions being: (i) a qualified public offering
does not occur within the stipulated time frame (before
June 30, 2020 for Series A Investments; December 31,
2020 for Series A+ Investments; April 26, 2022 for Series
D Investments) or (ii) any breach of contractual terms or
misconducts by the Company or the founding shareholders
of the Company.
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AARKEZ5)

AEEEE (&)

e (&)

RRBRBRIIEEBEITHRD EH AR T
RARNGEIMRRANEEE TEHRER -
FEEHAE ()P 2019F12 A31 HATIL &
ETABRAREE (VKRB BRI ITRA
REE (i) ARRIARRIBIMRRRER
EBRGERIETIETR -

ARBRCEINBREHZTHRMDEHARA
AR AR BCRR AR R RAR B8R
REREFMANERRITRATERER -

ARBFRERIIREHTHRMNEAA LA
RARBRIBBERNEES T EMHRED
I2HRMEA  (DERDIRETRIRAFAILE
HETEERRDMESE (VAR RHARFE
MR WHEMAEINERAFMEEMRE
HIREERER ER ¢ (i) AR EE T AR
RREEBAFMEE RERFIRETHIESF
(AEREHSE) FIHERERBEERARF
MR ¢ (V) ARBERERBERESE © (v)
ARRETARBRRAE A EEREBEX
REETCTEEEABSZOLET ¢ 3H(vi)
RRBHRAR A AP IR R A QR EE
TRETR -

BERARBENREFDETRONELOE
ENBRZINNRBEITEMZRELREITE
BF8%BHARNANESEBMECHREN
AN o
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REDEEMABLE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Redemption rights (continued)

Shares issued by the Company in the Series B Investments
shall be redeemable by the Company and the founding
shareholders of the Company upon the occurrence of
certain events, with the main conditions being: (i) a
qualified public offering does not occur before December
31, 2019; (ii) changes to the Company’s beneficial
controlling shareholder; or (iii) any breach of contractual
terms or misconducts by the Company or the founding
shareholders of the Company.

Shares issued by the Company in the Series C Investments
shall be redeemable by the Company and the founding
shareholders of the Company upon the occurrence of
any breach of contractual terms or misconducts by the
Company or the founding shareholders of the Company.

Shares issued by the Company in the Series E Investments
shall be redeemable by the Company and the founding
shareholders of the Company upon the occurrence of
certain events, with the main conditions being: (i) a
qualified public offering does not occur within 4 years
upon the completion of the Series E Investments; (ii) the
Company or the founding shareholders of the Company
has received the redemption requests from the investors of
other series of Pre-IPO Investments; (iii) certain founding
shareholders of the Company dispose or pledge their
shares of the Company prior to the earlier of a qualified
public offering and 5 years upon the completion of the
Series E Investments; (iv) changes to the Company's
beneficial controlling shareholder; (v) certain founding
shareholders of the Company resign or are unable to act
as the key management or core staff due to any subjective
reason; or (vi) any breach of contractual terms or
misconducts by the Company or the founding shareholders
of the Company.

The redemption price of the shares issued in the Pre-IPO
Investments shall equal to the aggregate of the original
issue price for the respective series plus an amount
accruing daily at 8% of the original preferred shares issue
price per annum minus all paid dividends.
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AEEEE (&)

BHELE

HARBETEIMEE (BIEREBE - ®
Br o BWESUER) - AR A AR IR AR
RERAHEENRENTEEFRELER
Bl R A A BRI EERBHBESH
DR - MEBEER TX0)R(INFHRS
%o

(i) BRI REITEINRRE EIRETT
BEEF8RNEBRRTEERAMAE
R B REA

(i) HERIKROREEBHN AT
18 e

R

WARBNEERARBEIZEREAE
EDERERARABENREZREE XN
EERIEMERA - AIREEBRERAR
AEIR R RATHERREEERZRD -
AR R E & S R S FERR AJE S R 48
BERMBITHERBAES

EH/RRDE

BEREAELCRAE HAURENSEN
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BEANSRABRNSRRBREIZER
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REDEEMABLE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Liquidation preference

In the event of any liquidation including deemed liquidation,
dissolution, bankruptcy or winding up of the Company, the
founding shareholders of the Company shall ensure that
the investors of the Pre-IPO Investments are entitled to
receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any
of the assets or surplus funds of the Company to founding
shareholders in order of priority, an amount equals to the
higher of (i) and (ii) below.

() the aggregate of the original issue price for the
respective series plus an amount accruing daily at
8% of the original preferred shares issue price per
annum minus all paid dividends;

(i) the fair market value of the relevant series of shares
on the date of liquidation.

Anti-dilution right

If the Company increases its share capital at a price
lower than the price paid by the investors of the Pre-IPO
Investments on a per share capital basis prior to a qualified
public offering, the investors have a right to require the
founding shareholders of the Company to transfer for nil
consideration to the investors, so that the total amount
paid by the investors divided by the total amount of share
capital obtained is equal to the price per share capital in
the new issuance.

Presentation and classification

The redemption obligations give rise to financial liabilities,
which are measured at the highest of those amounts that
could be payable, and on a present value basis. The
financial liabilities arising from the Pre-IPO Investments are
measured at the transaction price at initial recognition, and
subsequently at amortized cost at an effective interest rate
of 8%.
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30 WEREZXE (&) 30

E2REDE (&)

KANBHRN2022F2 A18AEH B A
REGMBRABIERLE™M - ARFHR L
Mg BEAAHEERIRERBNER
MBS MR & L - ATEEDEE AR
9,119,275,000 T EF D AR ©

IR E P At A T B BT B e B B IF R E R

MizE22(c) °

31 HEUBRARAWFAEH 31

(a) HEUMBRRRAWEBHIEE :

REDEEMABLE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Presentation and classification (continued)

On February 18, 2022, the Company’s H shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The special rights associated with the Pre-
IPO Investments were unconditionally terminated and the
redeemable capital contributions of RMB9,119,275,000
were reclassified as equity upon the listing of the
Company’s H shares.

The movements of redeemable capital contributions during
the reporting period are set out in Note 22(c).

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents:

20224 20214

2022 2021

ARET T ARBEFIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

REF] At the beginning of the year 45,992 50,260
FRFBICEMEHREE Provision for PRC Corporate Income

Tax for the year 132,626 109,588

[RENEEA Tax paid (123,998) (113,808)
BB A Rl = Disposal of interests in subsidiaries

(HizE22(e)) (Note 22(e)) (555) (48)

RER At the end of the year 54,065 45,992

# Represented by:
BEEEFA Taxation recoverable (3,396) (2,827)
FEA TR Taxation payable 57,461 48,819

54,065 45,992
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:

() The components of deferred tax assets
recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the movements during
the year are as follows:

tREEZ it
RAEE Tk AREE Er
EERE FEEE HEEE 28 BEWA  EiHEE 8 Eh
Fair value
Expected change of Other
creditloss  Inventory Deductible  financial ~ Deferred temporary
allowance  provision tax losses liabilities ~ income Provisions differences Total
ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARNTR ARETn ARKTR ARBTR ARETR
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
R202151 418 At January 1, 2021 37,981 8,406 11,103 - 2,550 126 5177 65,343
RERER Recognized in profit or loss (1,189) 2,593 3467 - - (126) 4,906 9,651
HENBLFAER (WiZ22)  Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Vote 2(6) (393)  (1,254)  (1456) - - - - (3109
YEHB LR Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries 7 - - - - - - 7
R021F12R31R R At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022
0251 1A 36,406 9,745 13,114 - 2,550 - 10,083 71,898
NERTER Recognized in profit or loss 30,729 (1,069) (957) 13,410 - - 3,726 45,839
HEWBLAER (H:H226)  Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (Vote 22(e) (4679)  (3675)  (4,840) - - - - (13,194)
2025127318 At December 31, 2022 62,456 5,001 7317 13410 2,550 - 13809 104,543
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31

REVBRRRANTES (F)

31 INCOME

TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)
(b) CRIEEHREEEREE: (H) (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:
(continued)
(i) RAFE - REREMERRE (i) The components of deferred tax liabilities

HEREEEN R B AKX D

recognized in the consolidated statement of

NEsmT financial position and the movements during
the year are as follows:
tREEY EREEEN
DMEREE FERX by
Fair value Depreciation
change of  charge of right-
financial assets of-use assets Total
ARET R ARET R ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
120211 /18 At January 1, 2021 1,174 1,163 2337
RERRER Recognized in profit o loss 875 122 997
LEMBLRAER (f#22e) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries
(Note 22(e)) - (126) (126)
#2021512 4318 k20225 At December 31, 2021 and January 1,
1RA18 2022 2,049 1,159 3,208
RERER Recognized in profit or loss 6,172 193 6,365
WEMB L AER (M#22(e) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries
(Note 22(e)) - (361) (361)
520205 124318 At December 31, 2022 8,201 %91 9,212
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:
(continued)

(iii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement
of financial position:

20224 20214F

2022 2021

AR®T T ARBEFTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ERERELEHIEEE Deferred tax assets recognized 104,543 71,898

ERRELEHERE Deferred tax liabilities recognized (9,212) (3,208)
RERE WS AR R HE R Y Net deferred tax asset recognized
REHIEE EFE in the consolidated statement of

financial position 95,331 68,690

REZIELEHIREE

RIRMFE2() PTE & 5T IR - 12022
F12A318 - AEEW L R
TH 18 AR #29,370,0007T (2021
£ AR#18,365,0007T) BRIE
EFRIBEE AR 248,640,0007T
(20214 : AR™198,297,0007T) °
MR2022F12A31H » AEE L&
PR EEEBEARS,540,0007T
(20214 : AR¥10,383,0007T) i
RIEE B A E AR 73,833,000
(20214 : AR#95,724,0007T) °
AT S E#E R BB T AAEE
R A AR T ) B AT R A S R 18 R B
F'sﬁ%%ﬁ ©

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2(t), the Group did not recognize deferred tax
assets of RMB29,370,000 (2021: RMB18,365,000) in
respect of cumulative tax losses RMB248,640,000
(2021: RMB198,297,000) as at December 31, 2022.
The Group did not recognize deferred tax assets of
RMB5,540,000 (2021: RMB10,383,000) in respect of
cumulative time differences RMB73,833,000 (2021:
RMB95,724,000) as at December 31, 2022. It was
not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses and time differences can be utilized
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entities.



234 EEEAKRBERAR
Huitongda Network Co., Lid.

B RS R AR B EE

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B = H I -
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

32

33

AARKEZ5)

A FE T A

R2022%12A318 @ AEBEELEUAIEE

RE W B G BT B AR % 17,000,000
7L (20214 : AR¥17,000,0007T) » AR

HERTEEENERE -

ELEWARmEAREEREE WA TR
SRR ERBWA -

LR AERIRELEERS
EERGDBEE ((EERMEEE))

M2022%F » AEBRMN—HEERNIBEST
g B RPBERYHEELE @
ERANEBERERE —RERAGEBABRLR
SEETAMK  LWREAEERENF IR
BERADNFINBAREBSEISEREBR
REl([ERRAR]) - REBRMHEE N
E2HEEVRBEEAEHMETRENSE
BESAEEBRDENRRE -

]]

EERNBEFSEE —ERBKSE - 24
ZAtENEREEABREERNNEEHN
WAL EARE N RFREAR - RILARER
BEETHAELENETBABARARA
REMNEAL -7 ERETIRSERA
BHETRENESER - BERNBEAIR
REBEHNAREE - BNEEEMRERE
WarBEZRENEZRE  EREBHADHE
YHMER P RSB TR -

PR B At ) X fo BE TR IR E =77 b (ERD

HRHEHRSEE -

HE2022F12A31HILFE LI 5
REEBEZRPHRBOIHEEAARE
3,755,0007T (20214 : ARMBZ L) -

32

33

DEFERRED INCOME

As at December 31, 2022, deferred income of the Group
represented unamortized conditional government grants
amounting to RMB17,000,000 (2021: RMB17,000,000),
for stimulating the development of strategic emerging
industries.

Deferred income is recognized as income upon the
satisfaction of certain acceptance standards of the Group'’s
business project.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTION
Employee Share Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)

In 2022, the Group adopted an ESPP, pursuant to which,
a partnership established in the PRC, of which the general
partner is one of the senior management and the limited
partners consisted of employees of the Group, invested in
Company’s subsidiary Huitone Datatech Smart Technology
Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company”) by way of acquiring
equity interests from the Group. All participants of the ESPP
have purchased equity interests in respective partnership
at amounts specified in the respective partnership
agreement.

The ESPP contains a service condition. Senior management
and employees participating in the plan have to transfer out
their equity interests if their employments with the Group
were terminated within the vesting period, to a person or a
party nominated by the general partner of the partnership
or by the Company at a price no higher than the amounts
specified in the respective partnership agreement. The fair
value of the ESPP at the grant date, being the difference
between the consideration and the fair value of the equity
interests subscribed shall be spread over the vesting
period and recognized as staff costs in the profit or loss.

The fair value of the equity interests subscribed was
measured by reference to the third party valuer’'s valuation
report.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the total expenses
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the above transactions are RMB3,755,000 (2021: RMB
nil).



34

BEX - RERKRE

(a)

EEHTHEE

—RoCEER
Annual Report 2022 235

B RS ¥R R Y

Notes to the Financial Statements

34

AEBFRAERSARBINFIIR

FREGOHEHR

BARNED

K o AR AHERI RO REFEIRF
R ERBBHFHINWT

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

Movement in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components
of equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:

it
Reserves
Bx EUIN ZithE Eh
Share Capital ~ Accumulated
KA The Company capital reserve losses Total
it ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R0A1F1B1BIER Balance at January 1, 2021 508,658 (2,294,935) (1,779,542) (3,565,819)
2021 FERED Changes in equity for 2021;
FERE Loss for the year - - (580,972) (580,972)
FUERIEE A BAER Reclassification of redeemable capital 30
contributions as equity - 935,475 - 935,475
R2021512 A31 B k2022 Balance at December 31, 2021 and
1R1BMER January 1, 2022 508,658 (1,359,460) (2,360,514) (3,211,316)
N0FRELY Changes in equity for 2022:
ERAE Profit for the year - - 61453 61453
BEEADHEERAMEAR - Issue of ordinary shares by initial public
EARETE offering, net of issuance costs 53912 1,770,231 - 1,824,143
KUBEIEENS R AR Reclassification of redeemable capital 30
contributions as equity - 9,119,275 - 9,119,275
2022512831 RS Balance at December 31, 2022 37 562,570 9,530,046 (2,299,061) 7,793,585
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34 EHX  RERKE (H)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) RE (b) Dividends
NATEER2022F & 2021F 124 The directors of the Company did not propose the
1AL EIW EEZIRNEMRKRE - payment of any dividend during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021.
(c) mEX (c)  Share capital
BB EE AR¥FR
Number of
shares RMB’000
ERTRAZEER Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
R2021F1A1H » 20214 At January 1, 2021, December 31,
124318 k202291 A1H 2021 and January 1, 2022 508,658,037 508,658
BBEHANREEETERR Issues of ordinary shares by initial
public offering 53,911,800 53,912
R2022%12A31H At December 31, 2022 562,569,837 562,570

At -

M2022%F2A18H » AARIBBEAA
REENTN - HEEEETR4L3.00%8
TR EE 3 1751,606,200 A% 1) ©
ZEBTBRBFEAEERARE
1,746,144,0007T (B HEHZEITR D
BEEAMBEITKAARES56,005,000
oT) » ERF AR®51,606,0000t M AR
#1,694,538,000 L9 Alat AR A &
RAFERE -

2022493 A16H ' IREHFHITHEERR
FEENHBEREE  ARRREEE
FR%43.0078 L EEINE % 2,305,600 A%
B o (TERBBREEMSNEINES
FEARE N AR 77,999,0007T (B K
HETROEZEEENEITHIARE
2,837,0007T) * Ef AR# 2,306,000
T M AR 75,693,0007T 5 Bl AR A
REBEARDTERE °

Note:

On February 18, 2022, the Company issued 51,606,200
shares at an offer price of HK$43.00 per share by way
of the initial public offering to investors. Net proceeds
from these issues amounted to RMB1,746,144,000
equivalent (after offsetting issuance costs directly
attributable to the issue of shares of RMB56,005,000),
out of which RMB51,606,000 and RMB1,694,538,000
were recorded in share capital and capital reserve
accounts, respectively.

On March 16, 2022, pursuant to the partial exercise of
the over-allotment option of the initial public offering,
the Company allotted and issued an additional
2,305,600 shares at the offer price of HK$43.00 per
share. The additional net proceeds from the exercise
of over-allotment option amounted to RMB77,999,000
equivalent (after offsetting issuance costs directly
attributable to the issue of shares of RMB2,837,000),
out of which RMB2,306,000 and RMB75,693,000 were
recorded in share capital and capital reserve accounts,
respectively.
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AEEEFTEANSE  (IHBE
B EEEHDEAESMELENSSE
K (iv) B BB BRI RE2(s) (i)
FTE S ERRRNE R LN ARRE
EHTENRAREEID °

RERE BN - AN S B R 48 B JE 1R AR A
HRBETHBAR (EERFEH
ERXGEBRHELIEE) OEINR
- W — IR MMERZENR B A A
MERE MASERBIZEGE -
W SR R G B £ 20224F 12
AB1BLEFEMEARTERLAR
#204,146,0007T (20214F : AR¥
360,515,0007T) + B[R FE4% A% i 2
TSR & HE BN B BT
SEIE IS AR E 2 M E%E ©
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34 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents: (i) the difference
between consideration received for ordinary shares
subscription net of any transaction costs directly
attributable to the subscription and the par value
of the ordinary shares subscribed; (ii) the amount
arises from the purchasing or disposing the
interests in subsidiaries from or to non-controlling
shareholders while the Group retains the control
of subsidiaries; (iii) the amount arises from the
reclassification of redeemable capital contributions
as equity and (iv) the portion of the grant date
fair value of unvested equity instruments granted
that has been recognized in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2(s)(ii).

During the reporting period, the Group acquired
additional equity interests in certain subsidiaries,
which were principally engaged in the merchandise
sales in commerce business in the PRC, from the
respective non-controlling interests and further
increased its ownership in these subsidiaries while
the Group retains the control. The acquisition of
non-controlling interests resulted in a decrease
in capital reserve of RMB204,146,000 (2021:
RMB360,515,000) for the year ended December
31, 2022, being the difference between the cash
consideration paid to non-controlling interests and
the carrying amount of non-controlling interests
acquired on the date of the acquisition.

PRC statutory reserve

Statutory reserve is established in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the
articles of association of the companies comprising
the Group which are incorporated in the PRC.
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CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(e)

()

PRC statutory reserve (continued)

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the
Company and its PRC subsidiaries are required to
allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory reserves
until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. The statutory reserves can be
used to make good previous years’ losses, if any,
and may be converted into capital in proportion to
the existing equity interests of investors, provided
that the balance of the reserve after such conversion
is not less than 25% of the entity’s registered
capital.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and
by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio.
For this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as
total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans
and borrowings, and lease liabilities but excludes
redeemable capital contributions) less cash and
cash equivalents and time deposits. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity and
redeemable capital contributions.
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BXR - #FERRE (E) 34 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)
() EXRER (E) f)

REBER2022F £ 2021F12 A31H
MEAEFEEERLROT ¢

Capital management (continued)

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio as at
December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

20224 20214
2022 2021
et ARBT T ARBEFTT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
MEBE Current liabilities:
IRITER R H M AR Bank loans and other borrowings 23 698,783 129,460
PNEL)SNGIE S 8 S Loans from non-controlling 24
B shareholders of subsidiaries 8,064 17,026
HEAE Lease liabilities 25 42,621 40,421
749,468 186,907
FERBEE Non-current liabilities:
HEBE Lease liabilities 25 56,254 67,399
[Ev e Total debt 805,722 254,306
B BekBeSED Less: Cash and cash equivalents 22(a) (4,038,408)  (2,966,920)
ERIER Time deposits 21(c) (2,165,981) (865,000)
RARFEE Adjusted net debt (5,398,667) (3,577,614)
(M) BE Total equity/(deficit) 9,360,129 (1,717,446)
o AIEEDEE Add: Redeemable capital 30
contributions - 9,027,445
BRABER Adjusted capital 9,360,129 7,309,999
BRAERFEBEERLE Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio N/A N/A
TiEH TEA
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35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables
and other receivables. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, time deposits and bills receivable
is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit standing, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk arising from trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk
management policy under which individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are generally due within 90 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in industries or countries in which the customers
operate. Significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. As at December
31, 2022, 12.3% (2021: 22.0%) and 12.3% (2021:
22.1%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
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35

HREMREEREMIAE2AAREBME 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(&)

(a)

FERRE (&)

(a)

E SN RELNIZERR (&)

TREHERASERBREERR R
B RWFRRSEREERNER

Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk arising from trade receivables
(continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables:

20224
2022
FEHEER IREAE BEEE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

% ARBTR AR®BTR
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

BIER (R Hf)
# AR RA3ME A
BEBE3E AR
D218 B
wHEERE 1218 A
BARR241E A
E BB 248 A

Current (not past due)
Less than 3 months past due

More than 3 months but less than

12 months past due

More than 12 months but less than

24 months past due
More than 24 months past due

0.9% 1,583,071 14,596
7.6% 84,158 6,437
11.7% 115,213 13,536
43.2% 34,411 14,855
100.0% 12,837 12,837

1,829,690 62,261
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35 MEEMEEREMIAZAAEME 35

(&)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) FEERM(H) (a)
E SN RELNIZERR (&)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk arising from trade receivables

(continued)
20214
2021
TR BB % FREE E R R
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AREFTT ARETTT
% RMB’000 RMB’000
BIER (R HR) Current (not past due) 0.7% 1,404,463 10,456
B E D3 A Less than 3 months past due 6.7% 64,284 4,318
B ERERE3(E AR More than 3 months but less than
L1218 A 12 months past due 9.6% 112,549 10,789
mHARRB 1218 A More than 12 months but less than
BLR24EA 24 months past due 38.2% 25,111 9,596
BHAERE 2418 A More than 24 months past due 100.0% 10,533 10,533
1,616,940 45,692

EHERXDERBEFENERE
B - RTHLREREARBRIE
FE s SR R MBS - BRI
R A 6% 18 1 e Mk TR TR A 4 AR R
MBEZEHER -

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the year over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.
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35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk arising from trade receivables
(continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect

BEnT of trade receivables during the year is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REV R AR Balance at the beginning of the year 45,692 24,271
EERRBIEEE Impairment loss recognized 32,026 28,239
FAMIEEE Amounts written off during the year (156) (227)
S BB A Bl A Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (15,301) (6,591)
RER R Balance at the end of the year 62,261 45,692

B JER B E L0 = BER

HREMEERIEMS - AEE D
BMFERNREERREEEEE
e fHEERBAEEM - NEE
RiBZ2EIMIE 1218 A B EE R
EEEEE -

SEEREEERR  FTEBECDER
HEEEEEFEMMFARENGE
ERBR - URBEORBREER
REBROME - FEEFRBEIEERA AR
SERFNRFEHE  UHETER
P REMER NETRR - AEERE
BEEERREEHFINEER
A - BRAREEF R H M EWRR
MIEMEEBRFBNIFE20KE -

Credit risk arising from other receivables

For other receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will
measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather
than 12-month ECL.

In order to minimize credit risk, the Group has
tasked its operation management to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorize exposures according to their degree of
risk of default. The credit rating information is drawn
from the Group’s own trading records to rate its
major customers and other debtors. The Group's
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties
are continuously monitored. Details of the ECLs in
respect of the Group's other receivables during the
year is disclosed in Note 20.
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35

(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realizable marketable
securities and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
reporting date) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay:

20226
2022
ARRERRERH
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

R2022F

15/, 1550k 2ENE 12531R

REX fBhnaE EHRSE SELLE &t R

More than More than Carrying

Within 1yearbut 2 years but amount at

1 year or on less than less than More than December 31,

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2022

ARETR  ARETr  ARMTr  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000

FTEFREMER Bank loans and other borrowings 699,836 - - - 699,836 698,783

fgaE Lease liabilities 46,020 27,007 23,201 11,113 107,341 98,875
REMBATFERRRN Loans from nan-controlling

g7 shareholders of subsidiaries 8,084 - - - 8,084 8,064

BSRATERERRE Trade and bills payables 14,938,783 - - - 14938783 14,938,783

EHERTERESER Other payables and accruals 781,480 - - - 781,480 781,480

16,474,203 21,007 23,201 11,113 16,535,524 16,525,985
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35 HBHEERBEERLSBIAZAAEE 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(#&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(b) REMERR(E) (b)  Liquidity risk (continued)
20205
2022
ANRERBLRA/(Fil)

Contractual undiscounted cash inflow/(outflow)
15/ 180 2ENE
REX  BOReE  BON5E SENE - h
More than More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but
1 year or on less than less than More than
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

fTEEERE Derivatives settled gross:
ERONERN Forward foreign exchange contracts
i - outflow (1,362,932) - - - (1,362,932)
-h - inflow 1,273,608 - - - 1,273,608
N1E
2021
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BURERRETL
H2021F
1R 15 L 2N E 1283188
BEL EIRE EORSE SEbLE h BEE
More than More than Carrying
Within Tyearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or on less than less than More than December 31,
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2021
ARBTR  ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETRT  AR%ETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FITEFREMER Bank loans and other borrowings 132,557 - - - 132,557 129,460
R Lease liabilties 44,264 30,207 28,865 14,782 118,118 107,820
REMBLAFERRENET  Loans from non-controling
shareholders of subsidiaries 17,078 - - - 17,078 17,026

BHENTERERRE Trade and bills payables 14,418,802 - - - 14418802 14418802
HitERTEREHER Other payables and accruals 612,025 - - - 612,025 612,025
EETE Redeemable capital contributions 9,125,744 - - - 9,125,744 9,027 445

24,350,470 30,207 28,865 14782 24424324 24312578
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(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

On February 18, 2022, the Company’s H Shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The special rights
associated with the Pre-IPO Investments were
unconditionally terminated and the redeemable
capital contributions were reclassified as equity
upon the listing of the Company’s H Shares.

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments
at variable rates as at December 31, 2022 are the
cash at bank except for fixed deposits, and the
cash flow interest risk arising from the change of
market interest rate on these balances of relatively
short maturity is not considered significant. The
Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments at
fixed interest rates as at December 31, 2022 and
2021 are fixed deposits, bank loans and other
borrowing, loans from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries and lease liabilities that are
measured at amortized cost, and the change of
market interest rate does not expose the Group to
fair value interest risk. Overall speaking, the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk is not significant.

(d)  Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through initial public offering which give rise to cash
balances that are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transactions relate. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily HK$.
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35

(&)

(d)

AARKEZ5)

MEEKBEEREMIAZAAREE 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Bk (F) (d)  Currency risk (continued)

(i) EE R (&) (i) Exposure to currency risk
TREFMFAAREER2022 The following table details the Group’s
F12A31THELEBRERD exposure as at December 31, 2022 to
MEEE N EEETENE currency risk arising from the recognized

REEMEBRNEBRR - assets denominated in a currency other
REREY] - RSB IIAA than the functional currency of the entity to
REBIIR - WASHmEER which they relate. For presentation purpose,
R BNHARE R 1TITE o K the amounts of exposure are shown in
SENEEE R ARB AN RMB translated using the spot rate of the
B8 A BB BRI E A A end of each reporting period. Differences
SEMEYEEMEENEER resulting from the translation of the financial
TEEEAN - statements of the Group’s subsidiaries with

functional currency other than RMB into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded.
20224 20214

2022 2021

AR¥T T ARBFTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

BT HK$

REMRSFEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,522,091 -

EEBEEREEN Gross exposure arising from

[2\Be: 4B %E recognized assets 1,522,091 -
SNERBE A8 Notional amounts of forward

BETH exchange contracts (1,370,089) -
ELXBEHEREED Net exposure arising from

[2\ B E 58 recognized assets 152,002 -
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35 HBHEERBEERLSBIAZAAEE 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(#&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(d) E¥Ek(E) (d)  Currency risk (continued)
(ii) HREE AT (i) Sensitivity analysis

TRETNRETE HAbE 2 The following table indicates the
BHRBTEMNBRT - A instantaneous change in the Group’s profit/
EERSREBPRTFTEERR (loss) after tax (and accumulated losses)
bRy sNPEE R A ez B B that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
£ REBSTREFE (6 which the Group has significant exposure
B) (RRFER) BEENE at the end of each reporting period had
el o changed at that date, assuming all other risk

variables remained constant.

2022F 20214
2022 2021
BEFIH
#m,/ (Bd) Tt 1% K &
HNELFH REEE INE EF ZETE#E
(Tg)  HD /() (F&) Wb /(Em)
Increase/
(decrease)
on profit Decrease/
Increase/  after tax and Increase/ (increase)
(decrease) decrease/ (decrease) on loss
in foreign  (increase) on in foreign after tax and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rates losses rates losses
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HK$ 5% 6,460 5% -

(5%) (6,460) (5%) -
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35

BEEREEREMIAZAAEE

(&)

(d) ERERE)

35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(ii) HREE AT (i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
ERFROSTERDIEEES Results of the analysis as presented in the
MEARAZEEEEESE above table represent an aggregation of
e AE RS REE the instantaneous effects on each of the
RMEAE - WIRSWME BRI Group subsidiaries’ profit after tax and
EEFTERARE - UE2 equity measured in the respective functional
3l o currencies, translated into RMB at the

exchange rate ruling at the end of each
reporting period for presentation purpose.
BRRKIE 9 1T R AR 1N B R ) 2 The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
{LEHAREFFTEAEER change in foreign exchange rates had
WMEMKRMFAER  FAKE been applied to re-measure those financial
HEMNERBHNZST /I instruments held by the Group which expose
B o o T BiEEmEEY the Group to foreign currency risk at the
WIEARBEHEENIBRE end of the reporting period. The analysis
ETEMEENESR - %9 excludes differences that would result from
2021 FHERIMER L the translation of the financial statements
T © of entities whose functional currency is not
RMB. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2021.
(e) ~DAREMEFE (e)  Fair value measurement

(i) RS EBEFENEHEER (i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
Bl fair value
RNABERER Fair value hierarchy

TREFNHFERARIRE BT
AEAENAEESRTAR
REE  DERERMERE
ENFIBRAABETEMN
REN=ZBAABEER - 1
nEEAEMBENERTIZ
L ETERE ARIER A
BRUEMBEUEEBEMT

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group's financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorized into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:
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(BREEHERIN - UARBKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date;

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value
measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available;

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

Analysis on fair value measurement of
financial instruments as at December 31,
2022 and 2021 are as follows:
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35 HEEAREERSMIAEZAARMEME 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
(#&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(e) 2AREEFE (e)  Fair value measurement (continued)
(i) AR EEFENTHEER (i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at

=7 fair value (continued)
DA BEER (&) Fair value hierarchy (continued)
2022
12A31A% R2022E12 31 A
MMEE MEEHESEA
Fair value at
December 31, Fair value measurement at December 31,
2022 2022 categorized into
ARBTT £ £-8 =8
RMB’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
LEULAERTE Recurring fair value measurement
EE: Assels:
WAREETEAESHIA  Financial assets at FVOCI
Efp2EUENEREE
- FEARAES - Unlisted equity securities 2,000 - - 2,000
WAREEFEAESHIA  Financial assets at FVPL
ERERNSRE
- RENERRERER - Structured deposits and wealth
management products 2,564,747 - - 2,564,747
- ETRE - Unlisted investment 312,460 - 312,460 -
RE: Liabillties;
WAREEBFEAESHIA  Financial liabilities at FVPL
ERERNSRER
- REMNERD - Forward exchange contracts 89,324 - 89,324 -
- R7REH - Future contracts 57 57 - =
720214
12F318 202112 A31AH
INTRELEL DrBEHENEAR
Fair value at
December 31, Fair value measurement at December 31,
2021 2021 categorized into
ARETT F— b E=H;
RMB'000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
CRMAABENER Recurring fair value measurement
BE: Assets:
UAREBEGFEBHZEHA Financial assets at FVOCI
H2AMENSREE
- FEmRAES - Unlisted equity securities 2,000 - - 2,000
UAREEFFEBHSZH A Financial assets at FVPL
EHERNERE
- ERUEGFHRERNER - Stuctured deposits and wealth
management products 2,705,757 - - 2,705,757
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(BRBHEREBPIN - BARKEZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, there were no transfers, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognize transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in
Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of unlisted investments in
Level 2 is determined by recent comparable
transaction price on the market.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts
in Level 2 is determined by discounting the
difference between the contractual forward
price and the current forward price. The
discount rate used is derived from the
relevant government yield curve as at the
end of reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

hER

Valuation techniques

ERGIEEL DN ¢

Significant unobservable inputs

o EMIRAES
Unlisted equity securities

ERUER R ER
Structured deposits and wealth
management products

HERE (i)

Valuation multiples (Note /)

BRBEENE (W)
Discounted cash flow (Note ii)

TENBL AT ETSEHRNEDED
Changing trend of medium market
multiples of comparable companies

AENRARTEMSREENED BT
Expected return rate
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35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements (continued)
Notes:

(i The fair value of certain unlisted equity
security is determined using valuation
multiples adjusted for changing trend of
medium market multiples of comparable
companies. The fair value measurement
is positively correlated to the changing
trend of medium market multiples
of comparable companies. As at
December 31, 2022, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant,
an increase/decrease in change of
medium market multiples of comparable
companies by 5% would have
increased/decreased the Group’s other
comprehensive income by RMB75,000
(2021: RMB75,000).

(i) The fair value of structured deposits
and wealth management products
is calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows. The fair
value measurement is negatively
correlated to expected return rate. As
at December 31, 2022, it is estimated
that with all other variables held
constant, an increase/decrease in fair
value of structured deposits and wealth
management products by 5% would
have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit for the year by RMB109,001,000
(decreased/increased the Group’s loss
for the year by 2021: RMB114,995,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The fair value of unlisted equity security
is determined using valuation multiples
technique with comparable companies. The
fair values of the structured deposits and
wealth management products have been
calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

The following table shows a reconciliation
from the beginning balances to the ending
balances for fair value measurement in Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy:
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35 HMERAKREERSMIAZAAREE 35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
(#&) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(e) RAAEMEE (e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) AN BEF BN HEER (i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
=7 fair value (continued)
FRAZ=AAREEAECLE Information about Level 3 fair value
BH(E) measurements (continued)

URAREETE
BHZHHA UAAEEMNER
Hib2ERRN  HEHHAEH
SREE  BEMNEREE @it
Financial assets  Financial assets
at FVOCI at FVPL Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
20211 A1H As at January 1, 2021 2,000 1,073,930 1,075,930
AL BEFEREZF:A Net realized and unrealized gains on
EHMERNERMEECDER  financial assets at fair value through
RAERWEFE profit or loss - 136,663 136,663
B8 Purchases - 23,313,959 23,313,959
HEREE Sales and settlements - (21,814,968) (21,814,968)
HERBARRR Disposal of interests in subsidiaries - (3,827) (3,827)
R2021%12 A31H K 20224 1 As at December 31, 2021 and
A1A January 1, 2022 2,000 2,705,757 2,707,757
AL BEFEREZF:A Net realized and unrealized gains on
EHERNERMEECDER  financial assets at fair value through
RAERWEFE profit or loss - 147,759 147,759
e Purchases - 8,349,400 8,349,400
HEREE Sales and settlements - (8,638,169) (8,638,169)
HEMBARIER Disposal of interests in subsidiaries - - -

12022512318 As at December 31, 2022 2,000 2,564,747 2,566,747
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

Any gain or loss arising from the
remeasurement of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities held for strategic purposes are
recognized in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) in other comprehensive income.
Upon disposal of the equity securities, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income is transferred directly to accumulated
losses.

The gains arising from the remeasurement
of the structured deposits and wealth
management products are presented in the
“Other net gain” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

All financial instruments carried at cost or
amortized cost are at amounts not materially
different from their values as at December
31, 2022 and 2021.
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36 EABABAIXRZ
(a) EEEBEASHMH

AEFETZEREABNHH (BIEH
AeMEEMANREENEFN
BRIR R M FEPTIR BT ME T R #H
il B ST RO FIR) 10T

36

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors and supervisors as disclosed in Note
8 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

20224 20214F
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBEFTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
EHEIEERET Short-term employee benefits 12,505 9,548
TR FGRIRET B4 Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 248 213
A s S B AR A EER Equity settled share-based payment
B expenses 2,563 -
15,316 9,761

M@ mEt ATEIRA] (RWiE
6(b)) °

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see
Note 6(b)).
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36 EBEABEBAIXRZ (H) 36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(b) RERNEXREBMETHMEAZS (b) Names and relationships of the related parties
HWEMTEBRERE that had other material transactions with the
Group during the year:
MBEHE  £8 B &

Name of related party

Relationship

22 B 5 A

Mr. Wang Jianguo

wEERE

Mr. Xu Xiuxian

bt T 5 &

Mr. Xing Jianhong
TEEREEERAR(RE]) RABBE AR

Five Star Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (“Five Star”) and
its affiliates
ARMERNEAERAR (T8A]) REBE QT

Nanjing Qingying Technology Co., Ltd. (“Qingying”)
and its affiliates

MEEE (FE)@ERMmERAR ([MEBEHAE])
SE=8: = NC]

Alibaba (China) Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Alibaba China”) and its affiliates

RMEEBBHRERAR ([FAREE])

Nanjing Shumei Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing Shumei”)

AREEESEMEERAR ([AREEE])

Nanjing Yunhuihua Wisdom Technology Co., Ltd
(“Nanjing Yunhuihua”)

EEWEENMR(ER)ARAA ([ 2EHEE D)

Xingda Network Technology (Qingdao) Co., Ltd.
(“Xingda Network”)

FEEEERESRMNERAR ([ LERELR])

Shanghai Huidapuzhao Information Technology Co.,

Ltd. ("Shanghai Huidapuzhao”)

REEHE -—ZFARRK

Single largest shareholder of the Group

RARMFITES

Executive director of the Company

RARINBIER

Vice president of the Company

REENE —FARRPESIN QAR
HE B AT

Company and its affiliates controlled by the
single largest shareholder of the Group

REBE ) B — S KRR PTIE S A 7] &
HE B A7

Company and its affiliates controlled by the
single largest shareholder of the Group

REENESERERR L EBE AT

The Group’s significant shareholder and
its affiliates

REE R EE AT

Associate of the Group

HZE2021F6 A RAEB MM E Q7]
Associate of the Group till June 2021

BHE2021F2 ARAEENE L R F]
Associate of the Group till February 2021

HE2021F 12 A BAKBENEZ R A
Associate of the Group till December 2021
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36 EXRBEMLIXZ (&)

(c) EEBRATRHENERRIER

By AKENE TRITRERBES M
TR BEEE 7 B e IR E R R IR
o ZFRENREAEITNT

36

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

()

Guarantees and pledges issued by related
parties

Certain bank facilities granted to the Group and
rental payments were guaranteed or secured with
pledges issued by related parties. An analysis of
the carrying value of these liabilities is as follows:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AT & IBRY D FEE - Net exposure on:
RITER (H77723) Bank loans (Note 23) 394,278 100,000
FER IR (Hfat27) Bills payable (Note 27) 6,991,021 5,998,851

20224 20216128310 + K&
BIgtiRITER (FRMFE23) MER
METHRITRERTIERCE (1ER
AEEME—HFARRE)  AEKH
HBARINEZRFEEERERNDE
FRARIRMEER  WHTEBRLER
T E M RREEERI o B 2022
F12 A31 B BRITER L ANER
MR RIEE R 202343 A21 AR
EEEH o

R2022F K 2021F12A31H » &
FERBEITEMNRE (HRME27)
MERNE TIRITRERTIEE LA
(EAAEBMNE —SARRE) - 87F
BhE EAARRIMHITES) - A
EREBBATTERFHEETERE
B ARATWEEREERRERN
& AN 1 m pR LB (R - BANS 5 522022
FI2A31ARENERE AMER
SIEER2023F 12 A16 HRTEIH] ©

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, certain bank
facilities granted to the Group for bank loans in
Note 23 were guaranteed by Mr. Wang Jianguo as
the single largest shareholder of the Group, Five
Star and its affiliate Hosjoy Comfortable Smart
Home Co., Ltd., and were pledged with Mr. Wang
Jianguo’s equity interest in Five Star. Guarantees
and pledges issued by related parties for bank
loans at December 31, 2022 will be fully released by
March 21, 2023 at the latest.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, certain bank
facilities granted to the Group for issuance of bills
payable in Note 27 were guaranteed by Mr. Wang
Jianguo as the single largest shareholder of the
Group, Mr. Xu Xiuxian as the executive director
of the Company, Five Star and its affiliate Hosjoy
Comfortable Smart Home Co., Ltd., and were
pledged with Mr. Wang Jianguo’s equity interest in
Five Star. Guarantees issued by related parties for
bills payable at December 31, 2022 will be expired
by December 16, 2023 at the latest.



36

EXBEBARZ (&)

(d)

HtEXRBHLIRS

HZE2022%F 202112 A318 1k
FE o AEBBEERFEITTUATR
5
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(d) Other significant related party transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, the Group had following transactions with
related parties:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
g m Purchase of goods

hERHEBEBAR Five Star and its affiliates = 265
fo] 82 B 2 AR B ) HLBgE B R ) Alibaba China and its affiliates 77,534 -
Bt ieS Nanjing Shumei 475 -
78,009 265

R RR A% Purchase of services
hERHEBEBAR Five Star and its affiliates 767 102
f] B BB AR B R B A F) Alibaba China and its affiliates 5,383 14,073
LEEEER Shanghai Huidapuzhao - 358

6,150 14,633
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36 EABHMLIXE (&) 36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(d) Ht@EXBEBLRS (8 (d) Other significant related party transactions
(continued)
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR® T ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HEE M Sales of goods
hERHBEB AR Five Star and its affiliates — 8,948
P 2 2 R R B R LB A ) Alibaba China and its affiliates 209,616 74,716
R Nanjing Shumei 58 -
209,674 83,664
RMERE Rendering of services
LEEELER Shanghai Huidapuzhao - 1,902
BB N R MBI D Decrease in advances from
associates
B R EE Nanjing Yunhuihua — 4,155
BERS Xingda Network - 5,597
= 9,752
Weis FE IR IR R 2 Acquisition of non-controlling
interests

TR g T 25 A Mr. Xing Jianhong - 1,000
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EXBBMLIRXZ (&)

(e)

EDN LYo

R2022F 2 2021F 12 A31H » A&

E ER AR T B A T A ER
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Significant related party balances

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group had
following balances with related parties:

BEoMtHE 20224 20214
Trade in nature 2022 2021
AR®T Tt ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B S ERRE Trade receivables
P S8 2 S R B LB /S A ) Alibaba China and its affiliates 11,358 7,621
WA NEEE AT Qingying and its affiliates 5,600 5,600
B3R Nanjing Shumei 227 -
17,185 13,221
FEARIE - RERHMERIE Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables
hERHEBEBAR Five Star and its affiliates 8 -
P 28 2 R R B R LB B A ) Alibaba China and its affiliates 14,054 3,951
R REEBAR Qingying and its affiliates 23,793 24,391
B eS Nanjing Shumei 464 -
38,319 28,342
B S EARIE Trade payables
Po] 2 R R B N ELB B A ) Alibaba China and its affiliates 442 900
Htt e RERETTERA Other payables and accruals
hERHEBEBAR Five Star and its affiliates 3 77
B E8 5 E2 PP B N EL B JBS 1 Alibaba China and its affiliates 3,180 705
B Nanjing Shumei 5 -
3,188 782
EHEE Contract liabilities
hERHEBEBAR Five Star and its affiliates 6 18
P 28 2 R R B R ELBE A ) Alibaba China and its affiliates 2,100 -

2,106 18
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36 EXRBEMLIXZ (&)

()

LHRARRERZNWERAM

PR R EERERE - mEREE
HEmMIN - XX IFES6(c) & (d)FT
ME = 2022F 12 A31HIEFEMNEA
BT Z5BK EMRBIE14AEMA
EMBERISAIFERERS -

HZE2022F12A31HILFE WA
EREBBARREER HMAER
HEE A A A R B EE AR R H
BRARIRERGUARERE R LB E
A AR AL AR TS M IR AR A R AR I IR 3RS
RIEERERS BENEERLET
RAE14A 76N KB EN KRR
KFHHEBR EMHRAIE14A.90 (%
REMMEIEE > WARRET LR
AIFAAEMZERERT - LW
FF36(d) Fy it 1A Fa] E8 2 B2 A [ R LB
BARRERRALRMEEES
NMEB A REE R mER _ EmRA
FUAEMTEENFERABRS - £
TMRAFE1AAENERNEBEERE

ERENHEBERS | —fPIR
1/\0
BRZERXZI  ME36Ml e =

20224F 12 A31 H It FEH E b B
ARBGHUIFEE ETIRAE14AZFT
ATHERIEFEBEIZINTE
;fg °

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

()

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

Apart from purchase of goods from Nanjing Shumei,
sales of goods to Nanjing Shumei, the related party
transactions during the year ended December 31,
2022 mentioned in Notes 36 (c) and (d) above
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Guarantees and pledges issued, purchase of goods
from Five Star and its affiliates, purchase of services
from Five Star and its affiliates and Alibaba China
and its affiliates, rendering of services to Five Star
and its affiliates during the year ended December
31, 2022 are continuing connected transactions but
are exempted from these disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as they are below
the de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1) or
they are financial assistance under Rule 14A.90.
Purchase of goods from Alibaba China and its
affiliates and sales of goods to Alibaba China
and its affiliates mentioned in Note 36(d) above
constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are provided under the section “Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the Report of Directors.

Apart from these transactions, none of the other
related party transactions during the year ended
December 31, 2022 mentioned in Note 36 fall
under the definition of a connected transaction or
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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A F] B B AR R &R 37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
20224 20214
2022 2021
o3 AR®T T AREFIT
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
IRBEE Non-current assets
ME - WE KR Property, plant and equipment 26,734 25,174
FREEE Right-of-use assets 38,948 49,909
WA Investment property 5,547 -
NG OE E Interests in subsidiaries 2,528,438 2 241,417
JA RN R e Interest in associates - 15
AR BEEAEZE) A Financial assets at fair value through
EHERNERMEAE profit or loss 547,987 -
EHRFR Pledged deposits 820,000 1,150,000
TEHITF K Time deposits 320,000 865,000
FEETRIBEE Deferred tax assets 71,394 38,745
4,359,048 4,370,260
REEE Current assets
AR R EBERE B EZE)5T A Financial assets at fair value through
EHESNEEE profit or loss 2,329,220 2,705,757
FE Inventories 4,748 747
2 5 WG R ER R Trade and bills receivables 1,221,055 954,551
TESFRIE -~ e R HAM Prepayments, deposits and other
FEW R IE receivables 5,155,594 4,483,309
R &l 75 3K Restricted deposits 2,256 1,800
HIRF R Pledged deposits 3,671,235 3,114,891
TEHATF R Time deposits 1,845,981 -
RERRSFEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,547,091 2,784,423
17,777,180 14,045,478
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37 RAREEMEMRREK (E) 37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (CONTINUED)
20224 20214
2022 2021
k3 ARET T AREET T
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REBEE Current liabilities

RITER R HAMER Bank loans and other borrowings 108,110 100,118
HEAaE Lease liabilities 8,081 10,557

NAREEFE28ES Financial liabilities at fair value through
FFABHERNEREE profit or loss 89,324 -
B SR RIERENEE Trade and bills payables 13,038,478 11,927,399
H RN FIE R ERTE A Other payables and accruals 1,019,059 494,773
A& Contract liabilities 10,550 8,012
AEENEE Redeemable capital contributions - 9,027,445
JE TR Taxation payable 24,046 2,696
14,297,648 21,571,000
REBEE (AE) F8 Net current assets/(liabilities) 3,479,532 (7,525,522)

BEERAREBEE, (BfE) Total assets less current assets/

(liabilities) 7,838,580  (3,155,262)
FREEE Non-current liabilities
HEBE Lease liabilities 28,025 39,054
PEIEUTA Deferred income 17,000 17,000
45,025 56,054
BE (&) 3HE NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 7,793,555  (3,211,316)
EXKf#E CAPITAL AND RESERVES 34(a)
PN Share capital 562,570 508,658
it Reserves 7,230,985 (3,719,974)

i (B A% TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) 7,793,555 (3,211,316)
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BREMENERARSEH

$K2023F3A218 ' *5EEKHERER
FERFEESERERGERRAR (A%EHE
B ABRERARAERITES IREH
EENBERR) KEERTEZRIERK
ERAB (—RRFPEK I EZERA
A BEEZREIERPEULERAERE
EMRERR) mEHRE  REAARYK
504,299,5007T - BIEAREBHH - WHEE
IH# AT

HERRRERS

R2022F12A31H ' EFRAAEE T &
BEERSRERR
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39

(BREEHERIN - UARBKZ5)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On March 21, 2023, the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire the entire equity interest of Nanjing Hosjoy
Engineering Technology Co., Ltd., which is an investment
holding company established in the PRC and has a
number of subsidiaries principally engaged in sales of
household appliances in the PRC, from Hosjoy Comfortable
Smart Home Co., Ltd., which is an affiliate company of
Mr. Wang Jianguo, the single largest shareholder of the
Group and the non-executive director of the Company, at
a consideration of RMB504,299,500. As of the date of the
report, the acquisition has not yet been completed.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At December 31, 2022, the directors consider that the
Group has no immediate and ultimate controlling party.
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40

AARKEZ5)

BZE2022F12HA31HLEFEECEM
BiEREMPIERT - FHETEAREZE
SEEEZ

HEZSUBRERTIZBAE BB ER
BEECBMZENEZE2022F12H31H
LEFE E R A B W AR R B R RHR A T
FIRAEET 2R - ZEHRBIEL T AIgEEA
EEBBMNEE -

40

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended December
31, 2022 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

RUT B z#%
B E SR AN
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

BRI s ERIEATS - REAL
IFRS 17, Insurance contracts
REE

Accounting Policies
Bl s LRI FE8SRAEET -

Bt A ITE

AERIFE A GR R BEIMR B S s R B ISR E 25 RS ET -
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of

20231 A1H
1 January 2023
20231 A1H
1 January 2023

B BARE

2023F1 1R

Amendments to |AS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

Bt RAZ129NER]  ME—XGE4LWEER B BT HIELRIE

Amendments to |IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

BIFR & st ERIEARANEET - WA A I RE B &

Amendments to IAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BBV REER] - RB ARG E ESH

Amendments to |IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BIFR BTSSRI E16SREVIER] - BERMEEF I ER B

Amendments to IFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

1 January 2023
20231 A1H
1 January 2023

202451 H1H
1 January 2024
202451 H1H8
1 January 2024
20241 H1H
1 January 2024

AEBLEFGEZEFERNEAERBRE
HERNTE - HENAL  AEERARK
MZEEIT TR EHEAMBERREKE
REE -

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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